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Financial highlights 
Speedy’s in good shape...
Revenue +39%
EBITDA +31%  
Operating profit +28%

*  Includes charge for share-related awards based on UK GAAP
** Pre-amortisation and exceptional integration costs

Making Speedy progress means
never forgetting the basics, whilst
carefully extending a valuable and
trusted brand. It means building the
best company to work for, to do
business with, to hire from and to
invest in – whenever and wherever
we operate. And whilst this year
marks yet another year of profit
growth, we never get complacent. 
We continually strive for
improvement. 
Speedy has ambition.
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The basics
Keep it simple, do it well!
We’re the number 1 provider
of hire services to UK
contractors, builders,
industry and utilities.
There are 488 Speedy depots
in the UK and the Republic
of Ireland.
Our markets are growing –
as are our range of products
and services.
We are never satisfied with
our performance. Ever.
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Making Speedy progress means
building the business on sound
fundamentals.

Why hire?
It’s cheaper to hire than it is
to own, due to the costs of
servicing an asset regularly,
storing, transporting and
repairing it.
Legislation is getting more
onerous and complicated,
further increasing the risk 
of ownership in terms of
liability, compliance and
obsolescence.  
Hire allows for greater
flexibility of demand and
availability.
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…And then extending the brand
‘beyond hire’, building long-term
revenue visibility. 

Testing and 
inspection

Training

Health
and safety

Assetmanagement
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Consumable

sales
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Making Speedy progress means
taking full advantage of the market
opportunities. It’s about never being
complacent and chasing every
profitable opportunity. So far, we have
secured over £250m revenues over
the next five years with some of the
UK’s leading construction and
industrial companies.
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Water

Energy

Nuclear

New industries
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Today construction is two thirds of our
turnover – the other one third is growing
in importance. We’re selling hire services
to industries we’d never approached
three years ago – tomorrow is focussed
on driving even more value.

Transport

Rail
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Making Speedy progress means 
our strategy is to grow…

We’ve done so many acquisitions 
we now have a successful ‘Speedy
integration method’. Last year, after
12 months’ planning, we bought and
integrated 188 Hewden depots. 
One year on, that careful planning 
is bearing fruit as 35,000 accounts 
are welcomed into Speedy. 
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Hello 
Hewden!
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Hewden!

Hello 
Carillion

Accommodation
Services!

Welcome
AMEC LSS!
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10%

90%
of the marketup for grabs.
of the market

Whilst we’re No. 1 in the UK, we’ve
still only got 10% of the market.
That 90% feels like a Speedy sized
opportunity, so when the time, the
people and the price is right, there
could be more UK acquisitions.
Consolidation has served us, and
our customers, well... long may it
continue.
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Wales D32

Northern Ireland V01
Republic of Ireland V02

West Midlands D46

South West D44

 D   = Depots
V  = Village
MSC  = Multi-Service Centre

We’re committed.
Our strategy is clear. 

Making Speedy progress means 
more than just putting our name 
on the map.

08 Speedy Hire Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2008

East Midlands D22

Rest of the world.
Big place... 
Worth thinking 
about

Scotland D54
North West D64   MSC01

North East D22
Yorks and 
Humber D38

East D45
London D53
South East D64 
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 *Over 95% of the UK’s population are within one hour’s travel of a Speedy depot.  

Crucial to our success is our depot footprint (the largest in the
UK). You’re never far from a Speedy depot*. And we’ve taken
this tried and tested business model overseas to Ireland. In
time, maybe we’ll expand to other countries if our customers
take us there.

In the UK and Republic of Ireland there’s still work to be done
though. For example, in the UK we’re opening Multi-Service
Centres where large and complex hire deals will take place,
whilst still driving hard to grow the ‘call and deliver’ and ‘call
and collect’ depots.

Wherever our customers go... we’ll go too.

Speedy Hire Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2008 09
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Making Speedy progress means
constantly assessing our growth rate
and investment needs – producing
15.2% Return on Capital this year –
way ahead of our cost of capital.

Investment: The Speedy O-meter
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Cash
generative

Gearing
falling

Cash
neutral
Gearing

falling

Debt
increasing

Gearing
stable

Debt
increasing
Gearing
increasing

39% Current
growth
Market share
increasing

Strategy: Investing for profitable growth 

Turnover
growth

%
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…And if we choose to grow 
faster (or slower) we can –
we have a highly flexible, highly
cash generative model, equally 
well-suited to a turbulent or 
calm market.

Our future’s bright

...and secure

Our vision is clear

...and indications are good

Speedy Hire Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2008 11
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Making Speedy progress would be
impossible if we didn’t have the
best people working hard to live up
to our values.

“Responsible business practice
defines the way we conduct our

operations each and every day and
we continue to build on our history
of openness and honesty in all we

do. We believe that Corporate
Responsibility is critical to being an

innovative, forward looking and
healthy company.” 

Andrea Waterhouse

“Safety is 
at the heart of our

business and is
promoted at every 

level of our 
operation.”
Ian Betts

12 Speedy Hire Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2008

“Our people feel empowered to
apply common sense in situations

and our culture encourages
a desire simply to do the
right thing.” 
Ian Maddrell
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…And now we’re helping them to
become even better by introducing
our own NVQ, a leadership
development programme and
structured career progression 
for every role in the business. 
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“Our
customers

trust us
because we
treat them
fairly and

always put
them first.”
Mark Owen

“Our people take pride in
solving customer issues.
They care enough to put
themselves out to offer

great service.” 
Mark Wilson

“Our people 
and their

dedication to our
customers are
the reason for 
our success.”
Uriah Smith
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Making Speedy progress means 
knowing the right answers…
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Robust questions… 
Honest answers.

Q: You’ve always said “It’s a simple story” it’s getting
more complicated now isn’t it?
SC: Not at all; Speedy’s position is clear. It’s the same as
it’s always been; “To serve our customer better”. This has
always been accompanied with an ethos of “Keep it
simple, do it well”. That’s not to say that our success and
growth has not come without challenges – our customers
have been finding us more difficult to deal with because of
all the separate entities within Speedy. This has to be
resolved. The important thing is that we have recognised
it and we are doing something about it. We’re moving to a
single IT system to enable us to position the business in
the eyes of our customer as one company, one Speedy.
By giving the customer account to a single owner within
Speedy and using the systems to enable that owner to
have visibility on trading, assets and operational influence,
we can manage the relationship whilst retaining the
operational expertise that resides within the product
knowledge of our people. This trust and intimacy will
enable us to continue to grow and develop our
relationship further through the addition of a wider service
based facility.  

Q: You’ve said in the past that “overseas is a
different model” – so what’s changed?
SC: Historically, mainland Europe has been a market of
ownership as opposed to one of Hire (or Rental as it is
more commonly called overseas). In the last 10 years we
have seen an explosion in the growth and development in
Hire. This has been driven by the traditional dynamics of
cost related to financial and operational ownership,
flexibility of supply and increasing legislative/regulatory
controls. We have seen the pace of change accelerate
both in the UK and elsewhere in the world through the
increasing rate of consolidation taking place in both Hire
and in our traditional construction markets. I am
convinced that this will continue and, as contractors and
industrial users get better control over the management of
their supply chain, quality assurance and health and safety
issues, we will see an increased demand for more
services from fewer suppliers over a wider geography.

Q: How can you run nearly 500 depots and keep that
entrepreneurial spirit alive?
SC: One of the great strengths of Speedy has been its
devolved business model. This dissipates the level of
demand generated from growth across a wider operational
responsibility. It also ensures that a high degree of
ownership rests with the individual business units and
encourages entrepreneurial flair to maintain growth. Our
key responsibility has to be to identify the best way to
serve our customer; to provide them with an effective and
efficient service in a consistent way. It’s not the number of
outlets that’s important but the type of outlet that we
operate from. That’s why we are spending so much on
marketing and research to ensure that we understand the
best route to market. Different customers in different
markets have different demands and we are committed to
moving our business from focusing on “products and
territories” towards facing “customers and markets”.

 Q: ‘Beyond hire’ sounds like you’re not going to stick
to your knitting?
SC: Speedy is a support service company and as I was
very eloquently advised recently hire is a service! The reality
is that we have always provided a degree of additional
services; whether that be consumable sales,
testing/servicing or training. The growth in our hire activities
and the increased reliance that our customers have placed
upon us to support them across a wider range of activities
provides us with real opportunity to provide these
additional areas of added value in a more structured
manner. We can focus all our skills in hire and related
activities on hire but equally develop those areas of
additional service in a managed way. 

Steve Corcoran Chief Executive
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Speedy Hire market report 2008:
Meeting the challenge
Catherine Stratton, 
Independent Analyst
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Over the past seven years, since Speedy became a
quoted Company in its own right, we have seen the
Company develop from being a major player in the
UK tool hire market to become not only the
undoubted leader of that market but also the
largest hire Company in the UK. Over the past two
years, Speedy has also begun to build up its first
operation outside the UK, in the Republic of Ireland.
Speedy’s progress has been founded on a judicious
mixture of organic growth and strategic acquisition.
2007 saw Speedy’s largest acquisition to date, that
of Hewden Tools.

Early last summer the UK tool/equipment hire market
experienced two of the most significant events in the
half century of its existence. First there came the news
of retail guru Archie Norman’s investment in and
chairmanship of HSS and then, only a day or so later,
Speedy announced it had agreed to acquire the tool
operations of Hewden. 

Within the tool hire sector, it was probably the earlier
event that caused the more surprise. Of course, the HSS
name has been synonymous with tool hire and the
Company can justifiably claim to have its roots in the UK’s
first hire shop, which was opened in West London by
Bert Taylor in 1957. Over five decades the Company had
been through a series of owners, culminating in January
2004 in a 3i-backed £143m MBI, at that time the highest
price paid for a Buy-in/buyout of a UK equipment hirer.
That deal was done at the time when it was becoming
clear that HSS was about to lose its long held leadership
of the UK tool hire market to Speedy. January 2004 also
saw the publication of the third annual review of ‘the top
ten tool hirers’ by ‘Executive Hire News’, which confirmed
that Speedy was edging ahead. 

For the new HSS management buy-in team, however,
the major task was to extricate the Company from its US
operation, which had had the misfortune to undertake a

very substantial acquisition, just weeks before 9/11. By
the end of 2005 HSS had sold off its US interests and
was increasingly focusing on the UK, streamlining and
developing the business into a ‘hub and spoke’ structure;
at the same time an increasing emphasis on business
customers was leading the Company away from its
traditional high street presence to larger depots outside
town centres. This move reflects the changing nature of
the customer base; today domestic customers account
for less than 10% of HSS revenue; 90% is now within the
‘trade’ sector, covering construction, Facilities
Management, utilities and industrial users. 

September 2006 saw a significant change in
management at HSS, when Chris Davies replaced Paul
Nolan as Chief Executive but, even more changes were
to come in June 2007 when 3i sold their investment for
£310m to former ASDA boss Archie Norman’s
investment vehicle Aurigo in consortium with hedge fund
Och-Ziff Capital Management; the deal gave the UK’s
largest private equity investor a return of more than four
times money multiple on its original HSS investment. The
price, which was twice the tool hire Company’s 2005
turnover, was seen by most within the sector as, at the
very least, on the generous side, even for HSS with its
reputation and national network but the fact that this was
Aurigo’s first major investment provided food for thought.
Archie Norman had clearly identified potential at HSS.

The ink was scarcely dry on the HSS deal, when
Speedy announced it had agreed terms with Hewden
for the acquisition of its tool hire operations. Here the
consideration of £115m was more in line with the
traditional one pound for each pound of turnover at
which hirers tended to be valued. The deal meant that
not only had Speedy consolidated its leadership of the
UK tool hire market, but it was also the largest tool,
equipment or plant hire operation (although both
Ashtead and Aggreko are larger globally). 

Major tool hire deals

Company Price Annual Turnover Price per 
Year acquired (£m) (£m) £1 of Turnover Acquirer 

2003 HSS (1) 145 146 £0.99 3i-backed MBI
2006 Brandon 72 58 £1.24 Wolseley
2007 Hewden Tools 115 90 £1.28 Speedy Hire
2007 HSS (2) 310 163 £1.90 Aurigo/Och-Ziff

Source: Executive Hire News
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The two almost simultaneous deals drew the tool hire
sector to the attention of the national press, albeit briefly.
The substantial consolidation of the sector achieved by
Speedy as number one player acquiring number three
Hewden Tools was to an extent eclipsed by the arrival of
Archie Norman at HSS. Although there was a general
consensus that the HSS price was a very full one, there
was also the prospect that the saviour of ASDA would
be able to bring his magic to restore HSS to its past
strength in the marketplace. Furthermore, the
Speedy/Hewden deal had come only some fifteen
months after the previous major consolidation when
Wolseley’s merger of Brandon with its own Hire Centres
operation had created a strong challenge to Hewden for
third place in the market. All these changes are bringing
an increasing dynamism to the sector. 

Top ten plant/tools/equipment hire companies (UK revenues)

Company UK Revenues (£m) Year ended 

Speedy Hire 465.5 31.03.08
Hewden 227.0* 31.12.07
A-Plant 189.9 30.04.07
HSS 163.3 31.12.06
Vp 121.6 31.03.07
Lavendon 105.9 31.12.07
Ainscough Crane Hire 96.4 31.05.07
GAP Group 88.5 31.03.08
Brandon Hire 86.0 31.07.07
Hydrex 83.0† 31.12.07

* Includes revenues of £58m from tool hire operation acquired by
Speedy on 1 August 2007.

† Hire revenues only; in addition, Hydrex Holdings had sales
revenues of £20.5m to give a total of £103.5m.

Aggregate turnover of the top ten tool and equipment hirers (£m)

Share of UK tool hire market 2008/2003

The consolidation of the Speedy and Hewden Tool hire
operations has given Speedy a very strong market
position. It is now well ahead of its leading competitors
in terms of market share but, nevertheless, the sector
continues to be very competitive, with a myriad of small
privately owned single outlet or small regional chains
often providing a good level of service for local trades
and businesses. 

It is, however, becoming increasingly difficult to draw a
definite distinction between ‘tool hire’ and ‘plant hire’.
Speedy itself has developed its specialist equipment
offerings out of its tool hire operations and, in so doing,
has begun to move towards investing in larger
machines in order to meet customer demand. Some
hirers such as GAP have traditionally run non-operated
plant and tools together out of large depots, while
historically others such as A-Plant have had both mixed
plant and tools depots and separate specialist plant and
tools sites. A-Plant is now deploying a strategy of
opening ‘super sites’, depots much larger in size than is
traditional and offering a wide range of plant and tools.
By the end of this year A-Plant expects to have a dozen
of these trading; some of these sites represent a
consolidation of two or three former depots; between
January 2007 and January 2008 A-Plant’s depot
number have fallen from 231 to 194. 

Over recent years a major part of the HSS development
programme has been the opening of its version of super
sites, viz. Premier Centres, which are much larger than
the traditional HSS Hire Shop and sited away from town

1. Aggregate turnover of the top 10 tool and equipment hirers £m
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Speedy Hire market report 2008: 
Meeting the challenge continued
Catherine Stratton, 
Independent Analyst
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centres. This move has also encouraged HSS to widen
its portfolio of equipment. Brandon has also begun
opening larger stores, offering both its tool hire and its
specialist products from one site.

Speedy has continued with its own model, developing
its specialist activities as ‘spin-offs’ from its tool hire
operations. It has sought to establish its reputation as a
specialist in the distinct fields in which it operates. In
several instances, Speedy has established new
operations and then enhanced their expertise and
capacity through acquisitions such as LCH and LGH in
the cases of Power and Lifting respectively. Speedy’s
continuing emphasis on specialist businesses is
distinctive from the move to ‘super stores’ outlined
above. Both approaches have their merits; the super
store is, perhaps, the easier way for a Company to
display its full range of products and services but it may
be more difficult to maintain specialist expertise. Speedy
has, however, always been alert to the potential for
‘cross-selling’ and the way it has extracted its specialist
businesses has meant that each has had a core
customer base in place when the distinct operations
were being established. Furthermore, another factor in
favour of Speedy’s policy is that specialist hire
operations are able to command better rates, and
hence achieve better return, than generalist businesses. 

The past decade has seen profound changes in the
customer base of hire; there has been a series of
mergers between major construction companies (the
latest being Carillion and Alfred McAlpine) and the giants
of the sector are still keen to improve their regional
coverage (for example, Balfour Beatty’s recently
announced acquisition of Dean & Dyball). The
consolidation of the sector has been accompanied by a
streamlining of suppliers. As a result a top priority for
hirers has been the securing of national and regional
supply agreements with contractors. Over the years,
many of these agreements have been accompanied by
the sale of the construction Company’s in-house plant
operations to the hirer. Speedy has undertaken a
significant number of these deals but the most recent
one, that of AMEC Logistics and Support Services early
this year, was heralded by Chief Executive Steve
Corcoran as possibly the Company’s ‘best ever’ deal: a
little surprising, perhaps, coming only six months after
Hewden Tools, which was most certainly Speedy’s
biggest deal ever. 

The AMEC acquisition, however, reinforces the enduring
impression of Speedy as a pro-active hire operation
intent on ‘pushing back’ the boundaries of hire. The
exclusive service agreement with AMEC Industrial
Services and the preferred supplier status with AMEC’s
other divisions take Speedy into new territories as
AMEC’s recent series of disposals and acquisitions have
reshaped the Company into primarily an ‘oil services’
Group. Undoubtedly the opening up of a potentially
large new customer base will present Speedy with
many challenges but it will also enable Speedy to
diversify further from its traditional construction market
and thus to spread its risk. 

Since the middle of last year the economic background
both in the UK and internationally has altered
dramatically. The longer term effects of the sub-prime
crisis and the subsequent credit crunch make it very
difficult to forecast beyond the current year for the hire
sector but there remain positive indicators. The current
perception is that the financial difficulties have had only 
a limited impact on UK construction so far, with house-
building being the clear casualty and likely to remain in
intensive care for a significant period. Any hope that the
house-builders could shake off the effects of the
stagnant overall housing market has been smothered 
by a stream of reports that indicate poor trading,
culminating late April with the revelation by Persimmon,
the UK’s largest house-builder, that its sales over the
previous three weeks were down by over 33%,
compared with the same period in 2007. Fortunately 
for Speedy and many of its competitors, house-builders
are not big hire customers. 

Excluding the problems of house-building, most leading
construction companies reported strong growth in 2007
and healthy order books for the current year. Among the
UK’s largest builders, Balfour Beatty has indicated that it
currently has ‘a record order book’ and ‘an exceptionally
strong pipeline of high quality new work approaching
contract’, while in February Kier stated that its
‘Construction and Support Services have never been
busier, [its] order books are strong and, importantly [its]
enquiry levels remain high’. The prevalence of supply
agreements with the major contractors should help the
fortunes of the major hirers; in particular, they should
give some resilience to hire rates, which all too often are
the first casualties of any hint of a downturn in
equipment demand. 
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The recent results of the leading hire companies quoted
on the London Stock Exchange have continued to
show strong growth in both revenues and profits; last
year Aggreko saw revenues increase by 28% to £693m
and pre-tax profits by 68% to £124.2m, while Lavendon
reported a rise in revenues of 49% to £186 million and a
178% growth in pre-tax profits to £21.4m. Both were
able to report further progress at their respective Annual
General Meetings; Aggreko stated that revenues in the
first quarter of 2008 were 20% ahead of the same
period of 2007, while Lavendon said that it had seen a
26% increase. There are still strong indications that hire
demand will be sustained throughout 2008 and the
outlook still looks sound for much of the construction
sector. 

In its most recent forecasts (Winter 2007/2008), the
Construction Products Association concluded that the
slowing housing and commercial property markets
would inevitably affect construction demand and
identified the Government’s 2007 Comprehensive
Spending Review as the key to sustaining overall
expansion of construction activity over the next three
years. Public sector output was forecast to return to
growth in 2008, rising by 3.7% p.a. over the three years
to 2010. Government expenditure will focus on health,
education and social housing. A further growing
stimulus will be the start of contracts for the Olympics.
Civil engineering activity will increase with double-digit
growth for water industry related work anticipated in
2008 and 2009. 

Water UK Capital Investment 1980–2010 (2002–2003 prices)

Investment 
Period (£bn)

1980–1985 8.7
1985–1990 10.7
1990–1995 17.8
1995–2000 18.3
2000–2005 16.2
2005–2010 16.8

Note: 2005–10 figures at 2004 Price review
Source: Ofwat

All the current indications are that UK construction
(outside private house-building and office development)
will maintain its activity levels for the rest of 2008 at
least. It is, however, difficult to see any further ahead 
but there are a number of factors which should give
construction a degree of protection. First of all, the next
General Election is, at the most, just over two years
away. The government will strive to maintain its
programmes for health, education and social housing,
although other areas of infrastructure spend such as
roads may again prove vulnerable. The enormous
workload revolving around the Olympics will become an
increasingly important part of construction activity over
the next four years. One area of concern must be that, 
if the government finances do weaken substantially,
resource for the Olympics will be ‘ring-fenced’ and the
regions outside London will suffer.

It is, however, very difficult to say when and how severely
the impact of the ‘credit crunch’ will hit the wider UK
construction industry. The current situation may, in fact, in
the short term help to create additional demand for hire,
as contractors facing an uncertain future will be looking to
cut their capital expenditure and will use hire increasingly
to meet their equipment needs. Clearly hirers need to be
vigilant at this time; they need to monitor demand closely
and be prepared to cut their capital expenditure if
necessary to quickly generate additional cash. Any
downturn will create opportunities for the strong players in
the sector and they will almost certainly not just retain but
enhance their positions in the marketplace. Speedy’s
continuing strategies of acquiring ‘in house’ plant
operations with supply deals of several years’ duration
and of continually looking to widen its customer base
outside its traditional construction business should
enhance the Company’s defensive qualities and enable it
to take advantage of further opportunities which tighter
market conditions may bring.

Catherine Stratton

Catherine Stratton
Catherine Stratton has researched and
analysed the Plant and Tool Hire Sector for
many years and is the author of the annual
survey ‘The Plant Hire Investment Report’.
She writes regularly for ‘Executive Hire News’
and 'Plant Hire Executive'.

Her interest in the hire sector began when
she joined the research department of City
stockbrokers Greene & Co. in 1969. In 1975
she became a member of the Stock
Exchange and was a research partner at
Greene’s until the Company merged with
Greig Middleton in 1988. She was a director
of Greig Middleton until 1992. Since then she
has worked as an independent researcher
and consultant in the hire industry.

The Plant Hire Investment Report 2007/8
will be published in the summer of 2008. 

www.phir.co.uk
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Letter from the Chairman

David Wallis, BSc Econ
Non-Executive Chairman

Dear Shareholder

The 2007/08 financial year has been seminal in the development of
your Company. Significant underlying forward momentum has been
delivered in all the key financial measures by which we assess the
progress of the business. 

We have achieved increased scale through both strong organic
growth and acquisition, and good progress has been made in the
development of our infrastructure, particularly in the areas of IT
capability and the training and development of our team at all levels. 

Our Performance
I have summarised our financial performance below. There has been
strong growth in revenues, underlying earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation, integration costs and amortisation, and pre-tax profits,
while as anticipated, the Hewden Tools acquisition outlined below
had a dilutive effect on operating margin and earnings per share,
albeit this will be temporary as significant synergy benefits are
already beginning to flow. As a result of this strong financial
performance, your Board is proposing a final dividend of 13.4 pence
per share making a total for the year of 19.8 pence per share, an
increase of 16.5% over 2007, ahead of the growth in earnings on
the increased share capital, following the Placing in June 2007.

2008 2007 % Change

Revenues £465.5m £335.5m 38.7%
EBITDA* £131.6m £100.3m 31.2%
Profit before tax* £48.1m £40.5m 18.8%
Group operating margin* 13.7% 14.9% (1.2)ppts
Basic earnings per share 47.89p 58.74p (18.5)%
Earnings per share* 73.19p 65.00p 12.6%
Return on capital (operating)* 15.2% 16.9% (1.7)ppts

Total equity £240.1m £171.1m 40.3%

* Pre-amortisation and exceptional integration costs

I would like to extend the thanks of both the Board and shareholders
to all members of the Speedy team, now over 5,000 strong, for their
outstanding efforts and achievements in what has been a very
demanding year.

Our Strategy
Our commercial strategy remains one of growth. We aim to be
number one or two in the market segments in which we operate,
serving primarily the larger construction and industrial companies
and their supply chain. These companies require tools and
equipment for longer periods of time and have more complex needs.
Our financial strategy is to maintain debt and shareholders’ funds
broadly in line with one another, whilst ensuring that interest
payments are well covered by operating profit. This enables us to
continue to invest in new equipment, totalling £104m in the last
financial year, and to maintain the youngest fleet in the hire industry,
with an average age of 2.4 years. 

In executing our overall strategy, we have made three significant
acquisitions in the course of the year. In August 2007 we completed
the acquisition of Hewden Tools at a cost of £115m and Waterford
Hire Services at a maximum cost of €6.5m. In January 2008 we
announced the acquisition of Amec Logistics and Support Services
for £12.5m. 
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The acquisition of Hewden Tools has all but completed the national
footprint for tool hire on mainland Britain, giving us a total of 357 tool
hire depots. The strategic logic of this transformational deal is to
consolidate your Company as the clear UK market leader. The
integration of this business is now finalised. Depots, vans and
equipment were rebranded and a single product catalogue
introduced in January 2008. In addition, the new IT system was
rolled out throughout Speedy Tools and the former Hewden depots
by the end of April 2008. The exceptional costs associated with the
integration of Hewden have remained within budget and we are very
confident that the synergies predicted at the time of acquisition will
all be delivered in the short term and sustained over the coming
years. This outcome is a result of meticulous planning and execution,
excellent communications and the tremendous teamwork displayed
by those people joining us from Hewden.

Waterford Hire, albeit on a different scale, is important in building our
brand and business in the Republic of Ireland. Together with additional
greenfield openings, this will offer a springboard for future development
there, as well as providing valuable lessons in running a business with a
different geography, currency, culture and customer base. 

The acquisition of Amec Logistics and Support Services enabled us to
move into new industrial and infrastructure areas with the provision of
a four year exclusive supply agreement and into a wider range of
equipment for the Amec Group on Preferred Supplier basis. This
business is a single point of supply for tools, lifting equipment,
accommodation units and survey equipment for Amec and other
significant customers. This is a further example of similar such deals
concluded over the last few years which together provide two
significant positives. Firstly, we have secured contracted revenues in
excess of £250m over the next five years with key customers.
Secondly, we have found that actual revenues generated from these
accounts almost always exceed contracted revenues, as customers
come to rely on the benefits of Speedy’s expertise and tailored service.

We announced on 27 May 2008 that Speedy has strengthened its
relationship with Carillion plc by entering into a new five year
Strategic Partnering Agreement, which reinforces Speedy’s position
as Carillion’s preferred supplier of its full range of products and
services. As part of the Agreement, Speedy has acquired the
accommodation business of Carillion Asset Management Limited.

The achievement of scale, through organic growth and acquisitions, a
national footprint and the ability to service completely new markets
now enables us to advance Speedy Hire’s business model. The theme
of this year’s Annual Report is “extending a trusted brand” and that is
exactly how we are evolving our strategy. We will continue to supply all
the basics of straightforward hire, but build on this foundation with
added value services. We are already starting to see longer term
arrangements for hire, technical advice, training, particularly on Health
and Safety issues and fuel management, as we endeavour to become
an indispensible part of our customers’ needs.

Another key opportunity for growth is the continued move towards
outsourcing by construction and industrial groups which moves the
responsibility for ownership, maintenance, testing, and delivery to
businesses such as Speedy. In addition, the legislative environment
continues to drive demand for product expertise, technical advice,
training and environmental responsibility. We see these as great
opportunities to become not just a hirer, but a broader service
provider to our customers.

Outlook 
The consensus of forecasts for economic growth in the UK over the
next year or two remains marginally positive and prospects for the
majority of our customers remain encouraging. Two-thirds of our
revenues derive from construction and related activities. The
contraction in housebuilding which constitutes less than 5% of our
revenues, and in speculative commercial development, is expected to
be more than counterbalanced by growth in infrastructure spending
on energy, utilities, road and rail, hospitals, schools, social housing and
the Olympics. The other third of our revenue comes from non-
construction activities in the industrial sector, which is becoming
increasingly important to us. Our share of these markets is expected to
grow strongly. Our national capability is essential in being able to
service both national contractors and large industrial groups.

Financially, our debt levels remain comfortable, being well supported
by strong cash generation and with over four years to run on our
£325m bank facility, we have ample headroom to finance the current
needs of the business. 

We are confident of delivering further growth over the next financial
year in line with our expectations. Our key customers, the UK’s largest
construction and industrial groups, with whom we continue to develop
even stronger relationships as we take responsibility for their tool,
equipment and service needs, continue to report full order books. 

Further out is more difficult to predict, but we monitor lead indicators
very carefully and the flexibility of our business model gives us some
protection against any further adverse developments in the global
economic situation. We have ensured that we have flexibility with
regards to forward capital commitments by structuring our supply
chain so that the cycle for ordering tools and equipment from our
suppliers is extremely short. In the event of a downturn in our end
markets, we will slow investment and thereby generate more cash. 

Whatever the economic circumstances, there are always opportunities
to exploit and Speedy Hire has both the culture and now the scale to
take advantage of these. Your Company is in great shape and well
placed to come through the period ahead, even stronger.

If you have any comments on any aspect of this letter or indeed, 
any part of the Annual Report, I would be delighted to hear from you,
either by writing to me at Chase House, Haydock, or by email at
david.wallis@speedyhire.plc.uk

Yours sincerely,

David Wallis
Chairman
27 May 2008
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1. Introduction and our Business
Speedy Hire Plc is a business to business Company; it is the UK’s
no.1 provider of tool and equipment hire and a member of the FTSE
250 index. It provides a broad range of products for hire, together
with associated services, to the wider construction market, specialist
industries, their supply chains and the public sector. 

Speedy Hire operates a flexible, delivery-based business model and
is structured into two divisions, Tool Hire and Equipment Hire, trading
from a network of 488 outlets throughout the UK and the Republic
of Ireland:

� The Tool Hire division is made up of five regionally based
businesses that offer a comprehensive and modern fleet of small
tools for hire including drills, breakers, woodworking tools,
heaters, dryers, temporary lighting, small generators, welders, and
plumbing equipment, as well as access, landscaping and light
plant products. This division operates from 357 sites.

� The Equipment Hire division consists of five businesses, supplying
specialist services in the hire of Lifting, Power, Pumps, Space
(portable accommodation) and Survey equipment. These are
provided nationally and are operated through 131 sites
strategically based throughout the UK and Ireland.

By forging long-term strategic partnerships with major contractors
(both nationally and regionally), industrial users and their supply
chain, Speedy has been able to develop its network, product range
and investment to support the changing needs of its customers. 

Market research1 has identified that our customers, both nationally
and locally, recognise Speedy for availability of quality products, a
comprehensive depot network and a broad product range. These
are seen as key benefits. They also consider us professional,
trustworthy and flexible in our approach. Their overall perception is
that we provided the best value-for-money offering. Our high level of
customer service is now bringing opportunities in more value-added
services such as testing, servicing and inspection.

We also work closely with our suppliers and leverage our scale to
find ways to develop products that are more efficient, compliant and
productive for our customers. 

Although we service many of the UK’s largest construction and
industrial clients, we have a highly diverse customer base, with no
single customer accounting for more than 4% of our revenues. 

In September 2007 the Group’s hire operations in both the North
and South of Ireland were merged to establish Speedy Ireland and,
with the appointment of a Managing Director, this became our first
overseas business. Speedy Ireland is focused on providing a full
range of specialised hire services from one operating Company. The
strategic plan is to build a national network that will enable the
business to support the major Irish and UK construction companies
that will be involved in the regeneration of Northern Ireland and the
delivery of the Irish government’s National Development Plan.

This Operating and Financial Review describes the activities of
Speedy Hire for the year ended 31 March 2008.

Structure of businesses

Operating and financial review
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1 Source: B2B International/Intrepid
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2. Summary financial performance
Speedy Hire reported record growth in revenues and profits across
its two divisions in the year, driven by significant acquisition activity
and organic growth. The Group continued to consolidate its long-
term relationships with strategic accounts, increase its market share
and reap the benefit from earlier acquisitions and start-up
operations.

Over £130m was invested in three acquisitions in the period:
Hewden Tools in August 2007 (£115m), Amec Logistics and
Support Services (Amec LSS) in February 2008 (£12.5m) and
Waterford Hire in the Republic of Ireland in July 2007 (£5.0m).

These acquisitions and their rapid integration into the Speedy
network consolidated Speedy’s leadership position in the UK hire
market. The acquisition of Hewden Tools, in particular, has
strengthened the Group’s UK tool hire network through the
combination of the No. 1 and No. 3 players in the tool hire sector. 

This transformational deal significantly enhanced Speedy’s product
availability and service offering in tool hire. It also increased its
geographic coverage and enlarged its customer base to over
100,000 customers. (For more information please refer to the
Hewden Tools integration case study on page 24 of this OFR.)

The integration of Hewden Tools was successfully completed in the
year and we are confident that we will deliver the planned £20m p.a.
in synergies. The acquisition did, as expected, temporarily dilute our
margins and return on capital in the 2007/08 year, as the business
was trading at break-even on acquisition.

The Amec LSS and Waterford transactions, whilst smaller in scale,
were also important. The Amec LSS transaction secured revenues
with three specific clients, expanded operations in industrial markets
and strengthened our relationship with the Amec Group. The
Waterford transaction was our first acquisition in the Republic of
Ireland and provides a stronger platform from which to support the
Irish government’s National Development Plan. 

These are the key financial highlights for the year to 31 March 2008:

� Revenues increased by 38.7% to a record £465.5m (2007:
£335.5m).

� Operating profit* rose by 28.0% to a record £64.0m (2007:
£50m).

� Operating margins* were 13.7% (2007: 14.9%). 
� Return on Capital* (Operating) was 15.2% (2007:16.9%).
� Profit before tax* grew by 18.8% to a record £48.1m (2007:

£40.5m).
� The effective tax rate was 20.0% (2007: 26.9%).
* Pre-amortisation and exceptional integration costs.

3. Shares, earnings and dividend
Earnings per share, adjusted for amortisation of intangibles and
exceptional integration costs, increased by 12.6% to 73.19 pence
(2007: 65.0p). A final dividend of 13.4 pence per share is being
proposed, giving a total of 19.8 pence per share for the year (2007:
17.0p). This is a 16.5% increase that leaves the dividend 3.2 times
covered, in line with our stated policy to have a progressive but
controlled approach to dividends thereby allowing reinvestment into
the business to help fund growth.

Despite a year of record trading performance, uncertainty in the
equity markets resulted in a fall in the value of Speedy shares (SDY.L)
relative to their peer group and the FTSE 250 index in the year.
Shares on 31 March 2008 had fallen 35% compared with the same
time a year ago. The tables below show the share price performance
during the fiscal year, over a five-year period and compared against
the FTSE 250 index. 

One year share price record compared to FTSE 250 
(Price in pence)

Five year share price record compared to FTSE 250
(Price in pence)
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4. Operational highlights
These are the key operational performance highlights of 2007/08:

� Our strong and robust growth outperformed the growth of the UK
hire market which expanded by 4.4% (source: AMA Research).

� Acquisition of Hewden Tools, which broadly completes our UK
tool hire network.

� Full integration of Hewden Tools two months ahead of schedule.
� Growth in our national account customer base, from both

industrial and non-industrial customers.
� A further three major contracts were secured through the

acquisition of Amec LSS.
� Expanded presence in industrial markets, e.g. petrochemical,

pharmaceutical, nuclear and rail.
� Good progress on the roll-out of the our single IT platform which

is scheduled for completion in the first half of 2009.
� Extended network in the Republic of Ireland, acquiring Waterford

Hire Services and appointing a new Managing Director.
� Added to our award-winning ‘Safety from the Ground Up’

campaign with dust inhalation, manual handling and
environmental and modules.

� Our People Plan has improved our employee retention levels and
led to new investments in training and development.

5. Tool Hire division
The Tool Hire division increased revenues by 46.9% in 2007/08 and
reported record profits. The addition of 188 depots from the Hewden
Tools acquisition drove revenue growth, and was augmented by
robust organic growth in each of the Tool Hire regions. This organic
growth accounted for the majority of the profit growth, since
Hewden Tools, as anticipated, provided only a marginal contribution. 

The rapid integration of the Hewden depots has consolidated our
leadership of the market. We are confident that synergies of £20m
p.a. will be achieved as we continue to leverage operational
efficiency across the enlarged business. The costs associated with
the integration were £10m and these have been fully expensed in
this period.

Up to the time of the Hewden Tools acquisition in August 2007, like-
for-like revenue growth for the Tool Hire division was 11.4% and
strong momentum was maintained throughout the financial year. As
reported in our Interim Report 2007, we are unable to report like-for-
like revenue growth in the Tool Hire division until we are past the first
anniversary of ownership.

We continued to build upon our fledgling non-hire activities in areas
such as training and reported strong growth in safety-related
consumable sales, through better category and supplier
management. At the same time, we have increased our Centres of
Excellence to offer products focused on access, light plant, fencing
and safety decking. 

We built on the success of our award-winning ‘Safety from the
Ground Up’ campaign to assist customers in implementing health
and safety best practices with their directly employed and
subcontracted workforce at site level. The positive response to this
initiative has encouraged us to expand cover to include dust
inhalation and manual handling.

On-site operations continued to be an effective way of tying in to
major projects and leveraging Group-wide products. We established
new on-site operations at sites related to the London Olympics
2012, the White City development and in support of Ministry of
Defence projects.

The main strategic priorities for the Tool Hire division in 2008/09 are
as follows:

� To deliver the targeted synergies from the Hewden Tools
acquisition.

� To increase margins at Hewden operations in line with those of
Speedy’s heritage operations.

� To deliver the benefits of cross-selling to our extended customer
base.

� To drive like-for-like revenue growth across the network.
� To position the focus of our sales teams towards customers and

markets and away from products and territories.
� To build on the success of the ‘Safety from Ground Up’ initiative. 

Operating and financial review

What?

� £115m acquisition of Hewden Tools completed August
2007.

� 188 depots, 1,100 people, £80m revenue.  

Why did we buy it?

� A transformational deal, combining the UK’s number 1
and number 3 businesses in the tool hire segment.

� An excellent strategic fit, virtually completing Speedy’s
national tool hire network overnight. Hewden had depots
in 32 of the 40 locations earmarked by Speedy for
greenfield openings in the next 3 years. The enlarged
network means over 95% of the UK’s population is within
one hour’s travel.  

� Increased customer base – now 100,000 account
customers – providing significant cross-selling
opportunities for other Speedy products and services.

� Provides greater penetration into industrial, local authority
and utilities customers.

� Significant synergy benefits – £20m per annum by the end
of the second full year.

Current Status

� Integration completed by February 2008 ahead of plan,
including rebranding, roll-out of Speedy IT systems,
alignment of customer pricing and discounts.

� Costs to deliver integration in line with £10m stated at the
time of the transaction.

� Even more confident of delivering target synergies of
£20m – synergy run rate entering 2008/09 already at
£12.1m.

Case Study 1:
Acquisition of Hewden Tool Hire
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6. Equipment Hire division
The Equipment Hire division in 2007/08 reported strong revenue
growth of 30.4%, driven by a robust performance from all its
businesses: Lifting, Power, Pumps, Space and Survey. The division
also completed the integration of the businesses it acquired in the
previous year, Lifting Gear Hire and LCH Generators.

During the year the division continued to align itself with its largest
customers and established positions in new industrial markets,
including nuclear, petrochemical and rail. It also accelerated the
development of its engineering services through the acquisition of
Amec LSS and expanded its offering in temporary accommodation
through the establishment of a dedicated business unit for the
provision of modular systems. 

In Speedy Power, the generator and compressors offerings were
aligned more closely to their respective markets through dedicated
sales teams. This has enhanced specialisation in these areas and
brought the businesses earlier involvement into key projects. The
compressor business, in particular, has developed new relationships
in specialist industrial markets, such as aeronautical, automotive and
telecoms.

At the same time, after careful trials, the division extended the
provision of additional services such as inspection, testing and
training that were acquired with the Lifting Gear Hire acquisition.
These services are now more widely available from the Lifting

business and, whilst in their infancy, they are showing early signs of
securing the business a stronger presence in industrial markets.

The Equipment division has also established on-site facilities in the
industrial sector. These supply both the client direct and their facilities
management contractors. 

The division will continue to drive efforts to increase Group-wide
activities in new markets. The main strategic priorities for the
Equipment division in 2008/09 are as follows:

� To continue to leverage our presence in non-construction
activities.

� To extend our product range further to ensure the widest core
offering.

� To increase our site presence with full on-site facilities.
� To continue to roll out a single IT platform.
� To leverage our procurement processes to the benefit of our

customers.
� To enhance our operational delivery model to extract maximum

synergies and deliver optimum operational effectiveness.
� To evaluate opportunities to support our customers in overseas

markets.

7. Capital structure and treasury
Speedy remains a strongly cash generative Company. Our cash flow,
expressed as a ratio of EBITDA to revenues, remains strong at
28.3% (2007: 29.9%) and operating cash flow rose 20.9% in the
year to £102.3m (2007: £84.6m). Additionally, Operating Return on
Capital, a key indicator of financial performance, has, despite the
temporary dilutive effect of the Hewden Tools acquisition, remained
strong at 15.2% (2007: 16.9%), significantly ahead of our average
cost of capital.

Speedy’s long-term funding is provided through a combination 
of shareholders’ funds and bank debt. At 31 March 2008,
shareholders’ funds totalled £240.1m and net debt outstanding was
£255.6m. The level of gearing therefore was a comfortable 106.5%
(102.9%). 

While remaining vigilant to changes in interest rates and wider
market conditions, the Board believes that Speedy remains a
conservatively funded business with the net debt to EBITDA ratio
and interest cover at a comfortable 1.9 times and 4.0 times,
respectively. The Board considers that a prudent balance between
debt and equity helps secure the availability of future finance
necessary to ensure that the business can maintain its growth
momentum.

During the year we continued to fund growth in Group turnover and
increase our market share. Our gross investment in capital
expenditure reached £104.1m (2007: £93.4m), with further
investment expenditure of £137.4m for acquisitions. 

Record levels of investment led to growth in net debt of £79.4m by
the year end (2007 outstandings: £176.2m). To support this
expansion, a new £325m five-year bank facility was put in place with
a Group of seven relationship banks. This facility replaced the
Group’s previous bank facility and provides committed funding to
2012. Sufficient headroom exists within the facility to finance the
current needs of the business.  

What?

� £12.5m acquisition of Amec Logisitics and Support
Services, 10 depots, 250 people in January 2008.

� Strengthens Speedy’s relationship with Amec by including
a 4 year exclusive supply arrangement with Amec’s
Industrial division and preferred supplier agreements with
other divisions within the wider Amec Group.

Why did we buy it?

� The transaction is an evaluation of Speedy’s strategy of
developing long-term partnerships with large customers in
construction and industrial markets.

� The Amec supply arrangements allow Speedy to
penetrate further opportunities in industrial, petrochemical
and utilities sectors in addition to opening up completely
new opportunities in the rail sector. The deal includes an
extended framework agreement with Network Rail to
provide its entire specialist rail requirements nationally.

� Employees transferred to Speedy from Amec bringing
new skills and capabilities to Speedy, including dedicated
service engineers for rail, quantity surveyors and civil
engineers.

Current Status

� The integration of Amec LSS is progressing well and in line
with plan. The business will be fully integrated by the
2008/09 half year.

� In addition to the exclusive supply arrangements with
Amec’s Industrial division, the transaction is already
opening up significant opportunities to support Amec’s
nuclear business.

Case Study 2:
Acquisition of Amec LSS
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To maintain a suitable balance between debt and equity, during the
course of the financial year Speedy Hire increased its shareholders’
funds through the placing of 4.36m new shares, equivalent to 9.4%
of the shares in issue at the time. The funds raised through the new
shares issued were £51.7m, net of expenses.

At Speedy our policy is to hedge some of the risk of interest rate
movements. We aim to have between 40% and 70% of our debt
covered by interest rate risk management instruments. At year end,
we had a number of instruments covering £152m of our debt, with
maturity dates of between July 2008 and February 2011. 

Speedy-O-Meter

The Speedy business model contains the flexibility to lower Group
debt through reduced investment levels if growth rates slow.
Supporting the turnover growth and higher market share enjoyed in
the 2008 financial year translated into higher net debt. A lower level
of turnover growth does not require the same level of investment,
with consequent benefits to net debt and gearing. 

As part of this process, our capital expenditure is subject to very
short forward order requirements and any decision to trim
investment can consequently have a rapid impact on free cash flow
generation. This, together with our highly flexible operating model,
ensures that we are comfortable with our ability to respond quickly in
the event of any downturn. 

8. Our market
The UK hire market is valued at around £4.5bn. Driven by growth in
outsourcing and regulatory pressures, the market is growing at
approximately 4.4% CAGR to exceed £5bn by 2010,2 giving Speedy
a market share of roughly 10%. 

The UK hire market is highly fragmented and is served by a range of
organisations, the majority of which are either product or region
specific in their structure. The market in Ireland is less researched
and therefore the information available is less comprehensive;
however, the data available suggests a market value of €325m. 

Continued growth in the UK hire market is based on the trend
towards hire and away from ownership. Contractors and other
operators lower their costs by outsourcing their non-core activities
and increasing their emphasis on Health and Safety, quality
assurance and supply chain management.

Speedy has built a trusted brand in this market and has a sustained
record of profitable growth because of its commitment to providing a
full range of high quality products and services to major national
contractors in the UK construction market and, increasingly, in
specialist non-construction sectors and the Republic of Ireland.

At the same time, legislation aimed at encouraging safer working
practices continues to emerge. In response, Speedy devised its
award-winning ‘Safety from the Ground Up’ campaign from which to
communicate new products and services and advise on compliance
and best practice. This has attracted customers to our growing
portfolio of initiatives. 

More recently, legislation has begun to address the environmental
impact of building activities, representing a new opportunity for
Speedy to drive growth by servicing customers’ needs in this area. 

We have sought to benefit from these market dynamics by
implementing a growth strategy that differentiates us from our
competitors, especially the localised hire operators that are
increasingly unable to support the demands of the major contractors
and industrial customers for consistency and compliance on a
national basis and across a broad product range. 

9. New markets
New business lines have created important revenue streams outside
the construction sector, most notably from customers in industrial
markets such as the petrochemical, pharmaceutical, steel, nuclear
and rail sectors. With the continued drive towards outsourcing, we
are realising further opportunities in other non-construction areas
such as local authorities and government departments.

Our ability to identify new products has seen us establish dedicated
businesses for our offerings in Lifting, Power, Space and Survey and
enabled us to expand into overseas markets, such as the Republic
of Ireland. Closer alignment with our customers has allowed us to
develop additional services, such as testing, maintenance and asset
management, thereby creating important new growth platforms for
the future.

Our acquisition of Amec LSS in February has enabled us to access
new customer businesses in the nuclear and railway industries and
has accelerated the establishment of a new hire and service
business dedicated to the engineering sector. The transaction has
thus positioned the business in a more service-based relationship
with the Amec Group.

10. Market outlook 
We are mindful of the current uncertainties surrounding UK
economic growth, although in our own markets we are not currently
experiencing any overall downturn. 

Whilst housing and commercial office building has contracted
significantly, the impact of a reduction in these areas has been offset
through the continued investment in improving UK infrastructure and
those areas covered by regulatory spend, such as electricity, gas
and water. It is increased activity in these areas that has led the
majority of our customers to report positive conditions and
prospects. 

Operating and financial review
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Construction outlook: £120bn (at current prices)

The most recent forecasts for construction output predict annual
growth slowing to around 1% p.a. in 2008/09, with recovery from
2010 to a more normalised level of c.2.5% p.a. This provides a good
opportunity for the business because of:

� the continued high levels of activity in the construction market; 
� the increased legislative and regulatory emphasis on safer working

practices; 
� the drive towards outsourcing; and 
� the increasing emphasis on quality assurance, supply chain and

environmental standards.

This outlook provides us with the confidence to invest where we see
the best growth prospects.

In addition, despite our leading market position, our relatively small
share of the market (approximately 10% of the overall UK hire
market) provides scope for us to continue to expand our position.

We believe growth opportunities will also emerge as major
contractors continue to drive value through their supply chain by
consolidating their number of suppliers. As a result of this trend
Speedy now has: 

� an increased amount of secured revenues over the next five years
(over £250m); 

� an increased number of preferred supplier agreements with the
largest UK national contractors and support service Groups (22 of
the top 25); and 

� 13 dedicated customer hire desks through our Hire Direct
operation. 

The flexibility of our business model enables us to respond quickly to
opportunities available in the parts of our market where there is
currently most potential. At the present time, this involves supporting
customers’ construction activities in infrastructure and public
services, as well as in non-construction sectors.

11. Our strategy
Our strategy is growth driven by customer intimacy and operational
flexibility. 

We have developed long-term strategic partnerships for hire with the
major national, regional and specialist contractors and, increasingly,
with industrial users. We aim to become a more embedded part of
their supply chain through the provision of value-added services in
training, services, sales and repairs & maintenance.

The key means by which Speedy seeks to achieve this goal are as
follows:

� To retain a high degree of customer intimacy
Why: By understanding our customers and their dynamics we
have been able to identify new products to meet their needs; new
markets where these products are utilised; and expand
geographically with the support of our customers. 

� To operate the most modern and comprehensive fleet in
the industry
Why: The best fleet is less prone to breakdown, compliant with
current legislation and a younger fleet gives us more flexibility with
our long-term expenditure requirements.

� To have an effective national network offering a full range
of products and services
Why: Our national network ensures our customers have better
access to more products and services wherever they work,
improving their productivity by reducing their downtime.

� To increase our product and service ranges
Why: The continuing breakout of the specialist areas has allowed
us to broaden our offer in those areas where we detect customer
opportunities. It enables our customer to obtain more high-quality
services, from fewer suppliers, while increasing cross-selling
opportunities, operational flexibility and deepening our client
relationships. 

� To be a leader in service innovation
Why: The ability to influence innovation and change increases the
trust of our clients thereby improving our intimacy. We have
continued to drive innovation in our industry and are always
striving to improve our products and services. When our
customers need a solution we want them to think of us first.

� To maintain product expertise
Why: To ensure that our customers can have confidence in our
product knowledge and can therefore trust us to source and
service their hire requirements competitively and professionally
with mission critical equipment.

� To invest in marketing
Why: We continue to invest in developing our understanding of
the markets we operate in and the trends that we see in those
markets from a customer, supplier or legislative perspective. We
use marketing to position and promote our brand effectively. By
understanding our customers and their markets better we identify
new products and services to add to our offering.

� To employ a large direct sales force
Why: We understand the value of having face-to-face contact with
our customers, to understand their needs, service them better and
provide us with the flexibility to respond to changing demand. 

� To be an industry consolidator

Why: We see further consolidation opportunities in select areas in
the industry as both likely and desirable, particularly in areas of our
Equipment business. This consolidation will have a positive impact
on the supply chain, health & safety and quality improvements.

� To maintain financial strength
Why: To ensure that Speedy can continue to invest in the
resources necessary to support the ambitions of its 
customer base.

Construction Outlook: £120bn (at current prices)
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12. Our values
At Speedy we continually strive to apply the following core values to
everything we do:

Integrity: To be honest in our dealings and deliver value to our
stakeholders through high ethical standards.

Safety: To be committed to promoting a safe and healthy culture for
our customers and employees.

Social responsibility: To be mindful of the communities in which
we operate and our impact on the environment.

Reputation: To be committed to maintaining and building our
reputation and brand.

People: We aim to employ the best, support the development of
our staff and reward success.

Commitment: We work hard to maintain our ‘can do’ culture and
commitment to our customers.

13. Doing it right
At Speedy Hire, we are committed to high levels of corporate
responsibility and to the long-term sustainability of our business. 
As accredited members of Business in the Community and of the
FTSE4Good Index, we seek to engage our stakeholder groups in
order to deliver improvements in key areas of our corporate
responsibility focus. These are:

� Our people � Our communities
� Our customers � Risk management
� Our suppliers � Governance
� Health & Safety

For the third consecutive year Speedy is publishing a separate
Corporate Responsibility report. For more detailed information about
Speedy’s policies and achievements, please go to
www.speedyhire.co.uk.

14. Governance and risk management
In the year ended 31 March 2008, the Company complied with the
provisions set out in the Combined Code and maintained high
standards of corporate governance. At the same time, we continued
to monitor and evaluate all areas of financial and operational risk. In
addition, we employ Marsh as risk advisers to independently
evaluate our risk management processes. For more information on
corporate governance and risk management at Speedy, please refer
to page 37 of this report.

15. Our people
Speedy’s rapid organic and acquisitive growth has led to a significant
increase in our staff. At 31 March 2008 we had over 5,000
employees compared to 3,800 in the previous year. The acquisition
of Hewden Tools added more than 1,200 employees.

At Speedy we aim to be an employer of choice in our sector. We
achieve this by maintaining a knowledgeable, stable and engaged
workforce able to service our customers effectively while reducing
recruitment and retention costs for the Group. 

Operating and financial review

What is it?

� A brand new, group wide IT system expected to have
2,000 users on the system within the next 12 months.

Why did we buy it?

� Improved customer service can be delivered with a “single
view” of a customer across the entire Speedy group.

� Assets can be better controlled and monitored with the
aim of enhancing product availability, improving utilisation
and strengthening the supply chain.

� Depot operation schedules will be deployed to maximise
efficiency and assist in smooth processing of sales
contracts and purchase orders.

� Enhancements in management information to aid depot
managers, area teams and sales to improve our
performance.

Current Status

� All 357 Tool Hire depots are now live on the system. This
includes the ex-Hewden depots only acquired in August.

� The roll-out of the system is continuing into Speedy Ireland
and the Equipment Division in the new year.

Case Study 3:
IT Systems

What is it?
Speedy’s People Plan reflects our strategic approach to
training and developing our people, providing careers not just
jobs and ensuring that the skills base in Speedy meets and
beats our customers’ expectations.
The People Plan has two main objectives:
(a) to provide a clear and simple framework (see opposite) to

enable people in every role in our business to enhance
their skills and develop their careers at Speedy; and

(b)to develop a talent pool of outstanding managers to
enable us to drive the business forward for years to come.

Why are we doing it?
At Speedy we are passionate about making our business the
best Company to work for. The commitment and “can do”
attitude of our people has been a key to our success so far
and is recognised by our customers. But we must continually
strive to improve. As clear market leader, we are absolutely
committed to growing, developing and motivating our people
to drive Speedy even further. 

Current Status
(a) We have designed and are in the process of rolling out

through the Speedy Academy structured training and
development programmes for 6 key roles in the business
– depot managers, hire controllers, drivers, field sales, test
and run technicians and fitters. These programmes
already cover over 4,500 employees, around 85% of our
current workforce. Additional programmes for all other
roles are in development. 

(b)Early success relating to the recruitment, training and
development of drivers is very encouraging as driver
retention levels have already improved by more than 10
percentage points within the last 12 months.

(c) We have personal development plans in place for all our
senior managers and in the last 12 months an additional
40 employees have participated in our Senior Leadership
Programme designed and run in conjunction with
Ashridge Business School.

More details of our People Plan appear in our third Corporate
Responsibility Report to be published in July 2008.

Case Study 4:
People Plan
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Our people policy is based on the following simple procedures: 

� Employ the best � Devolve responsibility and authority
� Reward for success � Allow people to get on with their job

In 2007/08 we completed two employee satisfaction surveys in
order to measure overall engagement levels and to pinpoint areas
where we need to position our people agenda. The year also saw
the launch of our People Plan, our strategy that aims to promote
long-term employee development at all levels of the Group.

For more information about employee policies and practices at
Speedy, please refer to the Speedy Hire Corporate Responsibility
Report 2007/08.

16. Health & Safety
Health & Safety awareness is a priority at every level in the Group
and is an important driver of our business. At Speedy, we are at the
forefront of developments in this area and our work has been
recognised through numerous awards over the years.

In 2007, we received a National Business Award for our successful
‘Safety from the Ground Up’ initiative that aims to introduce key
Health & Safety messages at site level. Internally, we are also
committed to operating a safe and healthy workplace by giving our
employees the right information, training and protection.

For more information about health and safety practices at Speedy,
please refer to the Speedy Hire Corporate Responsibility Report
2007/08.

17. Environment
Like all good businesses, we are increasingly aware of our
environmental responsibility and are committed to implementing a long-
term strategy that will reduce the day-to-day impact of our operations
on the environment. We continued to comply with the requirements of
the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and all other domestic
legislation pertaining to the protection of human and natural resources.

In 2007/08 we completed the first stage of a three-year strategy to
reduce the Group’s carbon footprint against measurable targets. New
systems and processes were put in place so we can measure our
carbon emissions, energy consumption and use of natural resources.
During the year we also prepared the launch of our customer-driven
environmental awareness campaign ‘Greener from the Ground Up’,
aimed at helping our customers meet their own environmental targets. 

For more information about this strategy and other areas in
corporate responsibility please refer to the Speedy Hire Corporate
Responsibility Report 2007/8.

18. Our communities
In 2007/08, as part of our ongoing commitment to corporate
responsibility, we continued to implement policies that added value
both to the communities in which we operate and to those beyond
our market.

One of our biggest steps in the year was setting up a Charities
Committee to provide a structured and transparent policy for all of
Speedy’s community activities. An online application form set up by
the Committee helps direct the Group’s efforts in volunteering time,
free hire and cash donations.

Charitable giving during the year amounted to £68,000. We are
active members of the Lighthouse Club, CRASH and the Children’s
Adventure Farm Trust.

These policies are highlighted in the key initiatives area of the Speedy
Hire Corporate Responsibility Report 2007/08.

19. Focus for the future
A great deal has been achieved over the year. Our national accounts
and relationships with our largest customers have moved from
strength to strength. At the same time we have positioned ourselves
well to benefit from opportunities in our traditional markets as well
those that are newer to the hire business. Our key focus is to extract
and maximise the full value of the work we have done.

By continuing to broaden our customer base in the industrial markets
and strengthening our relationships with our largest national accounts,
we will deliver more growth in the year ahead. We will seek to offer our
customers more service-based solutions, whilst increasing our
strategic alignment to their business.

By achieving new levels of customer intimacy and operational flexibility,
we will change our operations to develop alongside them and their
market spaces. We will identify new areas of specialisation that we will
develop into future platforms for growth.

The continued roll-out of our Group-wide business information
management system will allow us to achieve better visibility around the
system, aligning us more effectively with the market to maximize
opportunities. After integrating this system throughout our Tool Hire
depot network in 2007/08, we are set to have it fully implemented
throughout the Group in the first half of 2009.

We also intend to expand the scope of our successful ‘Safety from the
Ground Up’ campaign in the year ahead to continue providing real
solutions to some of the most pressing challenges our customers
face. We will continue to invest in the development of our internal
infrastructure, our information systems and in the development and
training of our people.

We monitor market activity closely and will be mindful of acquisition
opportunities that fit our strategic objectives, whether they are of
externally facing businesses or of contractors’ own fleets. 

Looking at the year ahead, we are confident in our ability to maximise
the opportunities that lie ahead and to deliver further growth.

Steve Corcoran Mike McGrath
Chief Executive Commercial Director

Justin Read Claudio Veritiero
Group Finance Director Chief Operating Officer

Patrick Rawnsley
Company Secretary
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Operating Board

01Andy Carter
Divisional Managing Director Speedy Power

Aged 42, joined Speedy in December 1999 to form Speedy Power.
For the previous ten years Andy worked for Rentair Plc, firstly as a
Regional Manager and then as Sales and Marketing Director. Prior to
this he was London region sales representative for Vp PLC and
Business Development Manager for Hertz Equipment Rental.

02Martin Knott
Divisional Managing Director Tool Hire 

Aged 48, rejoined Speedy in 2004 as Operation Director of our Tool
Hire division and was appointed Managing Director in April 2005.
Worked in the hire industry for over 30 years, since leaving grammar
school at 16. Formerly one of the first ever Speedy Hire Depot
Managers. Most recently worked for HSS in various operational
roles; appointed to the HSS Group Board in 1995, spending seven
years as UK Operations Director.

03Gary Parkinson
Divisional Managing Director Speedy Space

Aged 47, joined Speedy in June 2006 as Managing Director of
Speedy Space. Prior to this appointment has held a number of
senior appointments in retail and FMCG businesses. These include:
Supply Chain Director for a global wines and spirits joint venture
Company, a period working in the USA establishing a Rest of the
World Manufacturing and Support business for Games Workshop
and Managing Director of a furniture manufacturing and sourcing
business supplying Marks & Spencer plc.

04Dave Harris
Divisional Managing Director Speedy Engineering

Aged 45, joined Speedy in May 2007 as Managing Director of Speedy
Lifting. Following the acquisition of Amec’s internal plant hire business
in January 2008 was appointed Managing Director of the newly
formed Engineering Division – comprising Lifting, Survey and

Engineering Services. Prior to joining Speedy has held a number of
senior roles in the leisure, travel and retail sectors – including a number
of years as the Managing Director of UCI Cinemas and Going Places.

05Peter Buchan
Managing Director Speedy Eastern

Aged 52, joined Speedy following the takeover of Kendrick Hire.
Peter joined Speedy Southern as depot manager at Norwich and
was appointed Regional Director East Anglia in 1999. Previously
Peter had run his own business which was acquired by Kendrick
Hire and he has a total of 21 years’ industry experience.

06John Cummings
Managing Director Speedy Scotland

Aged 52, joined Speedy in December 1995 as Regional Director
(Scotland) for Speedy Northern. He was appointed Managing
Director of Speedy Scotland in April 2003 following the restructuring
of the divisions. Previously John had set up his own business –
Capital Plant Hire – and this was acquired by Speedy in 1995.

07David Graham
Managing Director Speedy London & South East

Aged 49, joined Speedy in 2004 as Group Sales and Marketing
Director and Managing Director of Speedy Direct. Previously worked
for SGB Youngman in various roles including Regional Manager for
London, General Manager of Retail Operations and latterly Sales and
Marketing Director. David was appointed Managing Director of
Speedy London & South East in July 2006.

08Greg Wood
Managing Director Speedy Hire Direct 

Aged 51, Greg joined Speedy in June 2003 as National Accounts
Director. Greg has 31 years’ experience in the tool hire industry
previously owning his own Company, Instant Tool Hire. In September
2006 Greg took on the additional role of Managing Director for Speedy

01 02 03 04
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Hire Direct following the success and growth of National Accounts and
the close association with the Hire Direct function.

09Simon Richards
Managing Director Support Services

Aged 50, joined the Group in 1978 and became Finance Director of
the Hire Services division in 1982. Simon has been involved in most of
Speedy’s acquisitions and the formation of new businesses. Prior to
becoming MD of Support Services, he was MD of Speedy Northern.

10Brian Cornett
Director Speedy Compressors

Brian Cornett joined Speedy in April 2000. Previously Brian worked
for five years as Plant and Engineering General Manager at Rentair
Plc, and Hewden before that. Since joining Speedy he became
Engineering and Operations Director of Speedy Power before taking
up his current role.

11Gary Cooper
Director Speedy Pumps

Gary Cooper has been at Speedy for 19 years starting as Depot
Manager of the London Tools Depot. He later progressed to
Purchasing Manager, Purchasing Director and then Supply Chain
Director for the Group in 2001 until taking on the challenge of
heading up Speedy Pumps in 2005. 

12Alan Bultitude
Managing Director Speedy Western 

Aged 55, has been with Speedy Hire for 12 years following the
successful takeover of Kendrick Hire. Joined Speedy as Purchasing
Director for Speedy Southern, after which he was involved in the
Loss Department. Appointed Managing Director of Toilet Hire UK in
February 2004 and following its sale, was appointed Managing
Director of Speedy Western.

Mick Jones (not pictured)
Director Speedy Generators
Mick Jones joined Speedy Power in July 2006 to assist with the
integration of LCH Generators. With over 17 years of experience in
the rental industry, Mick started out at Kennards Hire in Australia
before moving to Ingersoll Rand, Vibroplant and then Aggreko in
1998. Following Aggreko Mick moved to Spain where he was
Managing Director of Marine Services in Palma.

Steve Winward (not pictured)
Speedy Northern Operations Director
Aged 45, Steve joined in 1994 as an Area Sales Manager. He then
moved to Speedy Hire Direct as a National Accounts Manager and
then to Speedy Space as a Depot Manager. Following this Steve
was appointed Regional Manager, Speedy Northern and later
became the Regional Manager/Director for Speedy Scotland. In
2006 Steve progressed to Sales Director, until the retirement of Barry
Halliwell, and is now Speedy Northern’s Operations Director (North-
West and West Midlands). 

Martin Hayward (not pictured)
Speedy Northern Operations Director
Aged 40, Martin joined Speedy Northern in 2003 as a Regional
Manager, he was later appointed Regional Director for Yorkshire &
Humberside in 2005. With 23 years’ experience in the hire industry,
Martin started as a driver and worked his way up through the ranks to
General Manager of St Vincent Plant which was acquired by Speedy
in 2003, and is now Operations Director for Speedy Northern
(Yorkshire and East Midlands). 

Keith Ferguson (not pictured)
Managing Director Speedy Survey 
Aged 50, joined Speedy in 2004 through the acquisition of Multi
Equipment Rental Plc, where he was the Operations Director for 12
years. In October 2005 Keith became Managing Director of Speedy
Survey. He had previously worked as Regional Manager for Total
Power Tools Ltd, part of the Turriff Group of Companies. Prior to this
he was a Service Manager for ISIS Plant Limited.

05 06 07 08 09 10
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Directors

David William Wallis, 
BSc Econ
Non-Executive Chairman

Once again, I am able to report a year of further progress and
improvement in the effectiveness of the Board at a time when it has
undergone significant change. This change is a reflection of the
growth of the business, which now needs to build on its existing
strengths but also encompass a broader range of skills and
experiences. Our annual evaluation format has been further
enhanced with the introduction of a numerical scoring system and
we continue to work on the areas identified in our external evaluation
carried out in 2006.

The areas addressed include:

� The effectiveness of the Board in the testing and development of
strategy including an evaluation of the Company’s resources and
advisers.

� An examination of the Board’s governance and processes,
including its structure and the skills and experiences of its
members, together with Board relationships. This also includes an
evaluation of the Board committees, risk management and
resource planning.

� An evaluation of the meetings themselves to ensure that there is
appropriate reporting of key information, full and open debate,
proper resolution of issues and that an appropriate balance is
struck between strategic and operational matters.

� An examination of the effectiveness of the communication of the
decisions of the Board, in terms of the strategy which has been set
and the safeguarding of the ethics and core values of the business.

The score achieved was 81% indicating that the Board is effective
and working well, but that there are areas where there is still room for
improvement. I think this is the right place to be, demonstrating that
there is no room for complacency in any part of the business.

As I wrote in last year’s report, I anticipated a number of changes to
the composition of the Board over the next year or two and so it has
proved to be.

Neil O’Brien, who has been Group Finance Director for the last nine
years, has left the business to pursue other opportunities. Neil has
made a massive contribution to the growth of Speedy Hire over that
time and has remained with us to ensure a smooth transition of his
responsibilities to his successor, typical of his commitment and
professionalism. Neil leaves with our very best wishes for every
success in the future.

Justin Read was appointed as Group Finance Director from 1 April
2008. Justin has until recently been employed by Hanson PLC, the
international building materials company. At the time of his leaving
Hanson, he held the dual roles of Managing Director, Hanson
Continental Europe and Head of Corporate Development. Over the
last 14 years, he has held a number of other senior roles within
Hanson, including Deputy Finance Director, Head of Risk Management
and Treasury, and Group Treasurer. He had also been responsible for
Hanson’s corporate communications and investor relations. Justin is
already making a valuable contribution to the business.

I am also pleased to report that a fourth executive Director joined the
Board in October 2007, with the appointment of Claudio Veritiero as
Chief Operating Officer. Claudio initially joined us from the investment
banking arm of N M Rothschild. His first role was in business
development with responsibility for acquisitions and strategic
development, followed by a spell as Managing Director of Speedy
Lifting where he built it to clear UK market leader. Already master of
his brief, Claudio has brought an added dimension and new skills
both to the Executive team and to the Board.

Additionally there have been a number of changes to the Non-
Executive Directors. Frank Dee retired by rotation, having served
seven years on the Board. Frank spent a considerable amount of
time in the business at all levels, developing an understanding of
issues then advising the Executive on practical solutions, bringing an
equal measure of challenge and support. As Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee he dealt with some detailed and complex
issues, always injecting an appropriate level of pragmatism and
common sense. In short, Frank has been an exemplary Non-
Executive Director and both I and Speedy Hire are grateful for his
contribution and wish him well for the future.

Peter Atkinson and I are retiring by rotation at this year’s Annual
General Meeting and are offering ourselves for re-election.

In accordance with the Combined Code on Corporate Governance,
my performance has been reviewed by the Non-Executive Directors
who have confirmed that it remains effective and they recommend
my reappointment as a Director. Further comments in support of 
my proposed re-election may be found in the Directors’ report, on
page 35. 

Peter Atkinson is also recommended by the Board for reappointment.
Peter joined the Board in 2005 and is an effective contributor at all our
gatherings. His background in service businesses across a range of
industries remains a great asset to the Company. Following a year of
not insignificant changes to the Board, Peter also brings an important
element of continuity at such a time.

In July 2007, I was delighted to welcome Ishbel Macpherson to the
Board as an additional Non-Executive Director. Ishbel was an
experienced corporate financier having spent 20 years specialising in
UK mid market corporate finance, latterly as head of UK emerging
companies corporate finance at DKW. Her input has been
immediate and an extremely valuable addition to our team. Ishbel
has been appointed as Senior Independent Director and chair of the
Remuneration Committee.

We welcomed Michael Averill to the Board as a Non-Executive
Director in May 2008. Until last year, Michael was CEO of Shanks
Group plc, having transformed it into one of Europe’s largest waste
management companies, employing 4,300 people in the UK,
Belgium and Holland. He is currently a Non-Executive Director at
TDG plc and Care UK plc and a member of the Waste and Resource
Action Programme. He brings a range of operational, strategic and
commercial skills gained in international services companies. 

The Board structure is once again complete. My objectives for this
year are to ensure that our new members settle into their roles and
that following a period of change and re-invigoration we can look
forward once again to a period of stability. The skills and experience
embedded in the Board are now very broad and in my view, well
matched to meet the Company’s objectives and strategy in the years
ahead, along with the challenges that inevitably will arise.

Finally, I would like to thank Patrick Rawnsley, our Company
Secretary for his wise counsel and endless patience and all my
former and new colleagues for their continuing support. Their input is
essential to making the Board effective and successful. It is a
privilege and honour to lead it.

David Wallis
Chairman 

Audit Committee: 
David Galloway (Chairman),
Ishbel Macpherson, 
Peter Atkinson, 
Michael Averill

Nomination Committee:
David Wallis (Chairman), 
David Galloway, 
Ishbel Macpherson, 
Peter Atkinson, 
Michael Averill, 
Steve Corcoran

Remuneration Committee:
Ishbel Macpherson (Chairman),
David Galloway, 
Peter Atkinson, 
Michael Averill
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01David William Wallis, BSc Econ
Non-Executive Chairman

David Wallis joined the Board in June 2000, and was appointed as
Chairman in February 2001. He is also Chairman of Directorbank
Holdings Ltd and has previously held the position of Chairman or
Non-Executive Director in a number of public and private
companies. His Executive career included nine years as Group
Managing Director of Merchant Retail Group plc.

02Steven James Corcoran
Chief Executive

Steve Corcoran, aged 47, has over 20 years’ experience in the hire
industry. He joined the Group in 1990 and has been promoted
“through the ranks” to the Board. He joined the Board in March
2001 as Chief Operating Officer and succeeded John Brown as
Chief Executive in April 2005.

03Neil Christopher O’Brien, MA, ACA
Director

Neil O’Brien, aged 45, joined the Company in June 1999 as Finance
Director and will step down on 31 May 2008. Previously, he was
Finance Director at Avonside Group PLC. Prior to that, he held
senior financial posts in Aggregate Industries and in Blue Circle’s
French manufacturing operations.

04Michael Andrew McGrath
Commercial Director

Mike McGrath, aged 41, became Commercial Director in March
2006, having served as Group Company Secretary on a part-time
basis since 2001. Mike was formerly a partner at Pinsent Masons,
the Group’s solicitors, and has advised the Company in relation to
the majority of its acquisitions over the last 15 years.

05Claudio Veritiero
Chief Operating Officer 

Claudio Veritiero, aged 34, joined Speedy in 2004, shortly after which
he was appointed Group Business Development Director with
responsibility for acquisitions and strategic development. Appointed
Managing Director of Speedy Lifting in June 2005. Prior to joining
Speedy, he worked for eight years with the Investment Banking arm of
Rothschild where he was involved in a lead advisory role on a broad
range of mergers and acquisitions, fund-raisings and strategic
consultancy.

06Justin Richard Read, MBA
Group Finance Director

Justin Read, aged 47,  joined the Board in April 2008, having been
previously employed by Hanson PLC, the international building materials
company. At the time of leaving Hanson, he held the dual roles of
Managing Director, Hanson Continental Europe and Head of Corporate
Development. Previously he held a number of other senior roles within
Hanson, including Deputy Finance Director, Head of Risk Management
and Treasury, and Group Treasurer. He had also been responsible for
Hanson’s corporate communications and investor relations. 

07Ishbel Macpherson
Non-Executive Director – Senior Independent Director

Ishbel Macpherson, aged 47, joined the Board following the AGM this
year. Ishbel is an investment banker of over twenty years’ standing who
has specialised in UK mid-market corporate finance. Ishbel was Head
of UK Emerging Companies Corporate Finance at Dresdner Kleinwort
Wasserstein from 1999 to 2005 and is presently a Non-Executive
Director of MITIE Group plc, GAME Group plc and Hydrogen Group
plc. Ishbel is also the Company’s Senior Independent Director.

08Frank Rigby Dee
Non-Executive Director

Frank Dee, aged 57, joined the Board in April 2001 and retired on 
31 March 2008. Frank has spent over 30 years in retailing. Prior to his
retirement on 31 March 2008, Frank was Chairman of the Company’s
Remuneration Committee and was also the Company’s Senior
Independent Director.

09David Allistair Galloway, FCA
Non-Executive Director

David Galloway, aged 62, joined the Board in April 2001. He has
extensive experience of support services and hire and leasing
businesses and was a Director of RAC Plc. He is currently Non-
Executive Chairman of Accident Exchange plc, and a Non-Executive
Director of May Gurney Integrated Services plc. He chairs the Audit
Committee.

10Peter Duncan Atkinson
Non-Executive Director

Peter Atkinson, aged 51, joined the Board in June 2005. Peter is
currently Chief Executive of Macfarlane Group plc, a position which
he has held since October 2003. From 2000 to 2003, Peter was
responsible for the US automotive and materials handling business
of Brambles Industries PLC. Prior to that he held a number of senior
positions within GKN PLC and its joint venture partners, where he
worked from 1988 to 2000.

11Michael Charles Edward Averill, BSc (Eng), MBA
Non-Executive Director

Michael Averill, aged 57, held the position of Group Chief Executive
of Shanks Group plc for thirteen years until September 2007. He is a
Non-Executive Director of TDG plc, Care UK plc, Modern Waste
Limited and the Waste and Resources Action Programme.

12Patrick James Rawnsley, MA
Company Secretary

Patrick Rawnsley, aged 43, joined the Company in January 2007.
Patrick was formerly the Company Secretary of Reg Vardy plc and
prior to that was a partner at Eversheds LLP.

01 02 03 04 05 06
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The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
accounts for the year ended 31 March 2008.

Review of the business and future developments
A review of the progress made by the Group during the year
together with the business review that is required to be disclosed
pursuant to the Companies Act 1985 (Operating and Financial
Review and Directors Report) Regulations 2005 are contained within
this report, the Chairman’s statement on pages 20 and 21, and the
Operating and Financial Review on pages 22 to 29 which should be
read as part of this report.

Results and dividends
The consolidated profit for the year after taxation was £24.4m (2007:
£26.6m). This is after a taxation charge of £6.1m (2007: £9.8m)
representing an effective rate of 20% (2007: 26.9%) after a deferred
tax credit of £2.6m arising on the change in tax rate to 28%. An
interim dividend of 6.4 pence per share was paid during the year.
The Directors propose that a final dividend of 13.4 pence per share
be paid, making a total dividend distribution for the year of 19.8
pence per share (2007: 17 pence).

The Group holds and uses financial instruments to finance its
operations and manage its interest rate and liquidity risks. Full details
of the Group’s arrangements are contained in note 17 of the financial
statements.

Post-balance sheet events
There have been no significant events since the balance sheet date
which would have a material effect on the financial statements.

Issue of shares
During the year, the Company issued an aggregate of 454,642
ordinary shares of 5 pence each to employees under the terms of
the Company’s Save as You Earn Scheme. 

On 14 June 2007 the Company agreed to issue to certain
institutional investors 4,359,800 ordinary shares of 5 pence each,
having an aggregate nominal value of £217,990, at a price of £12.50
per share. On 13 June 2007, being the date the terms of the issue
were fixed, the market price of each share was £12.40.

Buy-back of shares
At the Annual General meeting held on 17 July 2007, a special
resolution was passed to authorise the Company to make
purchases on the London Stock Exchange of up to 10% of its
ordinary shares. As at 27 May 2008, no shares had been purchased
under this authority. Shareholders will be requested to renew this
authority at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting in July 2008.

Employment of disabled persons
The Group recognises its responsibilities towards disabled persons
and gives full and fair consideration to applicants in positions suited
to their own particular abilities where appropriate openings exist.
Where employees become disabled in the course of their
employment, every effort is made to provide them with continuing
employment.

Equal opportunities
In the recruitment of employees and their subsequent career
development, individuals are considered having regard to their
aptitudes and abilities irrespective of race, sex, marital status, age or
disability.

Employee involvement
The Group aims to achieve a shared commitment from all
employees to the success of the businesses in which they are
employed. The Board believes in the financial effectiveness of
incentive bonuses. It is the Group’s policy that every employee
should be in some form of incentive scheme as soon as possible
after joining the Group. Details of such incentive schemes, including
annual bonus arrangements for Executive Directors and Senior
Executives, are summarised in the Remuneration Committee’s report
on page 50.

Payments to suppliers
It is the Group’s policy to make suppliers aware of the terms and
conditions upon which the Group will trade with them and to abide
by those terms. Codes or standards on payment practice are
followed where appropriate. The Group had 76 days of purchases
outstanding at the end of the financial year (Company: 42 days).

Going concern
After reviewing the Group’s budgeted cash flows and having made
appropriate enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation
that the Company and Group have adequate resources to continue
in operation for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the Directors
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial
statements.

Political and charitable donations
The Group made charitable donations amounting to £68,000 (2007:
£99,000) during the year. Company charitable donations were
£21,000 (2007: £75,000). In accordance with the policy of the
Group, no political donations were made during the year.

Substantial shareholders
As at 27 May 2008, the Company had been notified, in accordance
with the Disclosure and Transparency Rules, of the following holders
of shares with 3% or more of the total voting rights in the issued
share capital of the Company:

Percentage of 
Name voting rights

AXA SA and its subsidiaries 11.02%
Barclays Plc and its subsidiaries 8.66%
Credit Suisse Asset Management Limited 6.03%
Standard Life Investments Limited 6.009%
JPMorgan Chase & Co 5.39%
BlackRock Inc. 5.03%
Fidelity International Limited 4.84%
Lloyds TSB Group Plc 4.557%
Legal & General Group Plc 4.13%
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Directors
The Directors who served during the year and the interests of
Directors in the share capital of the Company are set out on pages
33 and 56.

David Wallis and Peter Atkinson are retiring by rotation at the Annual
General Meeting and are offering themselves for re-election. Justin
Read, Claudio Veritiero, Ishbel Macpherson and Michael Averill,
having been appointed since the date of the last Annual General
Meeting, offer themselves for election in accordance with the
Company’s Articles of Association.

The remaining Non-Executive members of the Board have
undertaken a review of the Chairman’s performance and are satisfied
that David Wallis performs to the very highest standard as Chairman
and that his wide experience of business and finance continue to be
of great value to the Board and the Company. The Board believe
that David has played a vital role in overseeing the growth of the
Company and has been responsible for the strengthening and
development of the Board into the strong and effective team it is
today. David remains an important sounding board for the executive
team, providing trust and support whilst upholding high standards of
governance through constructive challenge of strategy and
operational developments. The commitment and enthusiasm he
brings to the role of Chairman is undiminished and the remaining
members of the Board unanimously support his re-election. 

The Board further recommends the appointments to the Board of
Justin Read, Claudio Veritiero, Ishbel Macpherson and Michael
Averill.

Ishbel has succeeded Frank Dee as Senior Independent Director
and since her appointment following the AGM last year has made a
valued and effective contribution to the Board’s deliberations. As
noted in the Chairman’s review of the Board, Michael brings with him
many years’ experience of having run a large multinational Company
and the international outlook which is increasingly important in the
new global economy.

No Director had any interest, either during or at the end of the year,
in any disclosable contracts or arrangements, other than a contract
of service, with the Company or any subsidiary company. No
Director had any interest in the shares of any subsidiary company
during the year. Details of the Directors’ interests in transactions with
related parties are set out in note 29 of the financial statements.

Disclosure of information to auditors
The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this
Directors’ Report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there is
no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are
unaware and each Director has taken all the steps that he ought to
have taken as a Director to make himself aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware
of that information.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the
annual report and the financial statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and
the Group and Parent Company financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and Parent
Company financial statements for each financial year. Under that law

they are required to prepare the Group financial statements in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and have elected to
prepare the Parent Company financial statements on the same
basis. 

The Group and Parent Company financial statements are required
by law and IFRSs as adopted by the EU to present fairly the financial
position of the Group and the Parent Company and the performance
for that period; the Companies Act 1985 provides in relation to such
financial statements that references in the relevant part of that Act to
financial statements giving a true and fair view are references to their
achieving a fair presentation. 

In preparing each of the Group and Parent Company financial
statements, the Directors are required to: 

� select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

� make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
� state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs

as adopted by the EU; and
� prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis

unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the
Parent Company will continue in business. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Group and Parent Company and enable them to
ensure that these financial statements comply with the Companies
Act 1985. They have a general responsibility for taking such steps as
are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group
and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Under applicable laws and regulations, the Directors are also
responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report, Directors’
Remuneration Report and the Corporate Governance statement that
comply with that law and those regulations. 

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the corporate and financial information included on the Company’s
website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in
other jurisdictions.

Auditors
KPMG Audit Plc were reappointed at the Annual General Meeting of
the Company held on 17 July 2007 and their appointment expires at
the conclusion of this year’s Annual General Meeting. KPMG Audit
Plc offer themselves, and are recommended by the Board, for
reappointment under the provisions of Section 384 of the
Companies Act 1985.

Takeover Directive Information
Where not provided elsewhere in this report, the additional
information required for shareholders as a result of the
implementation of the Takeover Directive into English law is set out
below.
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Share capital
As at 31 March 2008, the Company’s share capital comprised a
single class of ordinary shares of 5 pence each. As at 31 March
2008 the authorised share capital of the Company was £3,000,000
comprising 60,000,000 ordinary shares of 5 pence each, and the
issued share capital was £2,542,415 comprising 50,848,301
ordinary shares of 5 pence each. There are no special rights or
obligations attaching to the ordinary shares.

Restrictions on share transfers
The Company’s articles of association provide that the Company
may refuse to transfer shares in the following customary
circumstances:

� where the share is not a fully paid share
� where the share transfer has not been duly stamped with the

correct amount of stamp duty
� where the transfer is in favour of more than four joint transferees
� where the share is a certificated share and is not accompanied by

the relevant share certificate(s) and such other evidence as the
Board may reasonably require to prove the title of the transferor;
or

� in certain circumstances where the shareholder in question has
been issued with a notice under section 793 of the Companies
Act 2006.

These restrictions are in addition to any which are applicable to all
UK listed companies imposed by law or regulation.

Shares with special rights
There are no shares in the Company with special rights with regard
to control of the Company.

Restrictions on voting rights
The notice of the Annual General Meeting specifies deadlines for
exercising voting rights and appointing a proxy or proxies to vote in
relation to resolutions to be passed at the Annual General Meeting.
All proxy votes are counted and the numbers for, against or withheld
in relation to each resolution are announced at the Annual General
Meeting and published on the Company’s website after the meeting. 

Agreements which may result in restrictions on share
transfers
The Company is not aware of any agreements between
shareholders which may result in restrictions on the transfer of
securities and/or on voting rights.

Appointment and replacement of Directors
The Company’s articles of association provide that all Directors must
stand for election at the first Annual General Meeting after having
been appointed by the Board.

Each Director must also stand for re-election at the third AGM
following their last election or re-election. If the number of Directors
standing for re-election is less than one third of the current Board
(which excludes any Directors appointed by the Board who are
standing for election for the first time) then additional Directors must
also stand for re-election in order that at least one third is standing.

Articles of Association
The Company’s articles of association may be amended by special
resolution of the Company’s shareholders.

Directors’ powers
At the Annual General Meeting to be held on 15 July 2008,
shareholders will be asked to renew the Directors’ power to allot
shares and buy back shares in the Company and to renew the
disapplication of pre-emption rights.

Change of control – significant agreements
There are no significant agreements to which the Company is a party
that may take effect, alter or terminate upon a change of control
following a takeover bid other than in relation to (i) employee share
schemes and (ii) the Company’s borrowings, which would become
repayable on a takeover being completed.

Shares in the Company are held in the Speedy Hire Employee
Benefits Trust for the purpose of satisfying awards made under the
Company’s Performance Plan and Co-Investment Plan. Unless
otherwise directed by the Company, the Trustees of the Trust abstain
from voting on any shares held in the Trust in respect of which the
benefitical interest has not vested in any beneficiary. In relation to
shares held in the Trust where the beneficial interest has vested in a
beneficiary, the beneficiary can direct the Trustees how to vote.

Compensation for loss of office
Save in respect of Justin Read’s service contract (details of which are
set out on page 54), there are no agreements between the
Company and its Directors or employees providing for
compensation for loss office or employment (whether through
resignation, purported redundancy or otherwise) that occurs
because of a takeover bid.

Directors’ indemnities
As permitted by the Companies Act 2006, the Company has
indemnified each of the Directors who held office during the year and
the Directors who have been appointed since the end of the financial
year.

Annual General Meeting
The Company’s Annual General Meeting will be held at Mere Court
Hotel and Conference Centre, Warrington Road, Mere, Knutsford,
Cheshire WA16 0RW on Tuesday 15 July 2008. A formal notice of
meeting, an explanatory circular and a form of proxy have each been
sent separately to shareholders.

By order of the Board

Patrick Rawnsley
Company Secretary
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Highlights

� Continued full compliance with Combined Code
� Risk management review by Marsh
� Ongoing review of the effectiveness of the Board’s operation
� New Combined Code Compliance Statement, including revised

and updated terms of reference of the Board and each
Committee, available on the Company’s website

� Appointment of Ishbel Macpherson as a Non-Executive Director
� Appointment of Claudio Veritiero as an Executive Director and

Chief Operating Officer
� At the end of the year, retirement of Frank Dee as Non-Executive

Director and Senior Independent Director. Ishbel Macpherson
becomes Senior Independent Director

� After the end of the year, appointment of Justin Read as Finance
Director and Michael Averill as Non-Executive Director and
retirement of Neil O’Brien as Group Finance Director.

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of Corporate
Governance. The Board first reported its compliance with the new
Combined Code in 2004 and since then has continued in its efforts to
develop further its approach to corporate governance and the effective
management of risk in the context of a rapidly growing business.

Accordingly, the following paragraphs together with the flow diagram on
page 38 explain how the Company has applied the principles of good
governance and code of best practice set out in the current edition of
the Combined Code.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2008, the Company has been
in compliance with the provisions set out in the Combined Code.

Directors
The Board
The Board normally meets at least ten times per annum for
scheduled Board meetings including a two day off-site meeting
solely to discuss strategy. In the year ended 31 March 2008, the
Board met eight times. This is less than in the year ended 31 March
2007 due to one meeting falling just before and one immediately
after the year end. The Board also meets as required on an ad hoc
basis to deal with urgent business, including the consideration and
approval of transactions. The table below lists the number of Board
Meetings, Board Committee Meetings and Directors’ attendance
during the year.

The Board has approved a schedule of matters reserved for decision
by it. This schedule, which forms part of a Combined Code
Compliance Statement formally adopted by the Board, is available
for inspection at the Company’s registered office and on the
Company’s website www.speedyhire.plc.uk. 

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Plc Board Committee Committee Committee

David Wallis 8 3* 3* 5
Frank Dee (retired 31 March 2008) 8 3 4 5
David Galloway 8 3 4 5
Steve Corcoran 8 3* 2* 5
Neil O’Brien (retired 31 May 2008) 8 3* 1* –
Peter Atkinson 8 3 3 5
Mike McGrath 8 3* 1* –
Ishbel Macpherson (joined 17 July 2007) 6 1 3 4
Claudio Veritiero (joined 28 November 2007) 2 – 1* –

* by invitation 

Justin Read joined on 1 April 2008 and Michael Averill joined on 1 May 2008 and accordingly attended no meetings during the year.
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The Combined Code Compliance Statement was last revised on 
22 May 2008. The matters reserved for specific approval by the
Board can be subdivided into a number of key areas including but
not limited to:

� Financial reporting (including the approval of interim and final
financial statements, interim management statements and
dividends).

� The Group’s finance, banking and capital structure arrangements.
� Group strategy and transactions.
� Stock Exchange/Listing Authority matters (including the issue of

shares, the approval of circulars and communications to the
market).

� Approval of the policies and framework in relation to remuneration
across the Group (following appropriate recommendations from
the Remuneration Committee).

� Approval of the Group’s risk management and control framework
(following appropriate recommendations from the Audit
Committee).

� The constitution of the Board itself, including its various
Committees, and succession planning (following appropriate
recommendations from the Nomination Committee).

� Approving the Group’s policies in relation to, inter alia, the
environment, Health & Safety and Corporate Responsibility.

Matters requiring Board and Committee approval are generally the
subject of a proposal by the Executive Directors submitted to the
Board, together with supporting information, as part of the Board or
Committee papers circulated prior to the relevant meeting. The
implementation of matters approved by the Board, particularly in
relation to matters such as significant acquisitions or other material
projects sometimes includes the establishment of a sub-committee
comprising at least one Non-Executive Director.

Corporate governance structure

The posts of Chairman and Chief Executive are held by David Wallis
and Steve Corcoran respectively. In addition to the Chairman, the
Board includes four independent Non-Executive Directors, Ishbel
Macpherson, David Galloway, Peter Atkinson and (from 1 May 2008)
Michael Averill, who together bring a strong and independent Non-
Executive element to the Board. The Senior Independent Director is
Ishbel Macpherson, who took over this role from Frank Dee after his
retirement on 31 March 2008.

The Audit Committee is chaired by David Galloway. Its other
members are Ishbel Macpherson, Peter Atkinson and Michael Averill.
In accordance with the Smith Guidance on Audit Committees, the
Chairman, David Wallis, is not a member of the Audit Committee.

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Ishbel Macpherson. Its
other members are David Galloway, Peter Atkinson and Michael
Averill.

The Nomination Committee comprises the four Non-Executive
Directors, the Chief Executive and the Chairman, and is chaired by
David Wallis. 

The Chairman and other Non-Executive Directors meet at least twice
a year without the Executive Directors present. In addition, the
Chairman regularly briefs the other Non-Executive Directors on
relevant developments regarding the Company and Group as
necessary. The Senior Independent Director, Ishbel Macpherson,
and the other Non-Executive Directors meet at least annually without
the Chairman present to appraise the Chairman’s performance as
part of the overall Board annual appraisal process.

Corporate governance structure

Project teams drive through 
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• Chief Executive
• Finance Director
• Chief Operating Officer
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Group Board
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(see separate structure 
diagram in the OFR, page 22) 
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Executive Management Team
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Corporate governance
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The minutes of all meetings of the Board and each Committee are
taken by the Company Secretary. In addition to constituting a record
of decisions taken, the minutes reflect questions raised by the
Directors relating to the Company’s businesses and, in particular,
issues raised from the monthly reports included in the Board or
Committee papers circulated prior to the relevant meeting. Any
unresolved concerns are recorded in the minutes.

On resignation, concerns (if any) raised by an outgoing Non-
Executive Director are circulated by the Chairman to the remaining
members of the Board. 

Appropriate Directors’ and Officers’ insurance cover is arranged and
maintained via the Company’s insurance brokers, Marsh, and its
terms are reviewed annually. 

Chairman and Chief Executive
A statement as to the division of the responsibilities of the Chairman
and Chief Executive is included in the Combined Code Compliance
Statement formally adopted by the Board referred to above. The
Board considers that the Chairman on his appointment met the
independence criteria set out in paragraph A.3.1 of the Combined
Code. It is the policy of the Board that the Chief Executive should not
go on to become Chairman. 

Board balance and independence
The Board considers that all of the Non-Executive Directors are
independent, on the basis of the criteria specified in paragraph A.3.1
of the Combined Code and generally, and are free from any business
or other relationship which could materially interfere with the exercise
of their independent judgement. 

As disclosed in the notes to the Accounts, David Galloway is a Non-
Executive Director of Carter & Carter Plc (in administration) with
whom the Company entered into a significant contract during the
year ended 31 March 2008 (which contract has since been
terminated following Carter & Carter’s administration).
Notwithstanding this, the Board is satisfied that David Galloway
continues to be independent. David Galloway did not participate in
any Board discussions or decision-making relating to Carter & Carter
plc or the contract in question and was not involved in any way in
the negotiation of the terms of the contract or its termination.

Currently there are, in addition to the Chairman, four Non-Executive
Directors on the Board (out of a total of nine Directors) and their
respective experience, details of which are set out on page 33,
clearly indicate that they are of sufficient calibre and number for their
views to carry appropriate weight in the Board’s decisions. The
Senior Independent Director, Ishbel Macpherson, is available to
shareholders if they have concerns which contact through the
normal channels of Chief Executive and Chairman or Group Finance
Director fail to resolve or for which such contact is inappropriate.

Subsequent to the end of the year and prior to the appointment of
Michael Averill on 1 May 2008, the Board was for one month non-
compliant in terms of balance between Executive and Non-Executive
Directors. This was attributable to the Group’s desire to keep the
services of Neil O’Brien to ensure a period of orderly handover to the
incoming Group Finance Director, Justin Read. The Board believes
the benefit of retaining Neil O’Brien’s services outweighed this short
period of non-compliance under the Code. Since the appointment of
Michael Averill and the retirement of Neil O’Brien, the Company is
once again fully compliant.

Appointments to the Board
The Board has established a Nomination Committee. Its terms of
reference are also included in the Combined Code Compliance
Statement referred to above. The Committee meets formally as
necessary, but at least once a year and met five times during
2007/08. The principal functions of the Nomination Committee are to
consider and review the structure and composition of the Board and
membership of Board Committees. It also considers candidates for
Board nomination at both Plc and operating level, including job
description, re-election to the Board for those candidates retiring by
rotation and succession planning generally. A specification for the
role of Chairman, including anticipated time commitment, is included
as part of the written statement of division of responsibilities between
Chairman and Chief Executive which was revised and updated in
May 2008. Details of the Chairman’s other material commitments are
set out on page 33 and are disclosed to the Board in advance and
included in a register of the same maintained by the Company
Secretary.

The terms and conditions of appointment of all the Non-Executive
Directors, including those of the Chairman, are available for
inspection at the Company’s registered office during normal
business hours. Each letter of appointment specifies the anticipated
level of time commitment including, where relevant, additional
responsibilities derived from involvement with the Audit,
Remuneration or Nomination Committees. Details of other material
commitments are disclosed to the Board and a register of the same
maintained by the Company Secretary.
None of the Directors is a Non-Executive Director or Chairman of a
FTSE 100 Company.

A more detailed summary of the work of the Nomination Committee
during the year is contained in the separate report of the Committee
on page 60.

Information and professional development
Before each scheduled Board meeting, all Directors receive
appropriate information regarding the Group comprising a financial
report and briefings from senior executives. The Chief Executive also
briefs Directors on results, key issues and strategy. During Board
Meetings, the Non-Executives regularly make further enquiries of the
Executive Directors and seek further information which is provided
either at the relevant meeting or subsequently.

A monthly information pack is compiled on market data, including
information and activity in relation to competitors and the
construction industry generally. This information is drawn from a
number of respected sources and provides a current, constantly
updated summary of trends in the Group’s market.
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The Board offers appropriate training to any Director whose
appointment to the Board is the first appointment of that Director 
to the Board of a listed Company. The Board also recognises the
importance of ongoing training and education, particularly regarding
new laws and regulations which relate to or affect the Group. Such
training and education is obtained by the Directors individually
through the Company or through other companies of which they 
are Directors. 

The Chief Executive, Group Finance Director, Commercial Director
and Chief Operating Officer each have a business coach to help with
their overall development as business leaders. The Group has
continued to work closely with Ashridge Business School as regards
the provision of ongoing management training for Executive
Directors and other senior management.

All the Non-Executive Directors have, during the course of the year,
attended briefings and seminars relevant to their role, including
updates on best practice in audit and remuneration issues and
economic affairs in general, as well as bringing knowledge and
information gathered from their other business interests.

The Chairman and the Company Secretary meet on a regular 
basis to discuss corporate governance and other issues including,
inter alia, information flows, induction and training programmes for
Directors and operational management. 

Procedures are in place to enable Directors to take independent
professional advice, if necessary at the Company’s expense, in the
furtherance of their duties. The procedure to enable such advice to
be obtained is included in the Company’s Combined Code
Compliance Statement.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary, whose role is to ensure that all procedures are followed
and that applicable rules and regulations are complied with. The
removal of the Company Secretary is a matter specifically reserved
for decision by the Board. 

Performance evaluation
The Chairman appraises all Board members annually. This takes the
form of a review of the degree of success in achieving objectives set
for the year and agreeing areas for improvement going forward.
During the financial year ended 31 March 2006, the Chairman and
Company Secretary had engaged the services of specialist
performance consultants, Lintstock, to carry out a detailed
independent review of the Board’s processes and procedures.

Lintstock’s evaluation concentrated on six key questions:

� How does the Board ensure that the long-term objectives of the
Company’s senior management are aligned with those of its
shareholders?

� How does the Board test the Company’s medium-term strategies
and evaluate the performance of its senior management?

� How does the Board set the remuneration of the Executive
Directors?

� How does the Board monitor the Company’s systems of audit,
internal control and financial reporting?

� How does the Board assist in the Company’s succession
planning?

� How does the Board safeguard and develop the Company’s core
values?

Lintstock’s evaluation process included a series of confidential
interviews with each main Board member and selected members of
divisional/regional management. Lintstock’s key findings were, in the
main, very positive and concluded that the Board operates effectively
in relation to each of the above areas. However, suggestions for
improvement included:

� Giving a greater focus to a smaller number of issues at each
Board meeting and reducing the number of standing items.

� Improvements in the quality of business (as opposed to financial)
information, particularly in relation to employees, in order to allow
trends to be spotted more easily.

� Ensuring greater clarity regarding the understanding of the role of
the Board and the Group’s central functions with the operational
businesses.

� Ensuring greater clarity in the setting of agreed objectives with
executives at the start of each financial year.

� Arranging dinners the night before “set piece” Board meetings
with senior management below executive level to encourage
debate and discussion in a more relaxed and informal
environment.

� Placing more focus on the Group’s internal communication
strategy to ensure key messages reach all levels of the business
consistently.

Lintstock’s findings were reviewed and discussed by the Board as a
whole and steps were taken to implement the suggested
improvements.

This year the Chairman has undertaken an internal review of the
Board’s processes and procedures. The results of this exercise are
referred to in the Directors’ Report.
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Re-election
Under the Company’s Articles of Association, all Directors are
subject to election by shareholders at the first Annual General
Meeting following appointment and all Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation provisions requiring re-election at intervals of
no more than three years. Sufficient biographical details of all the
Directors, including those subject to election or re-election, are
included in this Report in order to enable shareholders to take an
informed decision on any re-election resolution. The letters of
appointment of each of the Non-Executive Directors and the
Chairman confirm that appointments are for specified terms and that
reappointment is not automatic. Peter Atkinson commences a
second three year term in June 2008. Ishbel Macpherson and
Michael Averill commenced their first three year terms in July 2007
and May 2008 respectively. The appointments of the Chairman and
David Galloway have been renewed for further one year terms to 
31 March 2009.

Directors’ remuneration
The level and make-up of remuneration
The performance-related elements of the remuneration of the
Executive Directors form a significant proportion of their total
remuneration packages. The performance-related elements of the
schemes in which the Executive Directors are entitled to participate are
set out in more detail in the Remuneration report. The Remuneration
Committee, with the advice of Hewitt New Bridge Street (“HNBS”),
reviews on a regular basis the Company’s remuneration policy
including the design of performance-related remuneration schemes.
Such performance-related elements have been designed with a view
to aligning the interests of the Executive Directors with those of
shareholders and to incentivise performance at the highest level. The
Board’s policy is that no executive share options should be offered at a
discount save as permitted by the Listing Rules. 

Levels of remuneration payable to Non-Executive Directors are
regularly benchmarked, with the assistance of external advisers,
against companies of a similar size. The levels of remuneration also
reflect the time, commitment and responsibilities of each role
including, where relevant, Chairmanship of Board Committees. 
It is the policy of the Board that remuneration for Non-Executive
Directors should not include share options. No current Executive
Director serves as a Non-Executive Director elsewhere.

On a regular basis, the Remuneration Committee, with the
assistance of HNBS, reviews the compensation commitments the
Executive Directors’ service contracts would entail in the event of
early termination. The Committee also from time to time considers
the advantages of liquidated damages clauses in service contracts. 
In any event, the Committee’s policy remains that compensation for
termination of the service contract of an Executive Director would
not be paid in the case of removal for misconduct and that a robust
line should be taken as regards departing Directors’ obligations to
mitigate loss. 

The service contracts of all Executive Directors provide for
termination by the Company on one year’s notice except in the case
of Justin Read whose service contract (which took effect from his
appointment on 1 April 2008) provides for a two year notice period in
the event of termination following a change of control that occurs
within the first year of employment declining to a 12 month notice
period after the first 12 months.

Procedure
The Board has constituted a Remuneration Committee which met
four times during the year. Its terms of reference are included in the
Combined Code Compliance Statement and are fully compatible
with the provisions of paragraph B.2.1 of the Combined Code. The
Remuneration Committee consists of the Non-Executive Directors,
excluding the Chairman, who are independent of management and
free from any business or other relationship which could materially
interfere with the exercise of their independent judgement. The Chief
Executive regularly attends by invitation but is not present for
discussions relating to his own remuneration. The Remuneration
Committee has appointed HNBS to advise it in relation to the design
of appropriate executive remuneration structures. HNBS have no
other connection with the Company.

The responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include setting
remuneration policy, ensuring that remuneration (including pension
rights and compensation payments) and the terms of service of the
Executive Directors, the Chairman and the tier of operating
management immediately below Board level are appropriate and that
they are fairly rewarded for the contribution which they make to the
Group’s overall performance. It is also responsible for the allocation of
shares under long-term incentive arrangements approved by
shareholders and in accordance with agreed criteria. In addition, it
monitors current best practice in remuneration and related issues.

The Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is dealt with by a
Committee of the Board specifically established for this purpose
comprising the Chief Executive, the Group Finance Director, the
Commercial Director and the Chief Operating Officer. The
Remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors is the subject of
regular benchmarking reviews carried out at least every two years
with the assistance of HNBS. The last such benchmarking exercise
was carried out in February 2007.
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The Board’s policy is that all new long-term incentive schemes (as
defined in the Listing Rules) and significant changes to existing
schemes should be specifically approved by shareholders, while
recognising that the Remuneration Committee must have
appropriate flexibility to alter the operation of these arrangements to
refelect changing circumstances. In addition, as part of the
Company’s commitment to transparency as regards its remuneration
policy and maintaining a continuous dialogue with shareholders, the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee, Ishbel Macpherson, has
held discussions with shareholders to take soundings on the key
features of the proposed changes to the Executive Directors’
incentive arrangements.

Accountability and audit
Financial reporting
The Directors’ report and Auditors’ report appear on pages 34 to 36
and 61 respectively and comply with the provisions of paragraphs
C.1.1 and C.1.2 of the Combined Code.

Internal control
The Board is responsible for the Company’s schemes of internal
control and reviewing the effectiveness of such systems.

The Board, via the Audit Committee, conducts a review, at least
annually, of the Group’s systems of internal controls. Such review
examines all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management systems, and accords
with the recommendations contained in the Turnbull Guidance. A
formal report is prepared by KPMG Audit Plc (“KPMG”), highlighting
matters identified in the course of its statutory audit work and
reviewed by the Audit Committee in the presence of KPMG, the
Chief Executive, the Group Finance Director and the head of the
Group’s Internal Audit function. The Committee also considers formal
reports prepared and presented by the Internal Audit function. The
findings and recommendations of the Committee are then reported
to the Board for detailed consideration. 

Audit Committee and auditors
The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are set out in full in
the Combined Code Compliance Statement. Such terms of
reference are compatible with the provisions of paragraph C.3 of the
Combined Code. The Board is satisfied that the Chairman of the
Audit Committee, David Galloway, has appropriate recent and
relevant financial experience. 

In addition to its work in relation to the Group’s systems of internal
controls set out above, the Committee is also responsible for
reviewing the integrity of the Company’s accounts, including the
annual and interim results, and recommending their approval to the
Board. The Committee’s work also includes reviewing the adequacy
of the Group’s “whistle-blowing” procedures which have been
developed in conjunction with the Group’s retained security and
investigation advisers.

The Committee meets on a regular basis with the external auditors
and internal audit function, without the Executive Directors being
present as appropriate, to review and discuss issues arising from
internal and external audits and to agree the scope and planning of
future work.

The effectiveness of the Group’s Internal Audit function is one of the
matters reviewed in conjunction with KPMG.

The Audit Committee has primary responsibility for making a
recommendation on the appointment, reappointment and removal of
the external auditors. The policy of the Audit Committee is to ensure
auditor objectivity and independence is safeguarded at all times.
Specifically, non-audit services, including taxation and consultancy
advice and due diligence in relation to significant acquisitions, are
routinely put out to tender to other external accounting firms. During
the year the Company used two such additional firms. Accordingly,
the Audit Committee considers that the Company’s auditors are
independent.

A more detailed description of the work of the Audit Committee
during the year is contained in the separate report of the Committee
on page 59.

Relations with shareholders
Dialogue with institutional shareholders
The Chairman routinely attends brokers’ and analysts’ presentations
in relation to the Company’s interim and full year results. The
Chairman, with assistance from the Company’s brokers, collates
feedback from such presentations and reports the findings to the
next meeting of the Board. The Chairman also maintains a regular
dialogue with major shareholders in relation to, inter alia, strategy and
corporate governance issues. The Senior Independent Director,
Ishbel Macpherson, is available to attend sufficient meetings with
major shareholders in order to understand their issues and concerns
should the normal communication channels with the Chairman and
Chief Executive be ineffective or inappropriate.

Constructive use of the AGM
The Company’s AGM procedures indicate, as a matter of course,
the level of proxies lodged on each resolution and the balance for
and against each resolution and votes withheld after it has been
dealt with on a show of hands. It is also the Company’s policy to
propose a separate resolution at the AGM on each substantive
separate issue, including in relation to the report and accounts and
the Directors’ remuneration report. 

All Committee Chairmen are available at the AGM. 

The Company’s standard procedure is to ensure that the notice of 
AGM and related papers are sent to shareholders at least 20
working days before the meeting in compliance with paragraph 
D.2.4 of the Combined Code.
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Risk Operational Framework

Board
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Independent evaluation (Marsh)

Executive Management Team

Regular reporting and review

Regular reporting
and review

Independent 
review

Annual reporting

Sets expectations

Updates• Overview process and overall
   effectiveness

• In depth review of key risks
• Periodic review of risk register
   to highlight changes, trends
   and emerging risks

• Identify and evaluate risks
• Develop and monitor action plans
• Reinforce line management
   responsibility

• Evaluate risk
• Confirm and challenge risk
   management plans
• Review risk framework overall

• Idenify and update key risks to 
   the business
• Executive Board sponsor for 
   each risk
• Receive regular reports and 
   liaise with line management

Further development of internal control and risk
management procedures

The Board is fully committed to identifying, evaluating and managing
significant risks facing the Group, and has developed a set of
processes and protocols that enable it to do so. Our approach to
managing risk is summarised in the diagram below. As a listed
Company, Speedy Hire is required, under the terms of the Financial
Reporting Council’s revised Combined Code on Corporate
Governance (“the Code”) for public companies listed on the London
Stock Exchange, to demonstrate a sound system of internal
controls. We are confident that the controls we have established
meet the requirements of the Code. Moreover, we continue to
enhance our risk management processes and protocols to enable
the Group to undertake key strategic initiatives with confidence and
with a clear understanding of the risks. 

Risk management process

The Board has established a detailed register listing the strategic,
financial and operational risks potentially affecting the Group. These
include, but are not limited to, the macro-market and economic
conditions in which the Group operates, competitor activities,
gearing, regulation and current business projects, including those
risks associated with acquisitions. Risks are prioritised according to
their expected likelihood of occurring and impact if they were to
occur. Impact is evaluated not only in terms of possible financial
impact on Speedy Hire – loss of income/additional expenditure – but
also according to their effects on employees, operational efficiency
and stakeholder relations. 

From the comprehensive list of risks identified, eight risk issues have
been identified, the successful management of which is seen as key
to Speedy Hire’s ability to achieve its corporate goals. In line with the
currently unstable economic outlook, the risk associated with an
economic downturn and the effect this might have on Speedy Hire is
now considered a key risk for executive management and Board
attention. Speedy Hire’s ‘key risks’ are discussed in more detail
below.

An Executive Board Director from the Group has been assigned to
take responsibility for the management of each risk. Overall
responsibility for the risk management process rests at Board level
with the Group Finance Director. The Board systematically reviews
and evaluates the risks of the Group on a half-yearly basis, which
ensures that as new risks emerge in connection with projects or
general market developments, appropriate actions can be
discussed, agreed and taken in a flexible manner.

Building on work from previous years, the Group engaged external
risk advisers, Marsh, to facilitate independently a process involving
Executive Directors and senior operational management to revalidate
and update the detailed risk register. This process has been focused
on the identification, monitoring and management of risk, with
particular emphasis on Speedy’s key risks. Overall, each risk
identified has been prioritised, in terms of expected impact and
likelihood, as a focus for management attention and as an input to
the independent assurance planning process. 

The Group’s systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
risk and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. Nevertheless, the Board
places great emphasis on improving the Group’s position, either
through mitigation measures to reduce the likelihood of the risk
occurring, or in monitoring controls to limit the impact in the event
that it materialises.
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The table below summarises the small group of risks that were identified as key, together with a short description of monitoring/mitigation
activities and sponsorship at Board level.

Risk Risk Board
number area sponsor Risk monitoring/mitigation Target 2008/09

1 Economic slowdown Justin Read Flexibility of inventory and suppliers. Targeting further growth in 2008/09,
Continued research analysis around but contingency plans being
the economic environment and its developed in case outlook
effect on the construction industry. changes.
A favourable revenue mix between Focus on building brand
commercial construction, public sector strength/customer intimacy
and large infrastructure projects. and on increasing industrial
Public sector committed spending customer base.
provides longer term horizon. Continued work to increase
Civil engineering and infrastructure proportion of secured
projects offset potential decline in revenue.
commercial sector.

2 Business coordination Steve Corcoran A more integrated business, more Continue to align and integrate
closely aligned to customers and business to customers
markets. and markets.
Realignment of incentives.
Integrated operational fulfilment model.
Development of expanded services 
‘beyond hire’.

3 Coordination/ All Coordinated programme management Challenges faced in major
implementation of through dedicated programmes programmes in 2007/08
key strategic projects office (PMO) and appointment of largely now overcome.

programmes director. All programmes managed
Consistent Speedy Hire programme on time within budget
methodology developed and deployed through PMO.
for all projects.
Standard acquisition integration approach 
developed and in use within Speedy Hire.

4 IT/Business Information Justin Read Use of external expertise for service Further integration between
Systems provision, development and project change and acquisition

management. programmes and IT/
Extensive change planning. Business Information Systems.
Improvement in skills depth and expertise.
Phased implementation across 
the business.
Focus of particular executive attention 
in 2007/08.

5 Effective Steve Corcoran Integrated IT/business information Forthcoming Group-wide
communications systems. strategy roadshow in

Improved cross-selling through training. October 2008.
Regular communication forums and Integrated communications
communications strategy for internal strategy.
and external audiences.

6 Recruitment, motivation, Mike McGrath Role segmentation. Continued roll-out and embedding
training and retention Strategic people planning and of strategic HR process.
of personnel clarity on career pathways via Speedy 

Career Journey process.
Alignment of incentive programmes with 
business objectives.
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Risk Risk Board
number area sponsor Risk monitoring/mitigation Target 2008/09

7 Market competition Justin Read Speedy Hire continues to capture Continue to capture market share
market share from competitors. through organic growth and
Speedy Hire has strength and depth of participation in the ongoing
financial resources to compete on price consolidation of the industry.
where necessary. Maintain close monitoring
Speedy Hire’s competitive position of Speedy Hire’s competitive
continually benchmarked against peers. position and take proactive
Closer business coordination enhances. steps where necessary.
Speedy Hire’s ability to compete in all 
sectors.
Opportunities to grow revenue through 
international expansion being pursued.

8 Major acquisition Mike McGrath Robust opportunity selection Continue embedding core
selection and integration Opportunity ‘radar tracking’. acquisition and integration

Proactive planning for integration competency.
lifecycle: Greater linkage between
– coordinated team acquisition programmes
– active management and other change processes
– phased approach and internal projects.
– communication 

Other risks which do not feature on the above table nevertheless are
regularly reviewed. For example:

1. The need to maintain and improve continually Speedy Hire’s
systems and controls over Health & Safety risk.

2. The need to ensure that Speedy Hire is able to maintain access
to capital markets and to ensure attractive funding of long-term
growth plans.

The Board remains committed to the ongoing enhancement and
performance of Speedy Hire’s risk management and internal controls.
We seek to continuously improve our qualitative and quantitative
techniques for the ongoing analysis of business risk issues and the
cost of risk to the Group. We continue to see the management of risk
as a business enabler, and acknowledge the potential upside value of
risk consciously taken and well managed in alignment with our
corporate strategy. The Group’s brand and reputation is fundamental
to its continued growth and success, and active management of
operational and other risks is seen as being critical in ensuring that
these are maintained as valuable assets. We see the effectiveness of
our approach to risk management as helping to create reassurance
for our shareholders, employees and other stakeholders around the
Group’s decision making, management of change and capital
allocation.

Corporate Governance Summary
In June 2006 the Financial Reporting Council published a revised
version of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance (“the
Code”). For financial years commencing on or after 
1 November 2006, a listed Company is required to state in its annual
financial report whether it complies with the Code. The Company
confirms that throughout the year ended 31 March 2008, the
Company has remained fully compliant.

The Code comprises a set of main principles which cover the general
themes of Directors’ remuneration, financial reporting, internal control
and communication with shareholders. Each main principle is
expanded by a set of supporting principles as well as detailed
provisions.

This Corporate governance report and the Directors’ remuneration
report on pages 50 to 58 contain a detailed explanation of how
Speedy Hire applied the main and supporting principles of the Code.

For ease of reference, a summary of Speedy Hire’s compliance with
the Code’s provisions is included here with cross-references to the
relevant pages of the Company’s Corporate governance report,
Remuneration report, other sections of the Annual Report and the
Notice of Meeting in respect of the 2008 AGM.
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Combined
Directors Code provision Comment Page

The Board meets sufficiently regularly to discharge its duties effectively. There is a formal A.1.1 Compliant 37 to 39
schedule of matters specifically reserved for its decision. The Corporate Governance
report includes a statement of how the Board operates and which issues are delegated
to management.

The 2008 Annual Report identifies the Chairman, the Chief Executive, the Senior Independent A.1.2 Compliant 33 and 37
Director and the Chairmen and members of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination
Committees. The number of meetings of the Board and the Committees and individual
attendance by Directors is provided.

In 2008, the Chairman met the Non-Executive Directors without the Executive Directors present and A.1.3 Compliant 38
the Non-Executive Directors met without the Chairman and Executive Directors present at least once.

Where Directors have concerns about the running of the Company or a proposed action which A.1.4 Compliant 39
cannot be resolved, they ensure that their concerns are recorded in the Board minutes.

The Company arranges comprehensive Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance cover. A.1.5 Compliant 39

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive are not exercised by the same individual. The A.2.1 Compliant 39
division of responsibilities between the Chairman and Chief Executive is set out in the Combined 
Code Compliance Statement available on the Company’s website.

On appointment, the Chairman met the independence criteria set out in A.3.1 of the Code and the A.2.2 Compliant 39
Chief Executive should not go on to be the Chairman of the same Company.

The Board considers all of its Non-Executive Directors to be independent. A.3.1 Compliant 39

There are, in addition to the Chairman, four independent Non-Executive Directors (out of a total A.3.2 Compliant 39
of nine Directors). 

The Board has appointed Ishbel Macpherson as Senior Independent Director. Ishbel Macpherson is A.3.3 Compliant 39
available to shareholders if they have concerns which have not been resolved through the normal 
channels of communication or for which such contact is inappropriate.

The Nomination Committee, comprising the Chairman, the four other Non-Executive Directors A.4.1 Compliant 39
and the Chief Executive, meets as necessary and at least once a year. The Chairman of the Company 
chairs the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee’s terms of reference are set out in 
the Combined Code Compliance Statement available on the Company’s website.

The Nomination Committee’s principal functions are to review the structure, size and composition A.4.2 Compliant 39
of the Board, the membership of Board Committees and succession planning.

The Chairman is not Chairman of another FTSE 100 Company. The Chairman discloses to the Board A.4.3 Compliant 39
any changes to his other significant commitments as they arise.

The Chairman and other Non-Executive Directors each have a letter of appointment for specified terms A.4.4 Compliant 55
of three years or less containing reciprocal notice provisions of six months (in the case of the
Chairman) and three months in the case of Ishbel Macpherson, David Galloway, Peter Atkinson, 
and Michael Averill.

The letters of appointment of the Chairman and the other Non-Executive Directors will be available for A.4.4 Compliant Notice of
inspection at the 2008 AGM. AGM

The letters of appointment of the Non-Executive Directors state that they should exercise such A.4.4 Compliant 39
powers and perform such duties as are appropriate to the role. The Non-Executive Directors 
undertake that they will have sufficient time to meet what is expected of them. Details of other 
material commitments are disclosed and a register of the same maintained by the Company Secretary.

None of the Directors is a Non-Executive Director or Chairman of a FTSE 100 Company. A.4.5 Compliant 39

The work of the Nomination Committee and the process used in relation to Board appointments A.4.6 Compliant 39 and 60
is described in the Corporate governance and Nomination Committee reports.

The process for inducting new Directors to the Board and details of ongoing training is described A.5.1 Compliant 39–40
in the Corporate Governance report.

A procedure is in place so that Directors are able, if required, to seek independent professional A.5.2 Compliant 40
advice at the Company’s expense in connection with their duties. This is set out in the Combined 
Code Compliance Statement available on the Company’s website.
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Combined
Directors Code provision Comment Page

All Directors have direct access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary. The A.5.3 Compliant 40
Company Secretary has responsibility for ensuring that Board procedures are followed. The 
appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is a matter reserved for the Board as a whole.

The Corporate Governance report contains a description of how performance evaluation of the Board, A.6.1 Compliant 40
its Committees and the individual Directors was conducted in the year ended 31 March 2008. The Non- 
Executive Directors, led by the Senior Independent Director, reviewed the performance of the Chairman.

All Directors are subject to election by shareholders at the first opportunity after their appointment A.7.1 Compliant 41
and a minimum of one-third of Directors must retire at each AGM. The Notice of Meeting for the 
2008 AGM contains sufficient biographical details to enable shareholders to take an informed Notice of
decision in relation to those Directors seeking election or re-election. AGM

David Wallis and David Galloway have each served on the Board for more than six years. David A.7.2 Compliant 35
Wallis’s proposed re-election has been subject to review and takes into account the need for 
progressive refreshing of the Board.

Directors’ remuneration
Performance-related elements of the remuneration of Executive Directors form a significant B.1.1 Compliant 52
proportion of the total remuneration and are designed to align their interests with those of 
shareholders and to give the Directors keen incentives to perform at the highest levels.

The Remuneration Committee followed the provisions of Schedule A to the Code in designing B.1.1 Compliant 52
the share plans approved by shareholders at the 2004 AGM.

The Company does not offer executive share options at a discount save as permitted by the B.1.2 Compliant 41
Listing Rules.

The Board sets levels of remuneration for Non-Executive Directors which reflect the time commitment B.1.3 Compliant 41
and responsibilities of the role. Non-Executive Directors are not awarded share options.

None of the Executive Directors served as a Non-Executive Director elsewhere. B.1.4 Compliant 41

The Remuneration Committee has carefully considered what compensation commitments B.1.5 Compliant 54
(including pension contributions and all other elements) the Directors’ terms of appointment 
would entail in the event of termination and this is explained in the Directors’ remuneration report. 

Notice or contract periods for all Executive Directors are set at one year Justin Read’s service contract B.1.6 Compliant 41
contains a longer notice period but took effect after the end of the financial year ended 31 March 2008
as described above.

The Remuneration Committee comprises all the independent Non-Executive Directors excluding the B.2.1 Compliant 41
Chairman. A description of the role of the Remuneration Committee and the authority delegated to it by 
the Board is included in the Directors’ remuneration report. The Remuneration Committee’s terms of 
reference are contained in the Combined Code Compliance Statement available on the 
Company’s website.

The Directors’ remuneration report includes a statement on whether the remuneration B.2.1 Compliant 41
consultants appointed by the Remuneration Committee have any other connection with the Company.

The Board has delegated responsibility to the Remuneration Committee for setting remuneration for B.2.2 Compliant 41
all Executive Directors and the Chairman. The Committee also recommends and monitors the level 
and structure of remuneration for senior management.

The Non-Executive Directors’ fees, excluding those of the Chairman, are determined by a B.2.3 Compliant 41
Committee comprising the Chief Executive, the Group Finance Director, the Commercial Director, 
and the Chief Operating Officer without the Non-Executive Directors present.

Shareholders are invited specifically to approve all new long-term incentive schemes and significant B.2.4 Compliant 42
changes to existing schemes. Notice of

AGM (2004
and 2008)
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Corporate governance

Combined
Accountability and audit Code provision Comment Page

The Directors explain their responsibility for preparing the Accounts and there is a statement by the C.1.1 Compliant 35
auditors on their reporting responsibilities.

The Directors report that the business is a going concern. C.1.2 Compliant 34

The Board conducted a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls in C.2.1 Compliant 42
2008. The review covered all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance 
controls and risk management systems.

The Audit Committee, comprising the independent Non-Executive Directors excluding the Chairman, C.3.1 Compliant 37 and 42
meets at least three times a year and met on three occasions during the year ended 31 March 2008. 
David Galloway, Chairman of the Audit Committee, has recent and relevant financial experience.

The main role and responsibilities of the Audit Committee are set out in its terms of reference, C.3.3 Compliant 42
details of which are included in the Combined Code Compliance Statement available on the 
Company’s website, and these include all the requirements set out in the Code.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee have recently been reviewed and are available on C.3.3 Compliant 42 and 59
the Company’s website. The responsibilities of the Audit Committee are described in the 
Corporate Governance report and separate report of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has reviewed arrangements by which employees of the Company may, in C.3.4 Compliant 42
confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other 
matters. Arrangements are in place for the proportionate and independent investigation of such matters
and for appropriate follow-up action.

The Audit Committee monitors and reviews the effectiveness of internal audit activities. C.3.5 Compliant 42

The Audit Committee has primary responsibility for making recommendations on the appointment, C.3.6 Compliant 42
reappointment and removal of the external auditors.

A statement on how auditor objectivity and independence is safeguarded is included in the C.3.7 Compliant 42
Corporate governance report.

Relations with shareholders
The Chairman ensures that the views of major shareholders are communicated to the Board as a D.1.1 Compliant 42
whole. Non-Executive Directors are offered the opportunity to meet major shareholders and the 
Senior Independent Director has attended meetings with a range of major shareholders to listen to 
their views in order to develop a balanced understanding of the issues and concerns of the major
shareholders.

The Corporate Governance report sets out the steps taken by the Board to ensure that Directors D.1.2 Compliant 42
develop an understanding of the views of major shareholders about the Company.
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Combined
Constructive use of the AGM Code provision Comment Page

It is the policy of the Company to propose a separate resolution at its AGM on each substantially D.2.1 Compliant Notice of
separate issue and there will be a resolution to receive the Annual Report and Accounts for 2008. AGM

For each resolution proxy appointment forms provide shareholders with the option to direct their D.2.1 Compliant Notice of
proxy to vote either for or against the resolution or to withhold their vote. The proxy form makes AGM
it clear that a “vote withheld” is not a vote in law and will not be counted in the calculation of the Form of proxy
proportion of the votes for and against the resolution.

It is the policy of the Company to ensure all valid proxy appointments received are properly D.2.2 Compliant Notice of
recorded and counted. AGM

It is the policy of the Company to ensure that for each resolution, after a vote has been taken, unless D.2.2 Compliant 42
a poll is taken, to give at the meeting and then make available on its website details of the number of
(i) shares in respect of which proxy appointments have been made; (ii) votes for and against the
resolution; and (iii) shares regarding which votes were withheld.

The Chairmen of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees will be available to answer D.2.3 Compliant 42
questions at the 2008 AGM and all Directors will attend.

The Notice of Meeting for the 2008 AGM was sent to shareholders at least 20 working days before D.2.4 Compliant 42
the meeting.

In the Company’s report and accounts for the year ended 31 March 2007 the Company noted that the Association of British Insurers has
published new Responsible Investment Disclosure Guidelines and that it would review the new guidelines for the reporting period ending 
31 March 2008.

Environmental, social and governance risks are considered by the Board as part of the ongoing process of risk assessment. The Group
engages external risk advisers, Marsh, in the revalidation and updating of its detailed risk register. The impact of risk is evaluated not only in
financial terms but also according to their effects on employees, operational efficiency and stakeholder relations. For further details regarding
the steps which the Board takes through the risk management process in managing and mitigating risk, please see page 43.

Paragraphs 13 to 18 of the Operating and Financial Review outline the Company’s approach to risk, corporate responsibility and sustainability.
For more detail concerning the opportunity for stakeholders, which the Board sees in sustainable growth through sound corporate
responsibility, pleas refer to the Speedy Hire Corporate Responsibility Report which is published in July 2008. This report refers to the KPI
targets (running through to 31 March 2010) which have been established for monitoring progress against the Group’s environmental,
community and workplace strategies, together with an evaluation of performance from previous financial years.
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Ishbel Macpherson
Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee

Dear shareholder
I am delighted to report to you for the first time as Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and would like to take this opportunity to
thank my predecessor Frank Dee for his highly valued input during
his tenure as Committee Chairman. 

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for formulating the
Company’s remuneration policy as it applies to senior executives. A
core aim of this policy is to ensure that pay practices at Speedy Hire
remain appropriate for both the Company and its shareholders. 

Our current policy continues to be based upon our wish to attract
and retain the best talent to deliver Speedy Hire’s strategy and to
continue to drive shareholder value within a framework of good
corporate governance. 

The key principles of this policy are:

� Between lower quartile and median salaries, but with the potential
to earn upper quartile rewards for exceptional performance.

� Performance-related pay for all employees – every employee
should be in some form of incentive scheme as soon as possible
after joining the Group. Former employees of Hewden Tools have
already joined Speedy Hire’s incentive arrangements.

� Encouraging share ownership. Executive Directors have share
ownership guidelines. Every employee in the Group has the
opportunity to become a shareholder in the Company, with
approximately one-quarter of our workforce participating in an
SAYE Scheme. The Co-Investment Plan (“CIP”) is offered to
around 80 executives and senior managers. 

During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the senior
executives’ remuneration packages and incentive arrangements.
The Committee believes that it is incumbent upon it to ensure that
the remuneration policy as it applies to these senior executives is
effectively delivered in a manner that takes full account of the
Company’s specific and developing circumstances. As a result, and
following this review, the changes summarised below are intended
to be made to the policy:

� The annual bonus potential is to increase to a maximum of 120%
of salary (from 100%). However, the new maximum bonus will
only be paid following the delivery of outstanding performance
against stretching targets. Also, as is currently the case, any
bonus earned over 50% of salary by Executive Directors must be
deferred into shares under the CIP.

� The CIP permits investment of the full amount of bonus. An
amendment is required to the CIP to reflect the increased bonus
potential. This will require shareholder approval and a specific
resolution is being tabled at the 2008 AGM to this effect. 
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As explained below, to reflect the increased CIP award potential in
2009 and thereafter, more challenging Earnings Per Share (“EPS”)
targets will be applied to awards made in 2009 onwards (taking
account of circumstances prevailing at the time).

� For future awards under the Performance Plan, made this year
and in following financial years, it is intended that vesting of up to
50% of such awards will be subject to EPS growth targets, with
20% of this portion of awards vesting if EPS growth is at least
Consumer Prices Index (“CPI”) plus 7.5% per annum, on a
compound basis, increasing to 100% of this portion of awards
vesting if EPS growth is at least CPI plus 15% per annum, also on
a compound basis. The balance will continue to vest subject to
comparative Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) performance
targets (which previously applied to the entire award). Given the
introduction of a specific EPS element to the Performance Plan,
no EPS underpin will apply to the TSR element of future awards.

These changes are considered entirely appropriate and very much in
the interests of shareholders for the following reasons:

� The introduction of an EPS element to the Performance Plan,
which will be viewed as a clear and transparent incentive, will
make even more clear the “line of sight” between reward and
performance. 

� The alignment of interests between executives and shareholders
will be retained and enhanced through:
� The continued use of TSR for a significant portion of

Performance Plan awards.
� The continued requirement for any bonus earned by Executive

Directors in excess of 50% of salary to be deferred into shares.
� The requirement that the additional long-term incentive

opportunity made available via the CIP is conditional on
investment in shares.

� The use of a sliding scale of challenging real EPS growth
targets which are materially more demanding in absolute terms
than those applied by most other companies (particularly the
targets that will apply to Performance Plan awards made in this
current financial year and CIP awards made in 2009 and
thereafter). 

You will also be asked at the Company’s AGM to approve an SAYE
Scheme for employees in the Irish Republic.

I hope you welcome these changes. I am keen to encourage an
ongoing dialogue with shareholders. Accordingly, please feel free to
contact me, either by writing to me at the Company’s head office or
by e-mail at ishbel.macpherson@speedyhire.com if you would like to
discuss any matters arising from this report or remuneration issues
generally.

Ishbel Macpherson
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

This report has been prepared by the Remuneration Committee 
(the “Committee”) of Speedy Hire Plc and approved by the Board 
of Speedy Hire Plc. The report complies with the UK Directors’
Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 and, in compliance with
such Regulations, a separate resolution approving this report is
being put to shareholders at this year’s Annual General Meeting.
Shareholder approval is also being sought in relation to the
proposed change to the CIP and the establishment of an 
Irish SAYE Scheme.

Information relating to the emoluments and pension contributions of
the Directors on pages 55 to 56 and Directors’ interests in the
Company’s Performance Plan, CIP and UK SAYE Scheme on 
pages 56 to 58 has been audited.

Remuneration Committee
The Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board the
remuneration and the other terms and conditions of employment of
the Executive Directors and the Chairman. It also provides advice to
the Chief Executive on major policy issues affecting the remuneration
of executives at a senior level below the Board.

The members of the Committee during the year were the
Company’s independent Non-Executive Directors, Frank Dee, David
Galloway, Peter Atkinson and Ishbel Macpherson (from July 2007).
The Chairman of the Committee was Frank Dee until his retirement
on 31 March 2008. Ishbel Macpherson was appointed Chairman of
the Committee on the same date.

The Committee has appointed Hewitt New Bridge Street (“HNBS”),
an external consultancy which has wide experience of executive
remuneration in UK listed companies, to advise in developing its
remuneration policy, particularly in relation to performance-related
pay, and in benchmarking the remuneration of senior executives.
HNBS has no other connection with the Company.

The Committee has also sought advice on a regular basis from the
Company’s solicitors, Pinsent Masons, in connection with the terms
of service contracts for Executive Directors and other members of
senior management and in relation to the operation of the
Performance Plan, CIP and SAYE Schemes described later in 
this report.

In addition, input was received by the Committee during the year
from Steve Corcoran, Mike McGrath and the Company Secretary.
However, no Director is present for discussions directly relating to his
own remuneration.

In reference to the Association of British Insurers Guidelines on
Responsible Investment Disclosure, there is no restriction on the
Committee which prevents it from taking into account performance
on environmental, social and governance issues. The Committee
notes with approval the effort being made by the Company in
motivating responsible behaviour in relation to these issues by
encouraging reduced energy consumption and providing incentives
to choose more efficient Company vehicles.

The terms of reference of the Committee are included as part of the
Company’s Combined Code Compliance Statement, which can be
viewed on the Company’s website www.speedyhire.plc.uk.
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Compliance with the best practice provisions
Reflecting the Board’s commitment to maintaining high standards of
Corporate Governance, the Committee has complied during the
year with Schedule A of the Combined Code (provisions on the
design of performance-related remuneration).

Remuneration policy
When setting its policy on senior executive remuneration, the
Committee’s main aims are to attract, retain and motivate people of
the highest calibre and experience needed to shape and execute
the Company’s strategy and to deliver shareholder value in the
context of an ever more competitive employment market. To
support this, the policy of the Committee is for basic salaries of
Executive Directors to be between the lower quartile and median 
but for overall remuneration, by virtue of awards made under the
incentive plans described later in this report, to have the potential 
to be in the upper quartile for exceptional performance.

When applying this policy, the Committee exercises its discretion
appropriately and consistently. In recent years such discretion has
been used sparingly and, where used, has been explained fully to
shareholders. For example, and as set out in more detail later in this
report, the Committee has exercised its discretion to permit Justin
Read to use shares independently acquired for the purposes of his
first participation in the Company’s CIP (similar to the discretion used
in relation to Mike McGrath in 2006). 

When setting the Executive Directors’ pay, the Committee 
attempts to:

� Ensure that it encourages optimum performance by Directors and
fairly recognises the contribution of individual Directors to Speedy
Hire’s success, whilst also encouraging a team approach which
will work towards achieving the Company’s long-term strategic
objectives.

� Link reward to individual Directors’ performance and Group
performance so that the interests of the Directors are fully aligned
with Speedy Hire’s shareholders.

� Ensure that it maintains a package of pay and benefits that is
competitive (but not excessive) when compared to packages
available within other similar companies operating in similar
markets.

� Be mindful of the link between the pay of Directors and others in
the Group.

To meet these objectives, a significant proportion of the Executive
Directors’ and senior executives’ pay is performance-linked, both in
relation to annual and long-term performance. 

Executive Directors’ remuneration will, following the introduction of
the intended changes to the Company’s policy outlined above,
consist of the following elements:

Purpose Delivery Detailed policy

Basic salary – Reflect the value of the – Cash – Reviewed annually 1 April
individual, his role, skills and – Monthly – Benchmarked against comparable 
experience – Pensionable companies

Annual bonus – Incentivise delivery of specific – Annual payment – Payments based on Group 
Group, divisional and personal (subject to performance) performance and project-based KPIs 
annual goals – Cash up to 50% of salary, – Bonus potential of 120% of

– Deferred share element rest in shares (but all can be salary going forwards
provides retention and invested in shares) – Any bonus above 50% of salary
alignment with shareholders – Performance-related paid in shares (Executive

– Non-pensionable Directors can choose to take all of 
bonus in shares) 
– see Co-Investment Plan

Long-term incentives – Encourage long-term value – In shares Performance Plan
creation – Annual awards – Maximum award 100% of salary

– Encourage co-investment – Shares may be released – For 2008 onwards, it is
– Aligns executives’ interests with after 3 years intended that vesting will 

those of shareholders – Performance-related be based on comparative TSR
– Retention – Non-pensionable performance and real EPS growth 

Co-Investment Plan
– Matching shares, based on 

investment of bonus, up to 2:1
– Vesting based on real EPS growth 

Benefits – To provide competitive – Ongoing – Car allowance, medical
benefits insurance and life assurance

Pension – To provide competitive post- – Ongoing – 10%–20% of basic salary
retirement benefits – Payable on retirement depending on length of service

– Retention

Share ownership guidelines – To align the interests of N/A – Must build a shareholding
Executive Directors with of 100% of salary
shareholders
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Basic salary
Basic salaries are set annually by the Committee taking into account
a number of factors including (i) that part of the Group’s assets
under the individual’s control, (ii) past performance of the individual
and (iii) comparative information from independent sources,
including HNBS, on the rates of salary in selected groups of
comparable companies. In selecting comparator companies to
benchmark base salaries, the Committee reviews practice in both (i)
companies which operate within the same broad business space as
Speedy Hire and with which Speedy Hire competes for key talent
and (ii) companies of a similar size to Speedy Hire measured by
turnover, market capitalisation and geographic operations.

For the current year the basic salaries of the Executive Directors
have been increased taking into account the current climate and the
continued outstanding efforts of the management team in delivering
sustained growth in the Company’s financial performance.
Accordingly, with effect from 1 April 2008, the basic salary of Steve
Corcoran has been increased to £340,000 (from £325,000), Mike
McGrath to £220,000 (from £210,000) and Claudio Veritiero to
£192,500 (from £170,000), Justin Read’s salary was set at
£250,000 upon his appointment.

Annual bonus
The Committee believes firmly in the effectiveness of performance-
linked bonuses. As a result, every employee in the Group is brought
within some form of annual incentive scheme as soon as possible
after joining the Group.

For the Company’s Group-wide annual bonus plan, at the start of
each financial year, each subsidiary Company in the Group is set a
number of challenging financial targets relating to metrics such as
profit performance, capital efficiency and debtor control. 

This year’s focus includes measures such as margin improvement
and ongoing employee and customer satisfaction, together with
return on capital.

Bonuses paid to Executive Directors and senior management based
at head office are set on a similar basis to the subsidiaries. For
2007/08, individual bonuses for Executive Directors and senior
management were capped at 100% of basic annual salary and were
linked to Group performance, the delivery of specific project-based
KPIs and the achievement of broker consensus forecast.

For 2008/09, the bonus for Executive Directors will be capped at
120% of salary. Bonuses will be linked to Group financial
performance (including Earnings Before Tax and Amortisation
(“EBTA”) (35% of the total bonus opportunity), cash flow generation
(10%), working capital management (20%) and EPS (10%)) and
specific project-based KPIs (25% of the total bonus opportunity).
The new maximum bonus will only be paid following delivery of
outstanding performance against these targets, which will be set
taking due account of the increased annual bonus opportunity.

Bonuses are non-pensionable.

Details of the bonuses awarded to Executive Directors in respect of
the 2007/08 financial year are set out on page 56, and reflect
another year of strong performance by the Executive Directors. In
reporting the calculation of actual bonuses paid, the Committee is
mindful of the commercial sensitivity of the structure of the Group’s
bonus arrangements and considers that more detailed disclosure is
inappropriate.

Non-Executive Directors do not receive a bonus.

Long-Term Incentives
In line with the overall remuneration policy of the Committee, the
objectives of the Company’s share-based long-term incentive
arrangements (which were approved by shareholders in 2004) are:

� To support the Company’s strong performance culture and
provide exceptional rewards for exceptional performance.

� To provide a competitive total compensation package.
� To link rewards to Group performance so that the interests of

executives are fully aligned with Speedy Hire’s shareholders.
� To create an expectation of ownership on the part of executives in

accordance with shareholding guidelines established by the
Committee requiring Executive Directors to hold shares in the
Company of a value equivalent to not less than 100% of basic
salary.

The two main share-based long-term incentive plans operated for
senior executives are (i) the Performance Plan and (ii) the Co-
Investment Plan. 

a) Performance Plan
The key features of the Performance Plan are as follows:

� Annual awards are made to executives that may vest at the end
of a three year performance period.

� Maximum annual awards equal 100% of basic salary in each year.
� To date, comparative TSR has been the primary performance

measure using the FTSE 250 (excluding investment trusts) as the
comparator group. The measure has been structured so that
20% of awards vest at median, with straight-line vesting to upper
quartile performance, at which point awards vest in full. In
addition, an underpin has been applied under which, for any
award to vest, EPS growth must be at least equal to CPI plus 2%
per annum calculated on a compound basis. 

� No re-testing is permitted.

For awards in 2008 and onwards, it is intended that at least 50% of
the award will continue to be based on comparative TSR against the
FTSE 250 (excluding investment trusts) as above, although the
underpin will no longer be applied. It is also intended that the
balance of the award that is not subject to TSR will be based on
EPS growth targets. It is intended that 20% of the EPS element of
the award will vest for the achievement of a threshold level of EPS
growth, being at least CPI plus 7.5% per annum, calculated on a
compound basis, with the entire EPS element of the award vesting if
EPS growth is at least CPI plus 15% per annum, also on a
compound basis (with straight-line vesting in between).
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b) Co-Investment Plan
The key features of the Co-Investment Plan are as follows:

� Executive Directors must defer any annual bonus over 50% of
basic salary, and may defer the rest at the Executive Director’s
option, which is used to acquire Speedy Hire shares.

� Deferral is for three years.
� Matching shares may be awarded by the Committee which vest

at the end of the three year deferral period if pre-determined
performance criteria are satisfied. The maximum matching, which
will only be awarded for exceptional performance, may be on a
2:1, or 200%, basis.

� Performance targets are based on EPS growth over the deferral
period. To obtain maximum matching under previous awards,
EPS growth is required to be greater than CPI plus 12.5% per
annum, calculated on a compound basis. No awards vest if EPS
growth is less than CPI plus 7.5% per annum, also calculated on
a compound basis (with straight-line vesting in between). This will
apply to 2008 awards which relate to the old bonus cap of 100%
of salary. However, to reflect the increased CIP award potential in
2009 that will arise from the higher annual bonus opportunity that
will be available in 2008/9 onwards, more stretching EPS growth
targets will be applied to CIP awards made in 2009, taking
account of circumstances prevailing at the time of grant. The
targets will be no less stretching (taking account of the
circumstances prevailing at the time) than the EPS targets that will
be applied to this year’s Performance Plan awards which have a
top end EPS growth target of CPI plus 15% per annum,
calculated on a compound basis.

� No re-testing is permitted

TSR and EPS are used for these plans as they are the most
appropriate measures of Speedy Hire’s long-term performance. 
TSR improves shareholder alignment and is consistent with the
Company’s objectives of providing long-term returns to
shareholders. EPS, which it is intended will play a greater role in
these incentive plans going forward as described above, is an
important measure of the Company’s underlying financial
performance and provides a good ‘line of sight’ between
performance and reward for executives, particularly when they are
choosing to invest their own bonus under the CIP. The Committee
will ensure that appropriate independent verification is sought as to
the extent to which these performance conditions are satisfied. 

Awards made in 2005 under the Performance Plan have vested as
to approximately 35% and under the Co-Investment Plan have
vested in full after the end of the financial year.

Benefits under the Performance Plan and the CIP are non-
pensionable.

Both the Performance Plan and the CIP are designed to be self-
funding.

Benefits in kind
The Group operates a policy whereby Executive Directors and
senior management are offered a car or cash alternative, as
appropriate, health insurance and life cover and defined pension
contributions (further details of which are set out below). 

The Group does not operate a defined benefit pension scheme and
has no plans to introduce such a scheme.

Total Shareholder Return
The accompanying graph shows Speedy Hire’s performance,
measured by TSR, compared with the performance of the FTSE 
250 Index (excluding investment trusts), also measured by TSR. The
graph illustrates the movement of Speedy Hire’s TSR, assuming
dividends are reinvested on the ex dividend date against that of the
FTSE 250 Index (excluding investment trusts) for the five year 
period to 31 March 2008. The FTSE 250 Index (excluding
investment trusts) has been used as it provides consistency with 
the performance measurement of the Group’s executive share
incentive plans.

Total shareholder return

Service contracts
It is the Committee’s general policy that the service contracts of
Executive Directors (none of which are for a fixed term) should provide
for termination of employment by giving 12 months’ notice or by
making a payment of an amount equal to 12 months’ basic salary and
pension contributions in lieu of notice together with any accrued bonus
entitlement. It is also the Committee’s general policy that no Executive
Director should be entitled to a notice period or payment on termination
of employment in excess of these levels. In determining amounts
payable on termination, the Committee also considers, where it is able
to do so, appropriate adjustments to take into account accelerated
receipt and the Executive Director’s duty to mitigate his loss.

The service contracts of Steve Corcoran, Neil O’Brien, Mike
McGrath, Claudio Veritiero and Justin Read contain express
provisions relating to their duty to mitigate their loss and for
accelerated receipt in the event of termination.

Justin Read was appointed on 1 April 2008 and his service contract
contains a temporary provision which states that, if his employment
is terminated by the Company following a change in control that
occurs within the first year of his employment (i.e. up to 1 April
2009), he will be entitled to 24 months’ notice on a monthly
descending basis. Therefore, after 12 months’ employment, 
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This graph shows the value, by 31 March 2008, of £100 invested in Speedy Hire Plc
on 31 March 2003 compared with the value of £100 invested in the FTSE 250
(excluding investment trusts) Index. The other points are the values at intervening 
financial year-ends.

 Speedy Hire Plc FTSE 250 (excluding investment trusts) Index
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Justin Read’s notice period will have reverted to the normal 12
months which reflects the Company’s general policy on such
matters.

Subject to the above, no Executive Director has the benefit of
provisions in his service contract for the payment of pre-determined
compensation in the event of termination of employment.

The execution dates of the service contracts of the Executive
Directors are set out below:

Contract date

S J Corcoran 7 January 2002
N C O’Brien 15 January 2002
M A McGrath 10 March 2006
C Veritiero 16 July 2007
J Read 1 April 2008

Arrangements relating to John Brown
Former Chief Executive John Brown played an integral part for 27
years in the building of our business.

To ensure Speedy Hire retained access to John’s wealth of
experience, and as reported in previous years, it was agreed to
engage him for three years from 1 October 2005 as a consultant.
John has undertaken an ambassadorial role with both our major
customers and suppliers, in relation to many of whom John forged
the original relationship with Speedy Hire. He also remains available
in an advisory capacity to the Executive Directors, supporting special
project work up to a maximum of 30 days per year.

The Committee, after careful consideration of the value of these
arrangements in protecting and enhancing shareholder value,
agreed at that time that John should receive a consultancy fee for
the provision of such services of £30,000 per annum.

It is intended that this arrangement will terminate in October 2008.

Arrangements relating to the appointment of Justin Read
Justin Read was appointed to the Board as Finance Director on 
1 April 2008.

In accordance with Rule 9.4.2 (2) of the Listing Rules, an
arrangement was made to facilitate the recruitment and
appointment of Justin Read as Finance Director (the “Joining
Award”). Under the terms of the Joining Award, which Justin Read
was invited to accept on 5 March 2008, he was invited to deposit
share certificates for (or other evidence of title to) Speedy Hire Plc
shares which he purchased out of his own funds, with the trustee of
the Speedy Hire Employee Benefits Trust (the “Trustee”) (the
“Deposited Shares”). The market value of the Deposited Shares, at
the date of deposit with the Trustee may not exceed 100% of Justin
Read’s net annual salary on joining Speedy Hire on 1 April 2008. 
The Deposited Shares will be treated as if they were “Bonus Award
Shares” under the CIP and the Joining Award will replicate a
“Matching Share Award” under the CIP. For the purpose of
determining the maximum number of shares which Justin Read may
be entitled to receive under the Joining Award, the market value of
the Deposited Shares (on deposit) will be “grossed up” for income
tax and employee’s national insurance contributions. Justin Read’s
entitlement to receive the Joining Award Shares will be subject to the
terms and conditions of Matching Share Awards under the CIP (for
example, as to continued employment with the Speedy Hire Group
and achievement of performance targets).

The Joining Award will not be pensionable.

The Committee decided that Justin Read should be employed on
similar terms to his fellow Speedy Hire Executive Directors. It also
wanted to incentivise Justin Read by linking his total remuneration
package to the future prosperity of Speedy Hire Plc shareholders. 
It considered that the Joining Award would achieve both these
purposes. The Joining Award was accepted by Justin Read on 
7 March 2008 before he joined the Group on 1 April 2008.

This arrangement is similar to that employed in relation to the
recruitment of Mike McGrath in 2006.

Non-Executive Directors
The remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors is set by the
Executive Directors. The policy of the Board is that the remuneration
of the Non-Executive Directors should be consistent with the levels
of remuneration paid by companies of a similar size and has due
regard to their expected time commitment and responsibility in
performing their duties. The levels of Non-Executive Director
remuneration are the subject of a benchmarking exercise, carried
out with the assistance of HNBS, at least every two years. Non-
Executive Directors receive an annual fee and are reimbursed
expenses incurred in attending meetings. They do not receive any
performance-related bonuses, pension contributions, share awards
or other forms of benefit.

The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors do not have contracts of
service but their terms are set out in letters of appointment. In the case
of David Wallis and David Galloway, their appointments have been
renewed with a one year term to 31 March 2009. Frank Dee stepped
down as a Non-Executive Director on 31 March 2008. Peter Atkinson
commences a second three year term in 1 June 2008. Ishbel
Macpherson and Michael Averill commenced their first three year
terms in July 2007 and May 2008 respectively. Appointments are
subject to earlier termination by six months’ notice on either side in the
case of David Wallis and three months’ notice on either side in the
case of each of David Galloway, Peter Atkinson, Ishbel Macpherson
and Michael Averill. The letters of appointment, copies of which are
available for inspection at the Company’s registered office during
normal business hours, specify an anticipated time commitment of 50
days per annum in relation to David Wallis, 21 days per annum in the
case of Ishbel Macpherson and David Galloway and 19 days per
annum in the case of Peter Atkinson and Michael Averill.

Emoluments of the Directors
The emoluments of the Directors of Speedy Hire were as follows:

Aggregate emoluments (audited)
2008 2007
£’000 £’000

Salaries and fees 1,075 913
Benefits 33 31
Annual performance-related bonuses 749 657
Pension contributions 130 96

Total 1,987 1,697

A payment of £18,000 was also made to the widow of a former
Director (2007: £18,000).

Benefits include a car allowance, medical insurance and life
assurance.
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None of the Executive Directors serves as a Non-Executive Director elsewhere.

Payments to Executive Directors (audited)
Pension 

Salaries and fees contributions
Total Total

Salary Benefits Bonus 2008 2007 2008 2007
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

S J Corcoran 325 10 303 638 592 65 45
N C O’Brien 220 10 197 427 406 33 31
M A McGrath 210 10 195 415 390 23 20
C Veritiero* 58 3 54 115 – 9 –

Former Executive Directors
J E Brown† 30 – – 30 30 – –

Total 843 33 749 1,625 1,418 130 96

* Claudio Veritiero was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company on 28 November 2007. The table shows the salary paid to him as
an Executive Director of the Company and does not include remuneration earned in his previous role within the Group.

† Received consultancy fees of £30,000 in 2007/08 year.

The terms of Neil O’Brien’s termination were in accordance with the
rights and obligations set out in his service contract and in line with
the rules of the incentive arrangements in which he participated.

Pensions
The Committee reviews the pension arrangements for the Executive
Directors to ensure that the benefits provided are consistent with
those provided by other similar companies and take account of
changes in relevant legislation.

The Company does not offer a defined benefit pension scheme.
Instead, it makes contributions to an approved pension scheme of
the Executive Director’s choice.

Pensions contributions range between 10% and 20% of basic 
salary depending on length of service. The amount of pension
contributions made in respect of each Executive Director is set 
out above.

Save as set out above, there are no other pension arrangements for
the Executive Directors.

Individual emoluments of Non-Executive Directors (audited)
The fees of the Non-Executive Directors are set out below:

2008 2007
£’000 £’000

D W Wallis 100 88
F R Dee (resigned 31 March 2008) 38 34
D A Galloway 38 32
P Atkinson 33 29
Ishbel Macpherson (appointed 17 July 2007) 23 –

Total 232 183

Ishbel Macpherson was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of
the Company on 17 July 2007. The table shows the fees paid to her
as a Non-Executive Director during the financial year.

With effect from 1 April 2008, the Directors’ fees of David Wallis are
£105,000 per annum, David Galloway £41,000 per annum (inclusive of
fees being the Chairman of the Audit Committee) and Michael Averill

and Peter Atkinson £34,000 per annum. With effect from 31 March
2008, Ishbel Macpherson receives fees of £41,000 per annum
(inclusive of fees being the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee).

Directors’ interests in shares and options (audited)
Interests in shares
The interests of the Directors of Speedy Hire Plc in the issued share
capital of Speedy Hire Plc at the beginning and end of the year or
date of appointment where appropriate are shown below: 

Speedy Hire Plc
Ordinary shares

31 March 1 April
2008 2007

Number Number

S J Corcoran 202,348 109,040
N C O’Brien 150,601 90,378
M A McGrath 23,076 14,000
C Veritiero 5,464 5,464
D W Wallis 50,000 40,000
F R Dee 30,000 30,000
D A Galloway 22,000 22,000
P D Atkinson 4,280 4,280
I Macpherson 4,016 –

Any ordinary shares required to satisfy awards under the
Performance Plan and CIP are provided by the Speedy Hire
Employee Benefits Trust (“EBT”). As a potential beneficiary under the
EBT, each Executive Director is deemed to be interested in all the
shares held by the EBT which, at 31 March 2008, amounted to
383,366 Speedy Hire Plc ordinary shares (2007: 633,788).

There have been no changes in the interests of the Directors in the
share capital of Speedy Hire Plc since 31 March 2008 save that, on
1 April 2008, Justin Read acquired 19,800 ordinary shares.

Directors’ interests in share options
The options were granted under the SAYE Scheme for nil
consideration. 

The market price of Speedy Hire Plc ordinary shares at 31 March
2008 was 761 pence and the range during the year was 699.5
pence to 1319 pence per share.
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Options in respect of the Performance Plan and the CIP were
granted for nil consideration. The price of an ordinary share on 3 July
2007, when the Performance Plan and CIP awards were made, was
1220 pence. The awards are subject to the performance conditions
for Performance Plan and CIP awards, respectively, as outlined in
the policy section. The exercise price for the Performance Plan
awards and Matching Share awards under the CIP is an aggregate

£1 for all the award shares. All awards under the Performance Plan
and Matching Share awards under the CIP are granted for nil
consideration.

Details of the Executive Directors’ interests in the UK SAYE Scheme,
Performance Plan and CIP are as follows:

Options
Options/ awards Share price

awards exercised/ on date of Expected
Interests at granted vested Interests at Exercise exercise/ date from

1 April during the during the 31 March price vesting which
20071 year year 2008 pence pence exercisable

S J Corcoran
Save As You Earn 20043 2,473 – (2,473) – 383 750 Feb 2008–July 2008
Save As You Earn 2007 – 1,426 – 1,426 673 Feb 2011–July 2011
Performance Plan 20044,5 47,858 – (47,858) – nil 1,195 June 2007
Performance Plan 2005 40,260 – – 40,260 nil June 2008
Performance Plan 2006 33,646 – – 33,646 nil June 2009
Performance Plan 2007 – 27,197 – 27,197 nil June 2010
Co-investment Plan 20045 93,458 – (93,458) – nil 1,195 June 2007
Co-investment Plan 2005 20,542 – – 20,542 nil June 2008
Co-investment Plan 2006 45,876 – – 45,876 nil June 2009
Co-investment Plan 2007 – 21,941 – 21,941 nil June 2010

284,113 50,564 (143,789) 190,888

N C O’Brien
Save As You Earn 20043 2,473 – (2,473) – 383 750 Feb 2008–July 2008
Performance Plan 20044,5 35,894 – (35,894) – nil 1,195 June 2007
Performance Plan 2005 27,450 – – 27,450 nil June 2008
Performance Plan 20062 22,992 – – 22,992 nil June 2009
Performance Plan 20072 – 17,907 – 17,907 nil June 2010
Co-investment Plan 20045 70,094 – (70,094) – nil 1,195 June 2007
Co-investment Plan 2005 20,820 – – 20,820 nil June 2008
Co-investment Plan 20062 22,938 – – 22,938 nil June 2009
Co-investment Plan 20072 – 15,108 – 15,108 nil June 2010

202,661 33,015 (108,461) 127,215

M A McGrath
Save As You Earn 2006 1,102 – – 1,102 857 Feb 2010–July 2010
Performance Plan 2006 21,870 – – 21,870 nil June 2009
Performance Plan 2007 – 17,573 – 17,573 nil June 2010
Co-investment Plan 2006 44,728 – – 44,728 nil June 2009
Co-investment Plan 2007 – 31,004 – 31,004 nil June 2010

67,700 48,577 – 116,277

C Veritiero
Save As You Earn 2005 1,518 – – 1,518 624 Feb 2009–July 2009
Co-Investment Plan 2005 4,977 – – 4,977 nil June 2008
Co-investment Plan 2006 4,588 – – 4,588 nil June 2009
Co-investment Plan 2007 – 7,448 – 7,448 nil June 2010

11,083 7,448 – 18,531

565,557 139,604 (252,250) 452,911
1 or date of appointment, if later.
2 Neil O’Brien’s options under the 2006 & 2007 Performance and Co-investment Plans will lapse upon his resignation from the Company on

31 May 2008.
3 The 2004 SAYE options were exercised on 1 February 2008, realising a gain of £9,076 each for S J Corcoran and N C O’Brien (aggregate

gains £18,152).
4 The number of shares that vested during the year under the 2004 Performance Plan award includes additional shares awarded as a

dividend equivalent in accordance with the plan rules. See following table.
5 The awards made under the 2004 Performance Plan and Co-Investment Plan were granted on 21 September 2004 and the share price on

the date of grant was 448 pence. The awards vested on 28 June 2007 and were exercised on 29 June 2007. The awards were subject to
the performance conditions for Performance Plan and CIP awards respectively, as outlined in the policy section above, and the awards
vested in full.
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Options exercised during the year
The aggregate gains made by Directors on exercise of the 2004
Performance Plan and Co-Investment Plan awards in the year were
as follows:

No. of
shares1 Total gain

S J Corcoran
Performance Plan 49,614 592,887
Co-Investment plan 93,458 1,116,823

143,072 1,709,710

N C O’Brien
Performance Plan 37,211 444,671
Co-Investment Plan 70,094 837,623

107,305 1,282,294

1 Includes dividend shares in respect of S J Corcoran’s
Performance Plan award (1,756 shares), and N C O’Brien’s
Performance Plan awards (1,317)

SAYE Scheme
Options may be granted over shares in Speedy Hire Plc under the
Speedy Hire Sharesave Scheme (the “SAYE Scheme”), in which all
eligible employees are entitled to participate. At the end of a three
year period, employees have the right, if they choose, to use funds
accumulated under the savings contract linked to the SAYE
Scheme, to purchase shares in Speedy Hire Plc at up to a 20%
discount to the price of Speedy Hire Plc’s shares at the date
employees are invited to join the Scheme. No performance targets
are attached to options granted under this Scheme. Executive
Directors are entitled to participate.

The Committee is keen to encourage ownership of Speedy Hire
Plc’s shares by employees at all levels in the Group and intends to
grant further awards, as permitted by the SAYE Scheme Rules, on 
a regular annual basis. 743 employees participated in the 2004
launch, 401 in 2005, 576 in 2006, 607 in August 2007 and 736 in
December 2007. At 27 May 2008 there were 1,638 live accounts
spread across 1,299 participants.

The first grant under the SAYE Scheme matured on 31 January
2008, enabling 556 employees to exercise options over a total
519,081 shares at a profit to the exercise price. An additional,
special, one-off award was made under the SAYE Scheme in
August 2007 following the acquisition of Hewden Tools. In
November 2007 the Committee established an Irish Revenue
approved Irish Sharesave Scheme to enable Irish employees of the
Group to participate in a comparable tax-favoured manner to their
English counterparts for which shareholder approval is being sought
at the 2008 Annual General Meeting.

Long-Term Service Awards
Consistent with Speedy Hire’s approach of recognising the
contribution of its employees at all levels in the business, the Group
operates a long-term service award scheme under which
employees serving 10, 20 and 25 years receive a range of additional
benefits, including additional days of annual holiday entitlement
(including the employee’s birthday for reaching 20 years’ service).
Employees serving 20 years receive an additional £1,000 in basic
salary and those serving 25 years a further increase of £1,000 and
an award of shares in the Company to the value of £1,000.
Members of the 20 and 25 year clubs attend an annual luncheon
hosted by the Chief Executive. 

These benefits are popular amongst employees and Speedy Hire
believes that they fulfil a business need by encouraging and
rewarding the loyalty and motivation of long-serving employees and
by rewarding those employees with higher levels of experience.

Approved by the Remuneration Committee and Board of Speedy
Hire Plc on 27 May 2008.

Ishbel Macpherson
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

Remuneration report
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David Galloway
Non-Executive Director

The Audit Committee comprised Peter Atkinson, Ishbel Macpherson
and David Galloway and Frank Dee until his retirement, all of whom
are independent. The Chairman, Chief Executive, and Finance
Director were in attendance, as were the external and internal
auditors. During the year the Committee met three times. In addition,
the external auditors met privately with the independent Directors. 

David Galloway is Chairman and is a Chartered Accountant and is
Chairman of one other plc audit committee.

The Committee’s principal responsibilities are to: 

� Monitor the integrity of the Group’s financial statements and
formal announcements relating to the Group’s performance. 

� Monitor the effectiveness of the external process including the
appointment, cost and independence of the auditors. 

� Review the effectiveness of internal controls and the internal audit
function.

� Approve the appointment of the Head of Internal audit. 
� Review the Board process for reviewing and managing significant

risk in the business.

The full terms of reference, which are in compliance with Paragraph
C3 of the Combined Code, are reviewed annually and were most
recently amended on 22 May 2008. 

During the year the Committee reviewed:

� The Group’s interim and final accounts together with the external
auditors’ detailed reports. 

� The Board’s process for identifying and managing risk. 
� The appropriateness of the Group’s accounting policies.
� The policy for tendering of non-audit advice. 
� The external audit plans and associated cost.
� The independence of the external auditors.
� Post-project reports on the integration of acquisitions.
� Internal audit plans, reports and resourcing levels. 
� A report from the Company’s external provider of security advice

and fraud prevention services.

Trading statements and press releases on acquisitions were also
reviewed by the Board.

Michael Averill has joined the Committee with effect from 
1 May 2008.

David Galloway
Chairman of the Audit Committee
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Report of the
Nomination Committee

David Wallis
Non-Executive Chairman

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee set out its
responsibilities. These include inter alia:

� Reviewing the size and composition of the Board and
membership of Board Committees.

� Ensuring that succession planning is in place.
� Making recommendations to the Board on the appointment of

Executive and Non-Executive Directors at both Plc and operating
level, including job description.

� The reappointment of Directors following their retirement by
rotation.

During the course of the year, the Committee met five times.

The Chairman’s report on the functioning of the Board on page 32
outlines many of the issues discussed by the Nomination Committee
during the course of the year. Replacement Non-Executive Directors
and succession planning will remain as key agenda items during the
course of the current financial year.

During the year under review, the Committee agreed terms for the
appointment of Ishbel Macpherson, Claudio Veritiero, Justin Read
and Michael Averill.

External search consultancies were engaged in relation to the
selection and appointment of Justin Read and Michael Averill.

Claudio Veritiero has been with Speedy for a number of years and
was appointed as a result of continual monitoring by the Board and
the Committee of promising internal candidates for promotion to the
main Board.

In the case of Ishbel Macpherson, when the specification for an
additional Non-Executive Director was finalised, it was immediately
apparent that Ishbel possessed the skills and attributes being
sought. Being well known to several of the Directors through a
number of different business contexts over many years it was felt
unnecessary to use the services of external consultants as the
Board was confident that she would make an excellent addition to
the Non-Executive team.

As the Company has developed an effective HR function and HR
strategy, there is increasing communication and interaction with the
Committee, particularly with regard to succession planning. In a
growing business, it is essential that its rising stars are identified early
and given a career path to ensure that they maximise their potential.
This also ensures that the Committee internally has the largest
possible pool of talented individuals from which to choose, as well
as the option of recruiting externally.

David Wallis
Chairman of the Nomination Committee
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We have audited the Group and parent Company financial
statements (the “financial statements’’) of Speedy Hire Plc for the
year ended 31 March 2008 which comprise the Group Income
Statement, the Group and Parent Company Balance Sheets, the
Group and Parent Company Cash Flow Statements, the Group and
Parent Company Statements of Recognised Income and Expense,
and the related notes. These financial statements have been
prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. We have
also audited the information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report
that is described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in
accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them in an
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members, as a
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have
formed. 

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors 
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the
Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU are set out in the
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities on page 35. 

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the part of
the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited in accordance
with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements
give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements and
the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have
been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
1985 and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the
IAS Regulation. We also report to you whether in our opinion the
information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the
financial statements. The information given in the Directors’ Report
includes that specific information presented in the Operating and
Financial Review that is cross-referred from the Business Review
section of the Directors’ Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not
kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the
information and explanations we require for our audit, or if
information specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration and
other transactions is not disclosed. 

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects
the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2006
Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the
Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not
required to consider whether the Board’s statements on internal
control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or its
risk and control procedures. 

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report and
consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial
statements. We consider the implications for our report if we
become aware of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities do
not extend to any other information. 

Basis of audit opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant
to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited. It also
includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements
made by the Directors in the preparation of the financial statements,
and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the
Group’s and Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and
adequately disclosed. 

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in
order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error.
In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of information in the financial statements and the part of
the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited. 

Opinion 
In our opinion:
� the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in

accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, of the state of the
Group’s affairs as at 31 March 2008 and of its profit for the year
then ended; 

� the parent Company financial statements give a true and fair view,
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU as applied in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1985, of
the state of the parent Company’s affairs as at 31 March 2008; 

� the financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; and 

� the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with
the financial statements. 

KPMG Audit Plc 
St James Square 
Manchester
Chartered Accountants
Registered Auditor

27 May 2008 
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Exceptional
Before exceptional integration
integration costs costs Total

2008 2008 2008 2007
Note £m £m £m £m

Revenue 2 465.5 – 465.5 335.5
Cost of sales (167.1) – (167.1) (118.7)

Gross profit 298.4 – 298.4 216.8
Distribution costs (49.8) – (49.8) (43.2)
Administrative expenses (191.8) (10.0) (201.8) (127.7)

Analysis of operating profit
Operating profit before amortisation and

exceptional integration costs 64.0 – 64.0 50.0
Exceptional integration costs 3 – (10.0) (10.0) –
Amortisation (7.2) – (7.2) (4.1)

Operating profit 4 56.8 (10.0) 46.8 45.9
Financial income 7 0.9 – 0.9 0.4
Financial expense 3, 7 (16.8) (0.4) (17.2) (9.9)

Profit before taxation 40.9 (10.4) 30.5 36.4
Taxation 3, 8 (9.2) 3.1 (6.1) (9.8)

Profit for the financial year 31.7 (7.3) 24.4 26.6

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 23.3 26.6
Minority interests 1.1 –

24.4 26.6

Earnings per share Pence Pence

– Basic 9 47.89 58.74

– Diluted 9 47.49 57.78

Dividend per share 19.8 17.0

15110SPEEDYHI:15110SPEEDYHI  13/6/08  10:33  Page 62



Consolidated statement of recognised 
income and expense
For the year ended 31 March 2008

Company statement of recognised 
income and expense
For the year ended 31 March 2008

Speedy Hire Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2008 63

15110 04/06/2008 Proof 5

2008 2007
£m £m

Cash flow hedges: (Losses)/gains taken to equity (net of tax) (1.2) 0.5

Net (loss)/income recognised directly in equity (net of tax) (1.2) 0.5

Profit for the financial year 13.4 12.6

Total recognised income and expense for the financial year 12.2 13.1

(1.2)

(1.2)

13.4

12.2

2008 2007
£m £m

Cash flow hedges: (Losses)/gains taken to equity (net of tax) (1.2) 0.5

Net (loss)/income recognised directly in equity (net of tax) (1.2) 0.5

Profit for the financial year 24.4 26.6

Total recognised income and expense for the financial year 23.2 27.1

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 22.1 27.1
Minority interests 1.1 –

23.2 27.1
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2008 2007
Note £m £m

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 11 127.0 71.3
Property, plant and equipment 12 374.8 295.7

501.8 367.0

Current assets
Inventories 14 16.2 10.9
Trade and other receivables 15 143.6 101.2
Other financial assets 17 – 0.7
Cash 4.4 10.3

164.2 123.1

Total assets 666.0 490.1

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 (120.0) (91.8)
Other financial liabilities 17 (0.5) –
Provisions 19 (1.0) –
Current income tax (5.9) (6.0)

(127.4) (97.8)

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 18 (260.0) (186.5)
Provisions 19 (1.2) –
Deferred tax liabilities 20 (37.3) (34.7)

(298.5) (221.2)

Total liabilities (425.9) (319.0)

Net assets 240.1 171.1

EQUITY
Share capital 21 2.5 2.3
Share premium account 22 111.0 57.8
Merger reserve 22 3.7 3.7
Hedging reserve 22 (0.7) 0.5
Retained earnings 22 122.3 106.6

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 238.8 170.9
Minority interests 22 1.3 0.2

Total equity 240.1 171.1

The financial statements on pages 62 to 92 were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 May 2008 and were signed on its behalf by:

Steve Corcoran Justin Read
Director Director
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2008 2007
Note £m £m

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investments 13 111.7 106.7
Deferred tax asset 20 0.2 –

111.9 106.7
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 15 337.6 186.6
Other financial assets 17 – 0.7
Current income tax receivable 1.3 3.2
Cash – 3.6

338.9 194.1

Total assets 450.8 300.8

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Bank borrowings 18 (14.0) –
Trade and other payables 16 (20.0) (16.0)
Other financial liabilities 17 (0.5) –

(34.5) (16.0)

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 18 (260.0) (187.6)

Total liabilities (294.5) (203.6)

Net assets 156.3 97.2

EQUITY
Share capital 21 2.5 2.3
Share premium account 22 111.0 57.8
Merger reserve 22 8.6 8.6
Hedging reserve 22 (0.7) 0.5
Retained earnings 22 34.9 28.0

Total equity 156.3 97.2

The financial statements on pages 62 to 92 were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 May 2008 and were signed on its behalf by:

Steve Corcoran Justin Read
Director Director

111.7
0.2

111.9

337.6
–

1.3
–

338.9

450.8

(14.0)
(20.0)
(0.5)

(34.5)

(260.0)

Total liabilities (294.5)

Net assets 156.3

2.5
111.0
8.6
(0.7)
34.9

156.3
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2008 2007
£m £m

Cash flow from operating activities
Profit before tax 30.5 36.4
Adjustments for:

Financial income (0.9) (0.4)
Financial expense 17.2 9.9
Intangible amortisation 7.2 4.1
Depreciation 67.6 50.3
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (9.7) (7.0)
Equity-settled share-based payments 2.2 1.7

114.1 95.0
Increase in inventories (3.1) (0.8)
Increase in trade and other receivables (27.6) (19.1)
Increase in trade and other payables 18.9 9.5

Cash generated from operations 102.3 84.6
Interest received 0.9 0.5
Interest paid (15.5) (9.8)
Tax paid (4.7) (6.1)

Net cash flow from operating activities 83.0 69.2

Cash flow from investing activities
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired (137.4) (61.9)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (104.1) (93.4)
Disposal of property, plant and equipment 34.4 19.7

Net cash flow from investing activities (207.1) (135.6)

Net cash flow before financing activities (124.1) (66.4)

Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from shares issued 56.2 –
Share issue costs (2.8) –
Proceeds from new loans 73.5 77.0
Dividends paid (8.7) (6.7)

Net cash flow from financing activities 118.2 70.3

(Decrease)/increase in cash (5.9) 3.9
Cash at the start of the year 10.3 6.4

Cash at the end of the year 4.4 10.3
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2008 2007
£m £m

Cash flow from operating activities
Profit before tax 11.5 12.9
Adjustments for:

Dividends received (17.4) (13.4)
Financial income (17.0) (10.6)
Financial expense 21.8 11.0
Equity-settled share-based payments 2.2 –

1.1 (0.1)
Increase in trade and other receivables (151.5) (23.4)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 3.2 (0.3)

Cash generated from operations (147.2) (23.8)
Interest received 17.0 10.6
Interest paid (20.5) (11.0)
Tax received 3.6 0.2

Net cash flow from operating activities (147.1) (24.0)

Cash flow from investing activities 
Investment in shares (5.0) (83.1)
Dividends received 17.4 13.4

Net cash flow from investing activities 12.4 (69.7)

Net cash flow before financing activities (134.7) (93.7)

Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from shares issued 56.2 6.8
Share issue costs (2.8) –
Proceeds from new loans 86.4 74.6
Dividends paid (8.7) (6.7)

Net cash flow from financing activities 131.1 74.7

Decrease in cash (3.6) (19.0)
Cash at the start of the year 3.6 22.6

Cash at the end of the year – 3.6
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1 Accounting policies
Speedy Hire Plc is a Company incorporated in the United Kingdom. The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2008 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”). The consolidated and parent
Company financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 May 2008.

Statement of compliance
Both the Group and parent Company financial statements have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”). On publishing the parent Company financial
statements here together with the Group financial statements, the Company is taking advantage of the exemption in s230(4) of the
Companies Act 1985 not to present its individual income statement and related notes that form part of the approved financial statements. 

IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: disclosure’ was adopted during the year. As the standard is concerned only with disclosure, its adoption
had no impact on either the Balance Sheet or Income Statement.

IFRIC 11 ‘Group and Treasury Share transactions’ was adopted during the year. The standard requires the Group to account for its
existing share-based payment arrangements as equity-settled transactions in both the Group and Subsidiary financial statements. This
was the treatment adopted by the Group and subsidiaries in prior years and accordingly IFRIC 11 has no impact on the Balance Sheet 
or Income Statement.

Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that derivative financial instruments are held at fair value. The
accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included
in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

Intra-Group balances, and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intra-Group transactions, are eliminated
in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

Accounting standards not yet effective
These consolidated and Company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS and related IFRIC interpretations in
issue that have been endorsed by the European Union and are effective as at 31 March 2008. 

The International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) has introduced a number of accounting standards which have been adopted by
the European Union, and are available for early adoption. However, the Group has not applied these in the financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2008. The relevant standards and interpretations that will impact the Group are as follows:

– IFRS 8 “Operating Segments” is effective for accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2009. The Group has decided not
to adopt the standard in the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2007. The application of IFRS 7 in 2007 would not have
affected the balance sheet or income statement as the standard is concerned only with disclosure. The Group and parent Company
plan to adopt it in the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2010.

Revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, net of returns, trade discounts and volume rebates.
Revenue is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the hire. Revenue from the sale of goods is
recognised in the income statement when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer. Transfers of
risks and rewards are consistent across all hire contracts. Transfer occurs when the product is received at the customer’s location.

Depreciation
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is charged to the income statement so as to write off the cost of the assets over the
estimated useful lives after taking account of estimated residual values. Residual values are reassessed annually. Land is not depreciated.
Hire equipment assets are depreciated so as to write them down to their residual value over their normal working lives which range from
three to fifteen years depending on the category of the asset. Losses and disposals of such assets are accounted for on a FIFO basis.
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The principal rates and methods of depreciation used are as follows:

� Hire equipment
Tools and general equipment – between three and seven years straight-line
Surveying equipment – five years straight-line
Power equipment – between five and ten years straight-line
Accommodation and storage units – between eight and fifteen years straight-line

� Non-hire assets
Freehold buildings, and long leasehold improvements – over the shorter of the lease period and 50 years straight-line
Short leasehold property improvements – over the period of the lease
Fixtures and fittings and office equipment (excluding IT) – 25%–45% per annum reducing balance
IT equipment and software – between three and five years straight-line, or over the period 

of software licence (if shorter)
Motor vehicles – 25% per annum reducing balance

Start-up expenses and lease incentives
Legal and start-up expenses incurred in respect of new hire depots are written off as incurred. 

Premiums paid or incentives received (including rent-free periods extending beyond a depot’s opening date) on the acquisition of trading
locations are written off over the period of the lease. 

Leases
Leases in which the Group assumes substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. These assets
are included in the balance sheet at the lower of the fair value or present value of minimum lease payments at inception and are
depreciated accordingly. The capital element of the corresponding financing commitments is included in the Balance Sheet. 

Lease payments in respect of finance leases are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability.
The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability.

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease
incentives received are recognised in the income statement as an integral part of the total lease expense.

Financing income and costs
Financing costs comprise interest payable on borrowings, and gains and losses on financial instruments that are recognised in the Income
Statement (see below).

Interest income is recognised in the income statement as it accrues, using the effective interest rate.

Interest payable on borrowings includes a charge in respect of attributable transaction costs, which are recognised in the Income
Statement over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis. The interest expense component of finance lease payments is
recognised in the income statement using the lease’s implicit interest rate.

Income tax
Income tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised
in equity. Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates substantively enacted at the Balance Sheet
date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are
not provided for: goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities affecting neither accounting nor
taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable
future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the
related tax benefit will be realised. 
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Segment reporting
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged in providing products or services (business segment) or in
providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards
that are different from those of other segments. 

The Group primarily analyses its activities based on class of business. Its operational activities are undertaken within the UK and Republic
of Ireland, and accordingly the Group’s operating activities are derived from only one geographical segment.

Property, plant and equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the
cost of materials, direct labour, and an appropriate proportion of directly attributable overheads.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful economic lives, those components are accounted for as
separate items of property, plant and equipment.

Intangible assets
As part of its transition to IFRS, the Group elected to restate only those business combinations that occurred on or after 1 April 2004. In
respect of acquisitions prior to 1 April 2004, goodwill represents the amount recognised under the Group’s previous accounting
framework, UK GAAP.

� Goodwill
All business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method. In respect of acquisitions since 1 April 2004, goodwill
represents the difference between the cost of acquisition and the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
acquired. 

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses, and is included as an intangible asset. It is allocated to cash-
generating units and is tested annually for impairment. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of
goodwill relating to the entity sold.

� Other intangible assets
Intangible assets other than goodwill that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses (see note 11). 

Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands is recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred.

� Amortisation
Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful economic lives of identified
intangible assets. Intangible assets excluding goodwill are amortised from the date that they are available for use. For a number of its
acquisitions, the Group has identified intangible assets in respect of sole supply contracts, customer lists, brands and non-compete
agreements. The values of these intangibles are recognised as part of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
acquired. The useful lives are estimated as follows:

Sole supply contracts – over the unexpired period of the contracts, up to five years
Customer lists – ten years
Brand – over the period of use in the business, up to four years
Non-compete agreements – over the period of the agreement 

Impairments
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventory and deferred tax, are reviewed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset
is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash flows of the
identified cash-generating units are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that are largely independent from the other assets
and groups. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis.

15110SPEEDYHI:15110SPEEDYHI  13/6/08  10:33  Page 70



Speedy Hire Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2008 71

15110 04/06/2008 Proof 5

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are
assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no
impairment loss had been recognised.

Own shares held by ESOP trust
Transactions of the Company-sponsored ESOP trust are treated as being those of the Company and are therefore reflected in the parent
Company and Group financial statements. In particular, the Trust’s purchase of shares in the Company are debited directly to equity.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and, where appropriate, overheads
that have been incurred in bringing the inventory to its present location and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

Derivative financial instruments 
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to interest rate risks arising from financing activities. In accordance
with its treasury policy, the Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes; however, derivatives that do
not qualify for hedge accounting are accounted for as trading instruments and the movement in fair value is recognised in the Income
Statement.

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, changes in the fair value of the derivative hedging instrument designated as a cash flow hedge are recognised directly
in equity to the extent that the hedge is effective. To the extent that the hedge is ineffective, changes in fair value are recognised in profit 
or loss.

If the hedging instrument expires, no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, is sold, is terminated or is exercised, then hedge
accounting is discontinued prospectively. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity remains there until the forecast
transaction occurs. When the hedged item is a non-financial asset, the amount recognised in equity is transferred to the carrying amount
of the asset when it is recognised. In other cases the amount recognised in equity is transferred to profit or loss in the same period that
the hedged items affects profit or loss. 

Intra-Group financial instruments
Where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other companies within its Group, the
Company considers these to be insurance arrangements and accounts for them as such. In this respect the Company treats the
guarantee contract as a contingent liability until such time as it becomes probable that the Company will be required to make a payment
under the guarantee.

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are stated at their nominal amount less impairment losses.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and overnight deposits.

Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-
bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and redemption value being recognised in the income
statement over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

Translation of foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing at the transaction date. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated into sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.
Exchange gains and losses arising on settlement or retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are included in the income statement.

Assets and liabilities of overseas subsidiaries are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. The results of
overseas subsidiary undertakings are translated into sterling at the average rates of exchange during the period. Exchange differences
resulting from the translation of the results and balances of overseas subsidiary undertakings are charged or credited directly to the
Foreign Currency translation reserve. Such translation differences become recognised in the Income Statement in the period in which the
subsidiary undertaking is disposed.
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Employee benefits
� Pension schemes

The Group offers a stakeholder pension arrangement to employees and in addition makes contributions to personal pension schemes
for certain employees. Obligations for contributions to these defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the
Income Statement as incurred.

� Share-based payment transactions
The Group operates a number of schemes which allow certain employees to acquire shares in the Company, including the
Performance Plan, the Co-investment Plan, and the All Employee Share Scheme. The fair value of options granted is recognised as an
employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and spread over the period during
which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. The fair value of the options granted is measured, using an
appropriate option pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that vest except where forfeiture is only due to
total shareholder return not achieving the threshold for vesting.

Provisions
A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event,
the obligation can be measured reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If
the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

Significant judgements and estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

In relation to the Group’s property, plant and equipment (note 12), useful economic lives and residual values of assets have been
established using historical experience and an assessment of the nature of the assets involved. Assets are assessed on an ongoing basis
to determine whether circumstances exist that could lead to potential impairment of the carrying value of such assets. No circumstances
have been identified to suggest that this is the case.

The Group has a number of properties which are leased but no longer occupied. The future cost of these ongoing lease obligations is
provided for by way of an onerous property contract provision (see note 19). In determining the level of provision required, the Group
assesses the likelihood of mitigating future lease costs as a result of break clauses in leases, or the likelihood of sub-letting the property to
third parties. In doing so, the Group obtains external professional advice where the amounts involved are material.

Goodwill is reviewed annually to assess the requirement for impairment. Other intangible assets are assessed on an ongoing basis to
determine whether circumstances exist that could lead to the conclusion that the carrying value of such assets is not supportable.
Impairment testing on goodwill is carried out in accordance with the analyses described in note 11. Such calculations require judgement
relating to the appropriate discount factors and long-term growth prevalent in particular markets as well as short-term business
performance. The Directors draw upon experience as well as external resources in making these judgements.

The charge for share-based payment is calculated in accordance with the analysis described in note 23. The option valuation models
used require subjective assumptions to be made including the future volatility of the Company’s share price, expected dividend yields, 
risk-free interest rates and expected staff turnover. The Directors draw upon a variety of external sources to aid in the determination of the
appropriate data to use in such calculations.

Upon acquisition of a business, its identifiable assets and liabilities are assessed to determine their fair value. The values attributed to
assets and liabilities as part of this process are, where appropriate, based on market values identified for equivalent assets, together with
management’s experience and assessments. Where possible, for example in respect of the acquisition of hire assets, comparison is
made to the market value of assets of a similar condition and age in the existing business. 
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2 Segmental analysis
The Group’s primary segmental reporting format is class of business, as the Group’s management and internal reporting are structured in
this manner. The Group’s activity is conducted solely within the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland.

Tools Equipment Total
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Analysis of segmental result
Total revenue 257.8 175.5 217.3 166.6 475.1 342.1
Intra-Group revenue (1.2) (0.8) (8.4) (5.8) (9.6) (6.6)

Revenue 256.6 174.7 208.9 160.8 465.5 335.5

Segmental result before exceptional integration
costs, depreciation and amortisation 67.8 50.5 69.9 56.3 137.7 106.8

Exceptional integration costs (10.0) – – – (10.0) –
Depreciation (33.0) (22.8) (29.9) (25.0) (62.9) (47.8)
Amortisation (2.0) (0.4) (5.2) (3.7) (7.2) (4.1)

Result before corporate costs 22.8 27.3 34.8 27.6 57.6 54.9

Corporate costs (10.8) (9.0)

Operating profit 46.8 45.9
Net financing costs (16.3) (9.5)

Profit before tax 30.5 36.4
Taxation (6.1) (9.8)

Profit for the year 24.4 26.6

Tools Equipment Total
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Analysis of segment net assets
Segmental non-current assets

Intangible assets 59.8 7.0 67.2 64.3 127.0 71.3
Property, plant and equipment 177.4 119.4 169.3 156.5 346.7 275.9

237.2 126.4 236.5 220.8 473.7 347.2
Segmental current assets 82.7 66.3 94.7 51.7 177.4 118.0

Segmental total assets 319.9 192.7 331.2 272.5 651.1 465.2

Cash and cash equivalents 4.4 10.3
Unallocated assets 10.5 14.6

Total assets 666.0 490.1

Segmental liabilities (91.0) (46.1) (55.1) (51.3) (146.1) (97.4)
Borrowings (260.0) (186.5)
Unallocated liabilities (19.8) (35.1)

Total liabilities (425.9) (319.0)

Net assets 240.1 171.1
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2 Segmental analysis (continued)
Tools Equipment Total

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Analysis of capital expenditure
Property, plant and equipment 120.1 38.7 37.9 71.1 158.0 109.8
Intangible assets 60.7 – 2.2 51.5 62.9 51.5

Segmental capital expenditure 180.8 38.7 40.1 122.6 220.9 161.3

Unallocated capital expenditure 13.4 7.5

Total capital expenditure 234.3 168.8

Intra-Group transactions are undertaken on an arm’s length basis. Corporate costs comprise the costs of operating the head office of
Speedy Hire Plc and also certain central activities. These are not directly related to the activities of the segments.

The financing of the Group’s activities is undertaken at head office level and consequently net financing costs cannot be analysed
segmentally. The unallocated net assets comprise principally computer and information systems, working capital balances held by the
Support Services function and liabilities relating to dividends and taxation and are not directly attributable to the activities of the segments.

3 Exceptional integration costs
‘Integration costs’ relate to the costs associated with the integration of the Hewden Tools acquisition. On 1 August 2007, the Group acquired
the trade and assets of the tool hire operation of the tool hire operations of Hewden Stuart Plc. The costs incurred in the year relate to a
provision for lease costs associated with properties made vacant by the relocation into the other depots within the tool network (£2.9m), a
write-off of related fixtures and fittings in the closed depots (£1.3m), re-branding and sales and marketing costs (£1.5m), costs associated
with the transitional services agreement (£1.2m), together with consultancy and other one-off costs associated with the integration (£3.1m). 

In addition, and in connection with the acquisition, the Group renegotiated its banking facilities, increasing the available facilities to £325m.
Costs associated with the original bank facility amounting to £0.4m which were being charged to profit over the life of the facility have
been written off during the year. 

The resulting tax credit arising from integration costs and bank arrangement fees amounted to £3.1m. Further details of the acquisition are
contained in note 24. A description of the progress made on the integration programme is included in the operating and financial review on
pages 22 to 29.

4 Operating profit
Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting):

2008 2007
£m £m

Amortisation of intangible assets 7.2 4.1
Depreciation of owned property, plant and equipment 67.6 50.3
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (9.7) (7.0)
Amortisation of capitalised finance costs 0.9 0.2
Operating lease rentals

– of plant and equipment 1.2 1.1
– of land and buildings 12.8 9.0
– of vehicles 12.8 8.9

Auditors’ remuneration
– Audit of these financial statements 0.2 0.1
– Amounts receivable by auditors in respect of:

– audit of financial statements of subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 0.1 0.1
– services relating to consultancy advice provided in connection with acquisitions 1.0 –
– other services relating to taxation 0.2 0.3

The profit on disposal of hire equipment is included within profit before financing as it results from the routine disposal of tools and
equipment and is no more than required adjustments to depreciation previously charged.

In addition to the amounts charged to the income statement, £nil (2007: £176,000) paid to auditors in respect of due diligence services
was capitalised as part of the costs of acquisitions.

Auditors’ remuneration includes £15,000 (2007: £14,000) for audit services and £nil (2007: £11,000) for non-audit services in respect of 
the Company.
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5 Employees
The average number of people employed by the Group (including Directors) during the year was as follows: 

Number of employees
2008 2007

Tools 2,856 2,161
Equipment 1,452 1,267
Central 384 145

4,692 3,573

The aggregate payroll costs of these employees were as follows:
2008 2007
£m £m

Wages and salaries 150.8 86.1
Share-based payments 2.5 1.7
Social security costs 11.6 9.7
Other pension costs 0.6 0.4

165.5 97.9

There are no employees of the Company.

6 Directors’ remuneration
2008 2007
£000 £000

Directors’ emoluments
Basic remuneration, including benefits 1,077 914
Performance-related bonuses 749 657
Payments to former Directors 48 48
Company pension contributions to personal pension plans 130 95

2,004 1,714

Emolument of the highest paid Director
Basic remuneration, including benefits 335 311
Performance-related bonuses 303 281
Company pension contributions to personal pension plans 65 45

703 637

Further analysis of Directors’ remuneration can be found in the Remuneration Report on pages 50 to 58.

All of the Directors’ remuneration is paid by Speedy Support Services Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Speedy Hire Plc. No charge 
is incurred by the parent Company.

7 Financial income and expense
2008 2007
£m £m

Financial income
Bank interest received 0.2 0.2
Gains on hedging investments – 0.2
Other interest received 0.7 –

0.9 0.4

Financial expense
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts (16.1) (9.7)
Amortisation of issue costs (0.5) (0.2)
Exceptional amortisation of issue costs (0.4) –
Other finance costs (0.2) –

(17.2) (9.9)

Net financial expense (16.3) (9.5)
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8 Taxation
2008 2007
£m £m

Current tax
UK corporation tax on profits for the year at 30% (2007: 30%) 4.2 7.8
Adjustment in respect of prior years 0.4 (1.8)

Total current tax 4.6 6.0

Deferred tax
UK deferred tax at 28% (2007: 30%) 2.8 4.0
Adjustment in respect of prior years (1.3) (0.2)

Total deferred tax 1.5 3.8

Total tax expense 6.1 9.8

The tax charge for the year is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK and is explained as follows:

2008 2007
£m £m

Profit before tax 30.5 36.4

Tax charge at 30% (2007: 30%) 9.2 10.9

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1.8 1.7
Non-taxable income (0.9) (1.0)
Impact of change in UK corporation tax rate to 28% on deferred tax (2.6) –
Share-based payments (0.5) –
Non-qualifying depreciation – 0.2
Adjustments to tax in respect of prior years (0.9) (2.0)

Tax charge for the year 6.1 9.8

Tax recognised directly in equity (note 20)
Deferred tax charge/(credit) 1.1 (0.9)

9 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is based on the profit after income tax attributable to equity holders of the Parent of £23.3m (2007: £26.6m) and
the weighted average number of 5 pence ordinary shares in issue during the year of 48,764,167 (2007: 45,194,250).

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used for the diluted earnings per share is calculated as follows:

2008 2007
Weighted Weighted
average Earnings average Earnings

number of per number of per
Earnings shares share Earnings shares share

£m million pence £m million pence

Basic earnings 23.3 48.8 47.89 26.6 45.2 58.74
Share options – 0.3 (0.07) – 0.4 (0.55)
Employee share scheme – 0.1 (0.33) – 0.3 (0.41)

Diluted earnings 23.3 49.2 47.49 26.6 45.9 57.78

The table below reconciles basic earnings per share to earnings per share pre-amortisation and integration costs:

2008 2007
pence pence

Basic earnings per share 47.89 58.74
Intangible amortisation charge after tax per share 10.31 6.26
Exceptional integration costs 14.99 –

Basic earnings per share pre-amortisation and exceptional integration costs 73.19 65.00
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10 Dividends 
The aggregate amount of dividend comprises:

2008 2007
£m £m

2007 final – 11.5p (2007: 9.4p) per share on 48.2m shares (2007: 45.2m) 5.5 4.2
2008 interim – 6.4p (2007: 5.5p) per share on 50.4m shares (2007: 45.4m) 3.2 2.5

Aggregate amount of dividends paid in the financial year 8.7 6.7

Subsequent to the end of the year, the Directors declared a final dividend of 13.4 pence (2007: 11.5 pence) per share, bringing the total
amount payable in respect of the 2008 year to 19.8 pence (2007: 17.0 pence).

The Employee Benefit Trust established to hold shares for the Long Term Incentive Plans has waived its right to the interim and final
proposed dividends. At 31 March 2008, the trust held 383,366 5p ordinary shares (2007: 633,788).

11 Intangible fixed assets
Customer Non-compete Supply

Goodwill lists agreements Brand agreements Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Cost
At 31 March 2006 15.0 3.5 – 0.4 9.0 27.9
Additions through business combinations 33.1 15.0 – 3.4 – 51.5

At 31 March 2007 48.1 18.5 – 3.8 9.0 79.4
Additions through business combinations 39.3 13.0 4.6 0.3 5.7 62.9

At 31 March 2008 87.4 31.5 4.6 4.1 14.7 142.3

Amortisation and impairment
At 31 March 2006 (1.2) – – – (2.8) (4.0)
Charged in year – (1.6) – (0.7) (1.8) (4.1)

At 31 March 2007 (1.2) (1.6) – (0.7) (4.6) (8.1)
Charged in year – (2.7) (0.8) (2.2) (1.5) (7.2)

At 31 March 2008 (1.2) (4.3) (0.8) (2.9) (6.1) (15.3)

Net book value
At 31 March 2008 86.2 27.2 3.8 1.2 8.6 127.0

At 31 March 2007 46.9 16.9 – 3.1 4.4 71.3

At 31 March 2006 13.8 3.5 – 0.4 6.2 23.9

Of the intangibles net book value total of £127.0m, £51.8m relates to the Hewden acquisition. The trade and assets acquired as a result
of this business combination have been integrated into the Tool hire division during the year. The intangibles attaching to this cash-
generating unit total £59.8m at the year end. Impairment testing for this cash-generating unit has been carried out in line with procedures
set out below. The annual revenue growth rate assumed in the three year period to March 2011 is 9.8%.

Of the total NBV of goodwill as at 31 March 2008, £39.3m relates to 2008 acquisitions, £33.1m to 2007 acquisitions, and £13.8m to
acquisitions completed prior to 1 April 2007.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups of cash-generating units according to the level at which management
monitor that goodwill. Recoverable amounts for cash-generating units are based on values in use, which are calculated using cash flow
projections for a fifteen year period. The key assumptions in preparing the cash flow projections are discount rates, growth rates, and
expected changes in margins. The projections are based on business plans approved by management covering the three year period to
March 2011, and assume inflationary growth in revenues with no margin improvement for the following twelve years. As at 31 March
2008, based on the valuations performed, the Directors concluded that the realisable value of the cash-generating units significantly
exceeded their carrying value.

A weighted average cost of capital of 9.4% has been used to determine the discounted net present value of the cash flows.
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12 Property, plant and equipment
Fixtures,

Land and Hire fittings and
buildings equipment motor vehicles Total

£m £m £m £m

Cost
At 31 March 2006 16.5 340.0 16.3 372.8
Additions 4.7 82.3 6.3 93.3
Arising on acquisition of businesses 0.2 40.4 8.4 49.0
Disposals (1.0) (24.4) (2.4) (27.8)

At 31 March 2007 20.4 438.3 28.6 487.3
Additions 4.0 85.9 14.2 104.1
Arising on acquisition of businesses 0.7 93.3 14.7 108.7
Disposals (0.3) (45.8) (7.7) (53.8)

At 31 March 2008 24.8 571.7 49.8 646.3

Depreciation
At 31 March 2006 6.8 116.6 8.0 131.4
Charged in year 2.5 45.3 2.5 50.3
Arising on acquisition of businesses 0.1 18.9 6.0 25.0
Disposals (0.1) (12.9) (2.1) (15.1)

At 31 March 2007 9.3 167.9 14.4 191.6
Charged in year 3.2 60.7 3.7 67.6
Arising on acquisition of businesses 0.2 34.0 7.2 41.4
Disposals (0.1) (27.0) (2.0) (29.1)

At 31 March 2008 12.6 235.6 23.3 271.5

Net book value
At 31 March 2008 12.2 336.1 26.5 374.8

At 31 March 2007 11.1 270.4 14.2 295.7

At 31 March 2006 9.7 223.4 8.3 241.4

The net book value of land and buildings comprises:
2008 2007
£m £m

Freehold properties 2.2 1.0
Long leasehold properties 0.4 0.2
Short leasehold properties 9.6 9.9

12.2 11.1

2.2
0.4
9.6

12.2

At 31 March 2008 12.2 336.1 26.5 374.8
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13 Investments
Investments in

subsidiary Other
undertakings investments Total

£m £m £m

Cost
At 31 March 2006 23.6 0.1 23.7
Additions 83.1 – 83.1

At 31 March 2007 106.7 0.1 106.8

Additions 5.0 – 5.0

At 31 March 2008 111.7 0.1 111.8

Provisions
At 31 March 2006, 2007 and 2008 (0.1) – (0.1)

Net book value
At 31 March 2008 111.6 0.1 111.7

At 31 March 2007 106.6 0.1 106.7

At 31 March 2006 23.5 0.1 23.6

In accordance with s251 of the Companies Act 1985, the Company’s principal subsidiary undertakings are as follows:

Ordinary
Principal share capital

activity held

Speedy Hire Centres (Northern) Limited Hire services 100%
Speedy Hire Centres (Southern) Limited Hire services 100%
Speedy Hire Centres (Western) Limited Hire services 100%
Speedy Hire Centres Limited Hire services 100%
Speedy Hire (Scotland) Limited Hire services 100%
Speedy Hire (Ireland) Limited* Hire services 100%
Waterford Hire Services Limited Hire services 100%
Speedy Hire Direct Limited* Hire services 100%
Speedy Lifting Limited Hire services 100%
Speedy LGH Limited Hire services 100%
Speedy Space Limited Hire services 100%
Speedy Power Limited Hire services 100%
Speedy LCH Generators Limited Hire services 100%
Speedy Pumps Limited Hire services 100%
Speedy Engineering Services Limited Hire services 100%
Speedy Support Services Limited Provision of Group services 100%
Speedy Transport Limited Provision of Group services 100%
Allen Investments Limited Property management 100%
Speedy Asset Leasing Limited Leasing services 75%

* Indirect holding via a 100% subsidiary undertaking

The Company holds voting rights in each subsidiary undertaking in the same proportion to its holdings in the ordinary share capital of 
the respective subsidiaries. All subsidiary undertakings, with the exception of Speedy Hire (Ireland) Limited and Waterford Hire Services
Limited, are incorporated and operate in the United Kingdom. Speedy Hire (Ireland) Limited and Waterford Hire Services Limited are
incorporated and operate in the Republic of Ireland.

14 Inventories
Group

2008 2007
£m £m

Finished goods and goods for resale 16.2 10.916.2
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15 Trade and other receivables
Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m

Trade receivables 128.4 84.5 0.1 0.3
Amounts owed by Group undertakings – – 332.3 182.4
Other receivables 6.7 3.5 0.3 1.4
Prepayments and accrued income 8.5 13.2 4.9 2.5

143.6 101.2 337.6 186.6

16 Trade and other payables
Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m

Trade payables 63.4 40.5 0.1 0.5
Amounts owed to Group undertakings – – 13.3 13.0
Other payables 11.4 10.9 – –
Accruals 45.2 40.4 6.6 2.5

120.0 91.8 20.0 16.0

17 Financial instruments
The Group holds and uses financial instruments to finance its operations and to manage its interest rate and liquidity risks. The Group
primarily finances its operations using share capital, retained profits and borrowings. The Group had available a £325m term and revolving
credit facility, and a £5m overdraft facility as at 31 March 2008.

The Group does not engage in trading or speculative activities using derivative financial instruments. A Group offset arrangement exists for
cash balances to take advantage of the most rewarding short-term investment opportunities.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
There are no significant differences between the fair values and book values of financial assets and liabilities.

The principal methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments are as follows:

(a) Derivatives
Broker quotes are used for all interest rate swaps, caps and collars.

(b) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Fair value is calculated based on discounted expected future principal and interest cash flows.

(c) Trade and other receivables/payables
For receivables/payables with a remaining life of less than one year, the notional amount is deemed to reflect the fair value. All other
receivables/payables are discounted to determine the fair value.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit, interest rate, foreign currency, and liquidity risk. The Board reviews
and agrees the policies for managing each of these risks on an annual basis.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers. 

The exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over a
certain amount. 

At the balance sheet date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by
the carrying amount of each financial asset, including derivative financial instruments, in the balance sheet. No individual customer
accounts for more than 4% of the Group’s sales transactions. No collateral is held as security in respect of amounts outstanding,
however, in a number of instances, deposits are held against the value of hire equipment provided. The extent of deposit taken is
assessed on a case-by-case basis, and is not considered significant in comparison to the overall amounts receivable from customers.
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17 Financial instruments (continued)
Transactions involving derivative financial instruments are undertaken with counterparties within the syndicate of banks which provide the
Group’s revolving credit facility. Given their high credit ratings, management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its
obligations. The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that is based on historical experience of dealing with customers within the
same risk profile. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset recorded in the
balance sheet. 

There are £53.8m of trade receivables that are past due at the balance sheet date that have not been provided against. There is no
indication as at 31 March 2008 that debtors will not meet their payment obligations in respect of trade receivables recognised in the
balance sheet that are past due and unprovided. The ageing of trade receivables (net of impairment provision) at the end of the year was
as follows:

2008 2007
Group £m £m

Not past due 74.6 52.9
Past due 0–30 days 25.1 19.5
Past due 31–120 days 24.9 11.9
Past due 121–365 days 3.8 0.2

128.4 84.5

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

2008 2007
Group £m £m

As at 1 April 2.6 2.3
Impairment loss charged to the income statement 5.3 3.5
Arising on acquisition 4.9 –
Written off in year (2.8) (3.2)

As at 31 March 2008 10.0 2.6

Liquidity risk
At 31 March 2008 the total bank facilities comprised a £325m revolving credit facility and a £5m overdraft facility. Of these facilities, £70m
remained unutilised at the balance sheet date comprising £65m of the revolving credit facility and £5m of the overdraft facility. 

The term and revolving loan facility was entered into in June 2007 and is sub-divided into:

(i) A Facility of £100m, which is repayable in three annual instalments of £10m commencing in June 2009, with the remaining £70m
being due for repayment in June 2012; and

(ii) B Facility of £225m repayable on the fifth anniversary of the issue date.

The Group’s overdrafts are secured by cross guarantees and debentures given by Group companies in favour of Barclays Bank PLC. 
The revolving credit facility is secured by a fixed and floating charge over all the assets of the Group.

The Group monitors available facilities against forward requirements on a regular basis and where necessary, obtains additional sources of
financing to provide the Group with the appropriate level of headroom against the required borrowing. The Group has obtained additional
bank and equity funding in recent years as the business has grown, and maintains close contact with its syndicate of banks.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates, will affect the Group’s income or
the value of its holdings of financial instruments. Generally, the Group seeks to apply hedge accounting in order to manage volatility in
profit.

� Currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk on sales and purchases denominated in euros, primarily as a result of trading in the Republic of
Ireland through its subsidiary companies, Speedy Hire (Ireland) Limited and Waterford Hire Services Limited. It is the Group’s policy to
review the net investment in both companies on a regular basis, and to hedge against potential exposures to movements in foreign
currency where considered appropriate. At 31 March 2008, the total shareholders’ equity of Speedy Hire (Ireland) Limited had net liabilities
of £1.5m (2007: £0.9m) and Waterford Hire Services Limited had net assets of £1.5m and no hedging instruments are in place to cover
potential movements in foreign currency.

74.6
25.1
24.9
3.8

128.4

2.6
5.3
4.9
(2.8)

10.0
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17 Financial instruments (continued)

� Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to a risk of a change in cash flows due to changes in interest rates as a result of its use of variable rate borrowings.
The Group’s policy is to review regularly the terms of its borrowing facilities, and to assess and manage the long-term borrowing
commitment accordingly, and to put in place interest rate hedges to reduce the Group’s exposure to significant fluctuations in interest
rates. The Group adopts a policy of ensuring that between 40% and 70% of its borrowings are covered by some sort of interest rate
hedge. The principal derivative financial instruments used by the Group are interest rate swaps, caps and collars. The notional contract
amount and the related fair value of the Group’s financial instruments can be analysed as follows.

� Sensitivity analysis 
In managing interest rate and currency risk the Group aims to reduce the impact of short-term fluctuation on the Group’s earnings. Over
the longer-term, however, permanent changes in foreign exchange and interest rates would have an impact on consolidated earnings.

At 31 March 2008 it is estimated that a general increase of one percentage point in interest rates would decrease the Group’s profit before
tax by approximately £1.3m. Interest rate swaps, caps and collars have been included in this calculation.

2008 2008 2007 2007
Fair value Notional amount Fair value Notional amount

Group and Company £m £m £m £m

Designated as cash flow hedges
Fixed interest rate swaps (0.1) 45.0 0.5 55.0
Interest rate collars (0.4) 82.0 – 20.0
Interest rate caps – 25.0 – 25.0

(0.5) 152.0 0.5 100.0
Other instruments
Fixed interest rate swaps – – 0.1 5.0
Interest rate collars – – – 12.0
Interest rate caps – – 0.1 5.0

– – 0.2 22.0

(0.5) 152.0 0.7 122.0

The weighted average interest rate of the fixed interest rate hedge is 5.251% (2007: 5.128%) and the instruments are for a weighted
average period of 21 months (2007: 18 months).

Collar instruments bear interest rates between 4.010% and 6.500% (2007: between 3.820% and 6.500%), for a weighted average period
of 23 months (2007: 25 months).

Capped rate instruments bear a weighted average maximum interest rate of 5.845% (2007: 5.845%) for a weighted average period of 22
months (2007: 23 months).

(0.1) 45.0
(0.4) 82.0

– 25.0

(0.5) 152.0

– –
– –
– –

– –

(0.5) 152.0
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18 Borrowings
The Group’s bank overdrafts are secured by cross guarantees and debentures given by Group companies in favour of Barclays 
Bank PLC. 

The bank loans are secured by a fixed and floating charge over all the assets of the Group.

The maturity profile of the borrowings is as follows:

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m

Current borrowings
– bank overdraft – – 14.0 –
Non-current borrowings
Maturing between two and five years
– term loan 100.0 – 100.0 –
– revolving credit facility 161.8 187.0 161.8 188.1
– unamortised issue costs (1.8) (0.5) (1.8) (0.5)

Total non-current borrowings 260.0 186.5 260.0 187.6

Total borrowings 260.0 186.5 274.0 187.6
Less: cash at bank and in hand (4.4) (10.3) – (3.6)

Net debt 255.6 176.2 274.0 184.0

The revolving credit facility can be drawn for various periods specified by the Company, up to the maturity date, with interest being
calculated for the drawn period by reference to the London Inter Bank Offer Rate applicable to the period drawn, plus a margin, which
during the year ranged from 57.5 to 95.0 basis points. The effective interest rate applicable to cash deposits during the year was 4.91%.
The effective interest rates on bank overdrafts, and term loans and revolving credit facilities were 6.29% and 6.73% respectively.

19 Provisions
Onerous
property

contracts
Group £m

As at 1 April 2006 and 2007 –
Created in the year 2.9
Provision utilised in year (0.7)

As at 31 March 2008 2.2

The onerous property contract provision arose following the acquisition of the Hewden Tools business and the subsequent decision to
close a number of the depots within the Tools division (see note 3).

Of the total identified above, £1.0m is due within 1 year.

15110SPEEDYHI:15110SPEEDYHI  13/6/08  10:33  Page 83



15110

84 Speedy Hire Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2008

15110 04/06/2008 Proof 5

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2008

20 Deferred tax
Property,
plant and Intangible Share-based

equipment assets payments Other items Total
Group £m £m £m £m £m

1 April 2006 24.5 1.3 (0.9) (0.6) 24.3
Recognised on acquisition 2.0 5.5 – – 7.5
Recognised in income 4.2 0.3 (0.5) (0.2) 3.8
Recognised in equity – – (0.9) – (0.9)

At 31 March 2007 30.7 7.1 (2.3) (0.8) 34.7
Recognised in income 3.0 (1.6) 0.5 (0.4) 1.5
Recognised in equity – – 1.1 – 1.1

At 31 March 2008 33.7 5.5 (0.7) (1.2) 37.3

The Group has capital losses carried forward at 31 March 2008 amounting to approximately £4.0m (2007: £7.0m). No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of these losses.

Share-based 
payments Other items Total

Company £m £m £m

1 April 2006 (0.9) – (0.9)
Recognised in income 0.5 – 0.5
Recognised in equity 0.4 – 0.4

At 31 March 2007 – – –
Recognised in income – (0.2) (0.2)

At 31 March 2008 – (0.2) (0.2)

21 Share capital 
Called up share capital

2008 2007
£m £m

Authorised
60 million (2007: 60 million) ordinary shares of 5p each 3.0 3.0

Allotted, called up and fully paid
50.8 million (2007: 46.0 million) ordinary shares of 5p each 2.5 2.3

An Employee Benefit Trust was established in 2004 (the “Trust”). The Trust holds shares issued by the Company in connection with the
Performance Plan and Co-investment Plan. During the year the Company allotted nil (2007: nil) shares to the Trust. 250,422 shares were
transferred to employees during the year (2007: nil). At 31 March 2008, the Trust held 383,366 (2007: 633,788) shares.

The movement in issued share capital was as follows:
Number

million £m

As at 1 April 2006 45.3 2.3
Placing of ordinary shares 0.7 –

At 31 March 2007 46.0 2.3
Qualifying employee share ownership trust allotments 0.4 –
Placing of ordinary shares 4.4 0.2

At 31 March 2008 50.8 2.5
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22 Reconciliation of movement in equity
Consolidated equity

Share Share Merger Hedging Retained Minority Total
capital premium reserve reserve earnings Subtotal interest equity

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Total equity as at 
1 April 2006 2.3 51.0 3.7 – 84.1 141.1 0.2 141.3
Profit for the year – – – – 26.6 26.6 – 26.6
Dividends – – – – (6.7) (6.7) (6.7)
Gains on cash flow hedges – – – 0.5 – 0.5 – 0.5
Cost of share-based 
payments – – – – 1.7 1.7 – 1.7
Tax on items taken 
directly to equity – – – – 0.9 0.9 – 0.9
Issue of ordinary shares – 6.8 – – – 6.8 – 6.8

Total equity as at 
31 March 2007 2.3 57.8 3.7 0.5 106.6 170.9 0.2 171.1
Profit for the year – – – – 23.3 23.3 1.1 24.4
Dividends – – – – (8.7) (8.7) – (8.7)
Losses on 
cash flow hedges – – – (1.2) – (1.2) – (1.2)
Cost of share-based 
payments – – – – 2.2 2.2 – 2.2
Tax on items taken 
directly to equity – – – – (1.1) (1.1) – (1.1)
Issue of ordinary shares 0.2 53.2 – – – 53.4 – 53.4

Total equity at 
31 March 2008 2.5 111.0 3.7 (0.7) 122.3 238.8 1.3 240.1

Costs of £2.8m relating to the issue of share capital during the year have been applied against the share premium account.

Company equity
Share Share Merger Hedging Retained Total

capital premium reserve reserve earnings equity
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Total equity as at 1 April 2006 2.3 51.0 8.6 – 20.8 82.7
Profit for the year – – – – 12.6 12.6
Dividends – – – – (6.7) (6.7)
Gains on cash flow hedges – – – 0.5 – 0.5
Cost of share-based payments – – – – 1.7 1.7
Tax on items taken directly to equity – – – – (0.4) (0.4)
Issue of ordinary shares – 6.8 – – – 6.8

Total equity as at 31 March 2007 2.3 57.8 8.6 0.5 28.0 97.2
Profit for the year – – – – 13.4 13.4
Dividends – – – – (8.7) (8.7)
Losses on cash flow hedges – – – (1.2) – (1.2)
Cost of share-based payments – – – – 2.2 2.2
Issue of ordinary shares 0.2 53.2 – – – 53.4

Total equity at 31 March 2008 2.5 111.0 8.6 (0.7) 34.9 156.3

31 March 2008 2.5 111.0 3.7 (0.7) 122.3 238.8 1.3 240.1
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23 Share options
At 31 March 2008, options over 1,331,958 shares (2007: 1,524,663 shares) were outstanding under employee share schemes. The
Group operates three share incentive schemes, which are described in the Remuneration report on page 53.

During the year 718,562 options were exercised by employees comprising 247,304 nil cost options in respect of the Co-Investment and
Performance Share Plans and 471,258 at 383 pence in respect of the SAYE scheme.

As at 31 March 2008 options to acquire 797,372 (2007: 891,822) Speedy Hire Plc shares were outstanding under the Speedy Hire Share 
Save Scheme. These options are exercisable by employees of the Group at prices between 383 pence and 940 pence at dates between
1 February 2008 and 31 July 2011.

As at 31 March 2008, options to acquire 659,728 shares (2007: 632,841 shares) were outstanding under the Performance and Co-
Investment Share Plans. These options are exercisable at effectively nil cost between June 2008 and June 2010.

The number and weighted average exercise price (“WAEP”) of share options under all share option schemes are as follows:

2008 2007
WAEP 2008 WAEP 2007
pence Number pence Number

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 311 1,524,663 312 1,122,717
Granted 605 912,136 349 497,142
Exercised 252 (718,562) 383 (669)
Lapsed 749 (261,137) 524 (94,527)

Outstanding at the end of the year 445 1,457,100 311 1,524.663

Exercisable at the end of the year 383 52,852 n/a Nil

Options outstanding at 31 March 2008 have weighted average remaining contractual lives as follows:

2008 2007
Years Years

Exercisable at nil pence 1.3 1.0
Exercisable at 383 pence 0.1 0.8
Exercisable at 624 pence 0.8 1.8
Exercisable at 673 pence 2.8 –
Exercisable at 857 pence 1.8 2.8
Exercisable at 940 pence 2.4 –

1.3
0.1
0.8
2.8
1.8
2.4
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23 Share options (continued)
The fair value of services received in return for share options granted and shares awarded is measured by reference to the fair value of
those instruments. The pricing models and inputs used for the outstanding options (on a weighted average basis where appropriate) are
as follows:

Speedy Hire Share Save Plan
December September December December December

2007 2007 2006 2005 2004

Pricing model used Stochastic Stochastic Stochastic Stochastic Black–Scholes
Fair value at issue 246p 366p 441p 331p 203p
Share price at issue 838p 1164p 1071p 780p 479p
Exercise price 673p 940p 857p 624p 383p
Share price volatility 25.5% 22.9% 22.9% 25.0% 26.1%
Option life 3.25 years 3.25 years 3 years 3 years 3 years
Expected dividend yield 2.14% 1.46% 1.25% 1.58% 2.01%
Risk-free interest rate 4.45% 5.27% 5.14% 4.2% –

Co-investment Plan
July July July

2007 2006 2005

Pricing model used Stochastic Stochastic Stochastic
Fair value at issue 1223p 888p 696p
Share price at issue 1223p 888p 732p
Exercise price Nil Nil Nil
Share price volatility – – –
Option life 3 years 3 years 3 years
Expected dividend yield 1.39% 1.61% 1.68%
Risk-free interest rate 1.58% 4.2% 4.1%

Performance Plan
July July July

2007 2006 2005

Pricing model used Stochastic Stochastic Stochastic
Fair value at issue 687p 426p 436p
Share price at issue 1223p 888p 732p
Exercise price Nil Nil Nil
Share price volatility 23.6% 22.4% 24.7%
Option life 3 years 3 years 3 years
Expected dividend yield 1.39% 1.61% 1.68%
Risk-free interest rate 5.8% 4.2% 4.1%
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24 Acquisitions
All acquisitions in the current and prior year have been accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting. A provisional
assessment has been made of the fair value to the Group of the assets and liabilities acquired on all acquisitions.

All acquisitions have either been, or are in the process of being, integrated into the existing Speedy Hire businesses. As such, it is not
possible to specifically identify revenue or operating profit arising from the acquisitions.

Hewden Tools
The Group acquired the trade and assets of the Hewden Tools business from Hewden Stuart Plc on 1 August 2007, for a total
consideration of £118m, comprising entirely cash and acquisition costs. The Hewden Tools business was a national network of 188
depots, with approximately 1,200 employees.

The initial fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired are as follows:

Book value at Accounting Fair value
acquisition policy alignment adjustment Fair value

£m £m £m £m

Intangible assets – – 17.9 17.9
Hire equipment assets 32.8 17.9 (0.4) 50.3
Other property, plant and equipment 7.9 – (0.5) 7.4
Inventory 1.9 – 0.3 2.2
Trade and other receivables 17.4 – (3.6) 13.8
Trade and other payables (9.4) – – (9.4)

50.6 17.9 13.7 82.2

Goodwill capitalised 35.8

Total consideration 118.0

Satisfied by:
– cash consideration 115.0
– costs of acquisition 3.0

118.0

The accounting policy alignment relates to the adjustment of fixed asset lives and residual values to bring the basis into line with the
Group’s own accounting policy.

An independent valuation to identify and determine the value of any intangible assets has been performed following the acquisition.
Separable intangible assets have been identified in respect of the business’s customer list (£13.0m) non-compete agreements (£4.6m)
and the use of the Hewden brand for the five-month period to 31 December 2007 (£0.3m). 

The customer list intangible has been valued using the “excess earnings” method, and is based on income forecast to be generated over
the next ten years. The valuation assumes that the customer attrition rate will be 12.4% per annum, based on management estimates
and historical rates recorded by the Company. Capital asset charges have been applied using risk-adjusted weighted average costs of
capital in respect of fixed assets, working capital and the workforce. Other assumptions used in the valuation include an assumed growth
in income from customers of 2.1% per annum. The customer list intangible is being amortised over ten years, which is considered to be
the period over which the majority of the benefits are expected to arise. The non-compete intangible has been valued using the
incremental income method, and is based on estimated income saved by virtue of the non-compete agreement over the contractual
period of three years. The brand intangible has been valued using the “relief-from-royalty” method, using a royalty rate of 1% of income for
the period of ownership. The intangible was amortised in full during the year as use of the trade name ceased in December 2007.

The Group completed a further three acquisitions during the year. The Group acquired the trade and certain assets of Network Plant
Limited for a total consideration of £2.0m in April 2007.

The Group acquired the entire share capital of Waterford Hire Services Limited, a Company registered in the Republic of Ireland, in July
2007. The Company is a long-standing, well-respected tool and equipment hire business, with two outlets in Waterford and Kilkenny in
the Republic of Ireland. Total consideration was a maximum of €6.5m, comprising €5.2m in cash and acquisition costs, together with a
maximum of 74,587 shares in Speedy Hire Plc.

In February 2008 the Group acquired the trade and certain assets of Amec Logistics and Support Services (“LSS”) for a total
consideration including fees of £12.7m. As part of the transaction, Amec’s industrial division has entered into a four year exclusive supply
agreement with Speedy to provide for hire a wide range of equipment in a variety of industrial related sectors. A preferred supplier
agreement has also been established for other UK Amec divisions.
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24 Acquisitions (continued)
The initial fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired in total from the three acquisitions are as follows:

Book value at Fair value
acquisition adjustment Fair value

£m £m £m

Intangible assets – 5.7 5.7
Hire equipment assets 9.1 0.4 9.5
Trade and other receivables 1.2 – 1.2
Trade and other payables (0.6) – (0.6)

9.7 6.1 15.8

Goodwill capitalised 4.2

Total consideration 20.0

Satisfied by:
– cash consideration 18.4
– shares in Speedy Hire Plc 0.4
– costs of acquisition 1.2

20.0

Intangible assets have been identified in respect of the supply contract relating to the Amec LSS acquisition. The contract is for a period of
four years and the intangible is being amortised over the life of the contract.

The fair value adjustments relate to the recognition of the supply contract intangible and the revaluation of certain property, plant and
equipment which was sold shortly after acquisition.

Goodwill has been recognised on the acquisitions as a result of their operational effectiveness in their marketplaces.

Acquisitions completed in the prior year were as follows:

LCH Generators Limited (“LCH”)
On 15 May 2006, the Group completed the acquisition of the entire share capital of LCH, the generator hire business to customers in
construction and industry. 

The fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired were as follows: 

Book value at Fair value
acquisition adjustment Fair value

£m £m £m

Intangible assets – 14.4 14.4
Hire equipment assets 20.4 (0.8) 19.6
Other property, plant and equipment 2.6 (0.6) 2.0
Inventory 2.0 – 2.0
Trade and other receivables 5.4 (0.1) 5.3
Corporation tax 0.5 – 0.5
Trade and other payables (9.0) – (9.0)
Deferred tax (2.1) (4.3) (6.4)

19.8 8.6 28.4

Goodwill capitalised 26.2

Total consideration 54.6

Satisfied by:
– cash consideration 36.7
– debt assumed on acquisition 13.1
– shares issued 4.4
– costs of acquisition 0.4

54.6
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24 Acquisitions (continued)
An independent valuation to identify and determine the value of any intangible assets has been performed following the acquisition.
Separable intangible assets have been identified in respect of the business’s customer list (£12m) and brand (£2.4m).

The customer list intangible has been valued using the “excess earnings” method, and is based on income forecast to be generated over
the next ten years. The valuation assumes that the customer attrition rate will be 12.4% per annum, based on management estimates
and historical rates recorded by the Company. Capital asset charges have been applied using risk-adjusted weighted average costs of
capital in respect of fixed assets, working capital and the workforce. Other assumptions used in the valuation include an assumed growth
in income from customers of 2.1% per annum, and a discounted rate applied to the resulting income stream of 12%. The customer list
intangible is being amortised over ten years, which is considered to the period over the majority of the benefits are expected to arise.

Lifting Gear Hire Limited (“Lifting Gear”)
On 30 October 2006, the Group completed the acquisition of the entire share of Lifting Gear, the specialist provider for the hire of lifting
equipment and associated services.

The fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired were as follows:

Book value at Fair value
acquisition adjustment Fair value

£m £m £m

Intangible assets – 4.0 4.0
Hire equipment assets 1.5 0.4 1.9
Other property, plant and equipment 0.4 0.1 0.5
Inventory 1.2 – 1.2
Trade and other receivables 4.4 – 4.4
Trade and other payables (3.5) – (3.5)
Deferred tax – (1.2) (1.2)

4.0 3.3 7.3

Goodwill capitalised 6.2

Total consideration 13.5

Satisfied by:
– cash consideration 6.9
– debt assumed on acquisition 3.4
– shares issued 2.4
– costs of acquisition 0.8

13.5

Intangible assets have been identified in respect of the business’s customer list (£3.0m) and brand (£1.0m). The valuations of the
intangibles are based on the “excess earnings” and “relief-from-royalty” methods respectively. Key assumptions in the customer list
valuation include the customer attrition rate, which has been estimated at 11% per annum. Income growth from existing customers is also
forecast to grow by 2.1% per annum, and the discount rate applied to the resulting income streams is 12%. The brand intangible has
been valued using the estimated royalty rate of 1%, discounted at a rate of 13%.

The fair value adjustments represent the alignment of accounting policies for depreciation, the recognition of intangible assets in respect of
customer lists and brands, and the revaluation of certain property, plant and equipment which was sold shortly after acquisition, together
with the related deferred taxation.

Goodwill arising on the acquisitions completed is attributed to the additional profitability created through access to new and extended
markets and from operating efficiencies expected to be generated in the existing business. 

During the year the Group received £0.7m as a result of finalising the consideration pending the completion account process. In
accordance with IFRS 3, the goodwill arising on acquisition has been reduced by a corresponding amount.
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25 Contingent liabilities
The Group has given warranties (including taxation warranties) to the purchasers of eight businesses disposed of over the last seven
years. These warranties expire at various dates up to seven years from the date of disposal.

26 Commitments
The Group had contracted capital commitments amounting to £4.5m (2007: £8.3m) at the end of the financial year for which no provision
has been made. 

The total of future minimum lease payment under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Land and buildings Other
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m

Total future minimum lease payments
– not later than one year 18.7 11.8 11.8 8.6
– later than one year and not later than five years 48.6 30.0 8.8 5.8
– later than five years 50.0 26.2 – 0.1

117.3 68.0 20.6 14.5

27 Analysis of consolidated net debt
At Non-cash At

1 April 2007 movement Cash flow 31 March 2008
£m £m £m £m

Cash at bank and in hand 10.3 – (5.9) 4.4
Non-current borrowings (186.5) (0.9) (72.6) (260.0)

(176.2) (0.9) (78.5) (255.6)

28 Post-balance sheet events
Dividends
The Directors have proposed a dividend of 13.4 pence per share as a final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2008. No
charge in respect of the proposed dividend has been made in the income statement for the year, and there were no tax consequences.
The total amount payable is as follows:

2008 2007
£m £m

13.4 pence (2007: 11.5 pence) on 50.8 (2007: 46.0m) ordinary shares 6.8 5.3

Acquisition
On 27 May 2008 the Group acquired the trade and certain assets of the accommodation business of Carillion Asset Management
Limited. At the same time the Group entered into a five year Strategic Partnering Agreement. The total consideration payable in respect of
the acquisition and the partnering agreement was £12.5m.

11.8
8.8
–

20.6

4.4
(260.0)

(255.6)

6.8

18.7
48.6
50.0

117.3
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29 Related party disclosures
Group
David Galloway is a Non-Executive Director of May Gurney Integrated Services Plc (“May Gurney”). May Gurney is a customer of the
Group, and trades with it on an arm’s length basis in the normal course of business. During the year, the value of sales to May Gurney
amounted to £1.4m (2007: £1.1m), and the outstanding debtor at 31 March 2008 amounted to £0.4m (2007: £0.1m).

David Galloway is a Non-Executive Director of Carter & Carter Plc (in administration) (“Carter & Carter”). Carter & Carter was a supplier to the
Group, and prior to its administration traded with the Group on an arm’s length basis in the normal course of business. During the year, Carter
& Carter provided training and associated services the Group with a value of £0.7m (2007: £nil), and the outstanding creditor at 31 March
2008 amounted to £0.3m (2007: £nil).

Ishbel Macpherson is a Non-Executive Director of MITIE Group Plc (“MITIE”). MITIE is both a supplier and customer of the Group, and
trades with it on an arm’s length basis in the normal course of business. From 17 July 2007 (the date of the appointment), the Group
provided hire services to MITIE amounting £1.4m and the outstanding debtor at 31 March 2008 amounted to £0.4m (2007: £nil).

Key management remuneration
The Group’s key management personnel are the Executive and Non-Executive Directors as identified in the Remuneration report on 
page 56.

In addition to their salaries, the Group also provides non–cash benefits to Executive Directors, and contributes to approved pension
schemes on their behalf. Executive Directors also participate in the Group’s share option schemes. 

Non-Executive Directors receive a fee for their services to the Speedy Hire Plc Board.

Full details of key management personnel compensation and interests in the share capital of the Company as at 31 March 2008 are 
given in the Remuneration report on pages 50 to 58.

Company
The Company has entered into transactions with its subsidiary undertakings primarily in respect of the provision of finance, and the
provision of share options to subsidiary employees.

Recharges are made to subsidiary undertakings for Group loans based on funding provided at an interest rate linked to the prevailing
base rate. No recharges are made in respect of balances due to or from otherwise dormant subsidiaries. The cost of providing employees
of subsidiary companies with share options is recharged to the relevant Company based on the accounting charge suffered by the
Company in respect of those options.

The amount outstanding from subsidiary undertakings to the Company at 31 March 2008 totalled £332.3m (2007: £182.4m). Amounts 
owed to subsidiary undertakings by the Company at 31 March 2008 totalled £13.3m (2007: £13.0m).

The Company has had no expense in respect of bad or doubtful debts of subsidiary undertakings in the year (2007: £nil). 
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Five year summary

Consolidated income statement
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
£m £m £m £m £m

Revenue 465.5 335.5 254.3 206.5 170.2
Cost of sales (167.1) (118.7) (81.8) (58.2) (48.2)

Gross profit 298.4 216.8 172.5 148.3 122.0
Other operating income – – 0.1 0.2 0.6
Distribution costs (49.8) (43.2) (23.5) (22.0) (18.5)
Administrative expenses (201.8) (127.7) (112.5) (96.5) (79.6)

Analysis of operating profit
Operating profit before amortisation and exceptional 
integration costs 64.0 50.0 38.1 30.6 25.1
Exceptional integration costs (10.0) – – – –
Amortisation (7.2) (4.1) (1.5) (0.6) (0.6)

Operating profit 46.8 45.9 36.6 30.0 24.5
Loss on disposal of operation – – – (0.7) –
Net financial expense (16.3) (9.5) (5.9) (4.8) (3.4)

Profit before taxation 30.5 36.4 30.7 24.5 21.2
Taxation (6.1) (9.8) (8.4) (6.3) (4.4)

Profit for the financial year 24.4 26.6 22.3 18.2 16.7

Consolidated balance sheet
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
£m £m £m £m £m

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 127.0 71.3 23.9 10.7 4.8
Property, plant and equipment 374.8 295.7 241.4 187.9 156.7

501.8 367.0 265.3 198.6 161.5

Current assets
Inventories 16.2 10.9 6.9 4.8 3.6
Trade and other receivables 143.6 101.2 72.6 55.1 45.6
Other financial assets – 0.7 – – –
Assets classified as held for sale – – – 1.7 1.7
Cash 4.4 10.3 6.4 5.9 7.0

164.2 123.1 85.9 67.5 57.9

Total assets 666.0 490.1 351.2 266.1 219.4

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Borrowings – – – (0.3) (0.7)
Trade and other payables (120.0) (91.8) (69.5) (47.7) (39.5)
Other financial liabilities (0.5) – – – –
Provisions (1.0) – – – –
Current income tax (5.9) (6.0) (6.7) (2.6) (2.4)

(127.4) (97.8) (76.2) (50.3) (42.6)

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings (260.0) (186.5) (109.4) (88.7) (67.3)
Provisions (1.2) – – – –
Deferred tax liabilities (37.3) (34.7) (24.3) (18.6) (15.1)

(298.5) (221.2) (133.7) (107.3) (82.4)

Total liabilities (425.9) (319.0) (209.9) (157.6) (125.0)

Net assets 240.1 171.1 141.3 108.5 94.4
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Shareholder information

Financial calendar
Preliminary announcement of 2008 results 
and final dividend 28 May 2008
Annual Report posted 13 June 2008
Ex dividend date 25 June 2008 
Dividend record date 27 June 2008
Annual General Meeting 15 July 2008 
Payment of 2008 final dividend 26 August 2008
Announcement of 2009 interim results November 2008
2009 year end 31 March 2009

Annual General Meeting
The AGM will be held on Tuesday, 15 July 2008 at 11.00 am at 
Mere Court Hotel and Conference Centre, Warrington Road, Mere,
Knutsford, Cheshire WA16 0RW.

Shareholders will be asked to approve the Directors’ remuneration
report, the election of Claudio Veritiero, Ishbel Macpherson, Justin
Read and Michael Averill to the Board and the re-election of David
Wallis and Peter Atkinson. 

Other resolutions will include proposals to renew, for a further year,
the Directors’ general authority to allot shares in the Company, to
allot a limited number of shares for cash on a non pre-emptive basis,
and to buy back its own shares and resolutions to amend the
articles of association and to approve certain matters relating to
share incentive plans.

Share price information/performance
The latest share price information is available at
www.speedyhire.plc.uk. By selecting more financial information
under the current share value section of the website, shareholders
can check the value of their shareholding online or review share
charts illustrating annual share price performance trends.

Shareholders can also download copies of our Annual Report and
Accounts and Interim Accounts.

Shareholders within the UK can also use Teletext and the FT Cityline
service (telephone 0906 843 0000 – please note, this is charged at
premium rate).

Electronic communications
Speedy Hire offers shareholders the opportunity to receive electronic
notification of the Company’s latest press releases via e-mail. To take
advantage of this service you will need to register online. To register,
log on to www.speedyhire.plc.uk, click on the investors section of
the website and register for news.

Enquiries on shareholdings
Any administrative enquiries relating to shareholdings in Speedy Hire
such as dividend payment instructions or a change of address
should be notified direct to the registrar (details on page 95). Your
correspondence should state Speedy Hire Plc and the registered
name and address of the shareholder. For further details of the
shareholder services offered by our registrars, visit
www.shareview.co.uk.

Contact details
We are happy to answer queries from current and potential
shareholders. Similarly, please let us know if you wish to receive
past, present or future copies of our Annual Report and Accounts.
Please contact us by phone, e-mail, fax or via the website.

a) Shareholders analysed by number of shares held (at 27 May 2008)
Total number Percentage of Total number Percentage of

Balance ranges of holdings holders of shares issued capital

1–1,000 1,154 57.07% 523,332 1.03%
1,001–5,000 485 23.99% 1,073,160 2.11%
5,001–10,000 83 4.10% 601,200 1.18%
10,001–50,000 163 8.06% 4,202,853 8.26%
50,001–100,000 54 2.67% 3,911,656 7.69%
100,001–500,000 63 3.12% 13,708,966 26.94%
500,001–1,000,000 9 0.45% 7,229,243 14.21%
1,000,000 and above 11 0.54% 19,632,701 38.58%

Total 2,022 100.00% 50,883,111 100.00%

b) Shareholders analysed by type of holding (at 27 May 2008)
Number of Number of Percentage Percentage

Holder holdings shares of holdings of shares

Directors 10 511,585 0.50% 1.00%
Private individuals 1,195 3,352,696 59.10% 6.59%
Nominee accounts 747 45,441,386 36.94% 89.31%
Institutions & investment companies 47 1,485,333 2.32% 2.92%
Other organisations 23 92,111 1.14% 0.18%

Total 2,022 50,883,111 100.00% 100.00%

Speedy Hire Plc
Chase House
16 The Parks
Newton-le-Willows
Merseyside, WA12 0JQ
United Kingdom

Email
admin@speedyhire.plc.uk
Telephone
01942 720000
Facsimile
01942 720077
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Registered office
Chase House
16 The Parks
Newton-le-Willows
Merseyside
WA12 0JQ

Telephone 01942 720000
Facsimile 01942 720077
e-mail
admin@speedyhire.plc.uk
www.speedyhire.plc.uk

Registered Number:  927680

Financial advisers
NM Rothschild & Sons
Limited
82 King Street
Manchester
M2 4WQ

Stockbrokers
Oriel Securities Limited
125 Wood Street
London
EC2V 7AN

JP Morgan Cazenove Limited
20 Moorgate
London
EC2R 6DA

Solicitors
Pinsent Masons LLP
1 Park Row
Leeds
LS1 5AB

Auditors
KPMG Audit Plc
St James Square
Manchester
M2 6DS

Bankers
Barclays Bank PLC
No. 1 Marsden Street
Manchester
M2 1HW

The Royal Bank 
of Scotland plc
Corporate Banking
1 Spinningfields Square
Manchester
M3 3AP

Public relations – Financial
Hudson Sandler
29 Cloth Fair
London
EC1A 7NN

Public relations – Trade
Citypress
North Square
11–13 Spear Street
Manchester
M1 1JU

Registrars and transfer office
Equiniti
Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing
West Sussex
BN 99 6DA

Insurance brokers
Marsh UK Limited
1 City Road East
Manchester
M15 4PN

Registered office and advisers
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Awards and accreditations

An award-winning Company
Corporate membership
FTSE4Good

Business in the Community

Lighthouse Club

Corporate awards
CorpComms Awards – Annual
Report 2007

Business in the Community –
“Big Tick Award” for Responsible
Marketing 2007

The Observer’s Good Company
Guide – Number One Ethical
Investment Choice

PLC Awards – Best Investor
Communications Strategy 2007

PLC Awards – Runner-up
Entrepreneur of the year 2007

PLC Awards – Best Investor
Communications Strategy 2006

PLC Awards – Runner-up
Entrepreneur of the year 2006

The Proshare Annual Award
2004:
Best Annual Report for Individual
Shareholders – Non-FTSE 100
Company

PLC Awards 2005:
John Brown Shortlisted for
“Entrepreneur of the Year”

National Business Awards
Winner:
Marketing Strategy of the Year
2007

Highly commended: 
The HSE Health & Safety award
2006

Shortlisted: 
3i Growth strategy of the year
2006

Winner:
Growth Strategy of the Year
2005

Shortlisted:
Business of the Year 2004

Hire Association of Europe:
Awards of Excellence
Winner: Hire Company of the
Year (over five outlets) 2008

Winner: Best Contribution to
Environmental Issues 2008

Winner: Best Contribution to
Health & Safety and/or
Environmental Issues 2007

Winner: Unsung Hero 2006

Winner: Hire Company of the
Year 2005

Winner: Hire Person of the Year
2005

Winner: Hire Company of the
Year 2004

Winner: Best Hire & Rental
Website 2004

Winner: Hire Company of the
Year 2003

Construction Marketing
Awards:
Winner: Best use of research in
a campaign 2006

Shortlisted: Best market
research 2006

Winner: Campaign of the Year
2005

Contract Journal:
Construction Industry
Awards
Winner: Plant Hire Company of
the Year 2007

Shortlisted: Plant Hirer of the
year 2006

Winner: Plant Hirer of the Year
2005

Shortlisted: Hire Company of the
Year 2004

Shortlisted: Hire Company of the
Year 2003

Building Magazine:
Health & Safety Awards
Shortlisted: Best Safety Product
2005

Shortlisted: Best Occupational
Health Initiative 2004

BSIF Safety Awards
Winner: Service Excellence 2008

B2B Marketing Awards
Winner: Best customer
relationship campaign 2006

Winner: Best use of market
research 2006

Building Magazine:
Specialist Contractor Awards
Shortlisted: Specialist Innovator
of the Year 2005

Shortlisted: Essential Site
Services 2005

Shortlisted: Best Health & Safety
Initiative 2004

Shortlisted: Essential Site
Services 2004

Shortlisted: Essential Site
Services 2003

OPERC Award – In recognition
of our contribution to HAV 2006

Construction News:
Quality in Construction
Awards
Shortlisted: Plant and Equipment
Innovation Award 2005

Work Well Together
Cooperation Awards 2003

Accreditations
Speedy Hire Direct
ISO 9001/2000

Speedy Lifting
ISO 9001/2000

Speedy Survey
ISO 9001/2000

Speedy Hire Plc
“Link-up”: Rail supplier
qualification & verification
scheme

“UVDB”: Utilities pre-qualification
scheme
HAE’s Safe-HIRE

Speedy Survey, Speedy Lifting,
Speedy Space, Speedy Power
and Speedy Pumps
Investors in People

Trade association
membership

HAE: Hire Association of Europe

PASMA: Prefabricated Access
Suppliers & Manufacturers
Association

LEEA: Lifting Equipment
Engineers Association

OPERC: Off-Highway Plant and
Equipment Research Centre

Professional bodies
Hand Arm Vibration Working
Group

Working Well Together Co-
ordinating Committee

Safety, Health and Awareness
Days
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South West
Construction output £9,948m
GVA £86.3bn
44 Speedy depots

Source for GVA (Gross Value Added): Oxford Economics, March 2008
Source for GDP (Republic of Ireland): Central Statistics Office, March 2008
Source for Republic of Ireland construction output: DKM Economic Consultants, September 2007
Source for construction output: National Statistics, March 2008
Source for construction output Northern Ireland: The Northern Ireland Statistics and Research
Agency, Central Survey Unit, November 2007

Speedy Hire Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2008 97

M
er
ch
an
t i
n 
co
lla
bo

ra
tio
n 
w
ith
 A
m
m
un
iti
on

P
rin
te
d 
an
d 
ty
pe
se
t b

y 
Jo
ne
s 
&
 P
al
m
er
 L
im
ite
d

South East
Construction output £17,675m
GVA £163bn  
64 Speedy depots

West Midlands
Construction output £9,739m
GVA £84.8bn   
46 Speedy depots

East
Construction output £12,177m
GVA £96.4bn   
45 Speedy depots

East Midlands
Construction output £8,237m
GVA £72.2bn  
22 Speedy depots     

Yorks and Humber
Construction output £10,630m
GVA £79.1bn  
38 Speedy depots

North East
Construction output £4,844m
GVA £37.1bn    
22 Speedy depots

Scotland
Construction output £10,577m
GVA £87.5bn    
54 Speedy depots

London
Construction output £18,592m
GVA £213bn   
53 Speedy depots

Wales
Construction output £4,925m
GVA £41.2bn  
32 Speedy depots

Republic of Ireland
Construction output €36,250m
GDP €179bn   
02 Villages

Northern Ireland 
Construction output £3,426m
GVA £25.6bn 
01 Village

North West
Construction output £13,202m
GVA £108bn
64 Speedy depots
01 Multi-Service Centre

Making Speedy progress means 
being in all the right locations for 
all the right reasons.
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Newton-le-Willows
Merseyside
WA12 0JQ
Tel  01942 720000
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Email  admin@speedyhire.plc.uk  
www.speedyhire.plc.uk
Registered Number  927680
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